AGREEMENT FOR
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

. s
THIS AGREEMENT, made this / day of /(/»o vV, 2012, by and between the City
of Fort Lauderdale, a Florida municipality, (“City”), whose address is 100 North Andrews
Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301-1016, and Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company authorized to transact business in the State of Florida, (“Contractor” or
“Company”), whose address and phone number are 1579 The Greens Way, Suite 20,
Jacksonville, FL 32250, Phone: 904-493-5500, Fax: 904-493-5522, for the term specified herein,

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth
herein and other good and valuable consideration, the City and the Contractor covenant and agree
as follows: '

WITNESSETH:
L DOCUMENTS

The following documents (collectively “Contract Documents™) are hereby incorporated into and
made part of this Agreement:

(1) Request for Proposal 125-10899, Investment Management Services, including any and all
addenda, prepared by the City of Fort Lauderdale, (“RFP” or “Exhibit A”).

(2) The Contractor’s response to the RFP, dated April 12, 2012 (“Exhibit B*).
3) The Contractor’s Second Best & Final, dated August 15, 2012 (“Exhibit C”),
(4)  The Contractor’s First Best & Final, dated June 4, 2012 (“Exhibit D).

All Contract Documents may also be collectively referred to as the “Documents.” In the event of
any conflict between or among the Documents or any ambiguity or missing specifications or
instruction, the following priority is established:

First, specific direction from the City Manager (or designee)

Second, this Agreement dated . , 2012, and any attachments.
Third, Exhibit A

Fourth, Exhibit C

Fifth, Exhibit D

Sixth, Exhibit B

THOOE >

1L SCOPE

The Contractor shall perform the Work under the general direction of the City as set forth_in the
Contract Documents,

Unless otherwise specified herein, the Contractor shall perform all Work identified in this
Agreement. The partics agree that the scope of services is a description of Contractor’s
obligations and responsibilities, and is deemed to include preliminary considerations and



prerequisites, and all labor, materials, equipment, and tasks which are such an inseparable part of
the work described that exclusion would render performance by Contractor impractical, illogical,
or unconscionable.

Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the City’s Contract Administrator has no authority to
make changes that would increase, decrease, or otherwise modify the Scope of Services to be
provided under this Agreement.

By signing this Agreement, the Contractor represents that it thoroughly reviewed the documents
incorporated into this Agreement by reference and that it accepts the description of the Work and
the conditions under which the Work is to be performed.

" IIL TERM OF AGREEMENT

The initial contract period shall commence on September 5, 2012, and shall end on September 4,
2017. In the event the term of this Agreement extends beyond the end of any fiscal year of City,
to wit, September 30, the continuation of this Agreement beyond the end of such fiscal year shall
be subject to both the appropriation and the availability of funds.

IV. COMPENSATION

The Contractor agrees to provide the services and/or materials as specified in the Contract
Documents at the cost specified in Exhibit C. Tt is acknowledged and agreed by Contractor that
this amount is the maximum payable and constitutes a limitation upon City’s obligation to
compensate Contractor for Contractor’s services related to this Agreement. This maximum
amount, however, does not constitute a limitation of any sort upon Contractor’s obligation to
perform all items of work required by or which can be reasonably inferred from the Scope of
Services. Except as otherwise provided in the solicitation, no amount shall be paid to Contractor
to reimburse Contractor’s expenses.

V. METHOD OF BILLING AND PAYMENT

Contractor may submit invoices for compensation no. more often than monthly, but only after the
services for which the invoices are submitted have been completed. An original invoice plus one
copy are due within fifteen (15) days of the end of the month except the final invoice which must
be received no later than sixty (60) days after this Agreement expires. Invoices shall designate the
nature of the services performed and/or the goods provided.

City shall paiy Contractor within forty-five (45) days of' receipt of Contractor’s proper invoice, as
provided in the Florida Local Government Prompt Payment Act.

To be-deemed proper, all invoices must comply with the requirements set forth in this Agreement
and must be submitted on the form and pursuant to instructions prescribed by the City’s Contract
Administrator. Payment may be withheld for failure of Contractor to comply with a term,
condition, or requirement of this Agreement.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, City may withhold, in whole or in
part, payment to the extent necessary to protect itself from loss on account of inadequate or
defective work that has not been remedied or resolved in a manner satisfactory to the City’s
Contract Administrator or failure to comply with this Agreement. The amount withheld shall not
be subject to payment of interest by City.
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GENERAIL CONDITIONS
A. Indemnification

Contractor shall protect and defend at Contractor's expense, counsel being subject to the
City's approval, and indemnify and hold harmless the City and the City's officers,
employees, volunteers, and agents from and against any and all losses, penalties, fines,
damages, settlements, judgments, claims, costs, charges, expenses, or liabilities, including
any award of attorney fees and any award of costs, in connection with or arising directly
or indirectly out of any act or omission by the Contractor or by any officer, employee,
agent, invitee, subcontractor, or sublicensee of the Contractor. The provisions and
obligations of this section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement. To the extent considered necessary by the City Manager, any sums duc

~ Contractor under this Agreement may be retained by City until all of City's claims for

indemnification pursuant to this Agreement have been settled or otherwise resolved, and
any amount withheld shall not be subject to payment of interest by City.

B. Intellectual Property

Contractor shall protect and defend at Contractor’s expense, counsel being subject to the
City’s approval, and indemnify and hold harmless the City from and against any and all
losses, penaities, fines, damages, settlements, judgments, claims, costs, charges, royalties,
expenses, or liabilities, including any award of attorney fees and any award of costs, in
connection with or arising directly or indirectly out of any infringement or allegation of
infringement of any patent, copyright, or other intellectual property right in connection
with the Contractor’s or the City’s use of any copyrighted, patenied or un-patented
invention, process, article, material, or device that is manufactured, provided, or used
pursuant to this Agreement. If the Contractor uses any design, device, or materials
covered by letters, patent or copyright, it is mutually agreed and understood without
exception that the bid prices shall include all royalties or costs arising from the usc of such
design, device, or materials in any way involved in the work.

C. Termination for Cause

The aggrieved party may terminate this Agreement for cause if the party in breach has not
corrected the breach within ten (10) days after written notice from the aggrieved party
identifying the breach. The City Manager may also terminate this Agreement upon such
notice as the City Manager deems appropriate under the circumstances in the event the
City Manager determines that termination is necessary to protect the public health or
safety. The parties agree that if the City erroneously, improperly or unjustifiably terminates
for cause, such termination shall be deemed a termination for convenience, which shall be
effective thirty (30) days after such notice of termination for cause is provided.

This Agreement may be terminated for cause for reasons including, but not limited to,
Contractor’s repeated (whether negligent or intentional) submission for payment of false
or incorrect bills or invoices, failure to perform the Work to the City’s satisfaction; or
failure to continuously perform the work in a manner calculated to meet or accomplish
the objectives as set forth in this Agreement.



D. Termination for Convenience

The City reserves the right, in its best interest as determined by the City, to cancel this
contract for convenience by giving written notice to the Contractor at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of such cancellation. In the event this Agreement is terminated
for convenience, Coniractor shall be paid for any services performed to the City’s
satisfaction pursuant to the Agreement through the termination date specified in the
written notice of termination. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that he/she/it has
received good, valuable and sufficient consideration from City, the receipt and adequacy

~of which are hereby acknowledged by Contractor, for City’s right to terminate this
Agreement for convenience.

E. Cancellation for Unappropriated Funds

The City reserves the right, in its best interest as determined by the City, to cancel this
contract for unappropriated funds or unavailability of funds by giving written notice to the
Contractor at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such cancellation. The
obligation of the City for payment to a Contractor is limited to the availability of funds
appropriated in a current fiscal period, and continuation of the contract into a subsequent
fiscal period is subject to appropriation of funds, unless otherwise provided by law.

F. Insurance

The Contractor shall furnish proof of insurance requirements as indicated below. The
coverage is to remain in force at all times during the contract period. The following
minimum insurance coverage is required. The commercial general Hability insurance
policy shall name the City of Fort Lauderdale, a Florida municipality, as an “additional
insured.” This MUST be written in the description section of the insurance certificate, even
if there is a check-off box on the insurance certificate. Any costs for adding the City as
“additional insured” shall be at the Contractor’s expense.

The City of Fort Lauderdale shall be given notice 10 days prior to cancellation or
modification of any required insurance. The insurance provided shall be endorsed or
amended to comply with this notice requirement. In the event that the insurer is unable to
accommodate, it shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to provide the proper notice.
Such notification will be in writing by registered mail, return receipt requested and
addressed to the Procurement Services Division.

The Contractor’s insurance must be provided by an AM. Best’s “A-“rated or better
insurance company authorized to issue insurance policies in the State of Florida, subject to
approval by the City’s Risk Manager. Any exclusions or provisions in the insurance
maintained by the contractor that excludes coverage for work contemplated in this
solicitation shall be deemed unacceptable, and shall be considered breach of contract.’

Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability Insurance

Limits: Workers” Compensation — Per Chapter 440, Florida Statutes
Employers’ Liability - $500,000



Any firm performing work for or on behalf of the City of Fort Lauderdale must provide
Workers’ Compensation insurance, Exceptions and exemptions will be allowed, by the
City’s Risk Manager, if they are in accordance with Florida Statutes.

Commercial General Liability Insurance

Covering premises-operations, products-completed operations, independent contractors
and contractual liability.

Limits: Combined single limit bodily injury/property damage $1,000,000.

This coverage must include, but not limited to:
a. Coverage for the liability assumed by the contractor under the
indemnity provision of the contract.
Coverage for Premises/Operations
Products/Completed Operations
Broad Form Contractual Liability
Independent Contractors

opo o

Automobile Liability Insurance

Covering all owned, hired and non-owned automobile equipment.

Limits: Bodily injury $250,000 each person,
' $500,000 each occurrence
Property damage $100,000 each occurrence

Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions)
Consultants

Limits: ‘ $2,000,000 per occurrence

Certificate holder should be addressed as follows:

City of Fort Lauderdale
Procurement Services Division- .
100 N. Andrews Avenue, Room 619
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

G. Environmental, Health and Safety

Contractor shall place the highest priority on health and safety and shall maintain a safe
working environment during performance of the Work. Contractor shall comply, and
shall secure compliance by its employees, agents, and subcontractors, with all applicable
environmental, health, safety and security laws and regulations, and performance
conditions in this Agreement. Compliance with such requirements shall represent the
minimum standard required of Contractor. Contractor shall be responsible for examining
all requirements and determine whether additional or more stringent environmental,
health, safety and security provisions are required for the Work. Contractor agrees to



utilize protective devices as required by applicable laws, regulations, and any industry or
Contractor’s health and safety plans and regulations, and to pay the costs and expenses
thereof, and warrants that all such persons shall be fit and qualified to carry out the Work.

H. Standard of Care

Contractor represents that he/she/it is qualified to perform the Work, that Contractor and
his/her/its subcontractors possess current, valid state and/or local licenses to perform the
Work, and that their services shall be performed in 2 manner consistent with that level of
care and skill ordinarily exercised by other qualified contractors under similar
circumstances.

I. Rights in Documents and Work

Any and all reports, photographs, surveys, and other data and documents provided or
created in connection with this Agreement are and shall remain the property of City; and
Contractor disclaims any copyright in such materials. In the event of and upon
termination of this Agreement, any reports, photographs, surveys, and other data and
documents prepared by Contractor, whether finished or unfinished, shall become the
property of City and shall be delivered by Contractor to the City’s Contract Administrator
within seven (7) days of termination of this Agreement by either party, Any
compensation due to Contractor shall be withheld until Contractor delivers all documents
to the City as provided herein.

J.  Aundit Right and Retention of Records

City shall have the right to audit the books, records, and accounts of Contractor and
Contractor’s subcontractors that are related to this Agreement. Contractor shall keep, and
Contractor shall cause Contractor’s subcontractors to keep, such books, records, and
accounts as may be necessary in order to record complete and correct entries related to
this Agreement. All books, records, and accounts of Contractor and Contractor’s
subcontractors shall be kept in written form, or in a form capable of conversion into written
form within a reasonable time, and upon request to do so, Contractor or Contractor’s
subcontractor, as applicable, shall make same available at no cost to City in written form.

Contractor and Contractor’s subcontractors shall preserve and make available, at
reasonable times for examination and audit by City in Broward County, Florida, all
financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, and any other documents
pertinent to this Agreement for the required retention period of the Florida public records
law, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time, if applicable,
or, if the Florida Public Records Act is not applicable, for a minimum period of three (3)
years after termination of this. Agreement. If any audit has been initiated and audit
findings have not been resolved at the end of the retention period or three (3) years,
whichever is longer, the books, records, and accounts shall be retained until resolution of
the audit findings. If the Florida public records law is determined by City to be applicable
to Contractor and Contractor’s subcontractors’ records, Contractor and Contractor’s
subcontractors shall comply with all requirements thereof, however, Contractor and
Contractor’s subcontractors shall violate no confidentiality or non-disclosure requirement
of either federal or state law. Any incomplete or incorrect entry in such books, records,
and accounts shall be a basis for City's disallowance and recovery of any payment upon
such entry.



Contractor shall, by written contract, require Contractor’s subcontractors to agree to the
requirements and obligations of this Section.

The Contractor shall maintain during the term of the contract all books of account,
reports and records in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and
standards for records directly related to this contract.

K. Public Entity Crime Act

Contractor represents that the execution of this Agreement will not violate the Public
Entity Crime Act, Section 287.133, Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to
time, which essentially provides that a person or affiliate who is a contractor, consultant,

. or other provider and who has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a
conviction for a public entity crime may not submit a bid on a contract to provide any
goods or services to City, may not submit a bid on a contract with City for the
construction or repair of a public building or public work, may not submit bids on leases
of real property to City, may not be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier,
subcontractor, or consultant under a contract with City, and may not transact any business
with City in excess of the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017, Florida Statutes,
as may be amended from time to time, for category two purchases for a period of 36
months from the date of being placed on the convicted vendor list. Violation of this
section shall result in termination of this Agreement and recovery of all monies paid by
City pursuant to this Agreement, and may result in debarment from City’s competitive
procurement activities,

L. Independent Contractor

Contractor is an independent contractor under this Agreement. Services provided by
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall be subject to the supervision of the
Contractor. In providing such services, neither Contractor nor Contractor’s agents shall
act as officers, employees, or agents of City. No partnership, joint venture, or other joint
relationship is created hereby. City does not extend to Contractor or Contractor’s agents
any authority of any kind to bind City in any respect whatsoever.

M. Inspection and Non-Waiver

Contractor shall permit the representatives of CITY to inspect and observe the Work at
all times. ~° B ) S '
The failure of the City to insist upon sirict performance of any other terms of this
Agreement or to exercise any rights conferred by this Agreement shall not be construed by
Contractor as a waiver of the City’s right to assert or rely on any such terms or rights on
any future occasion or as a waiver of any other terms or rights.

N. Assignment and Performance

Neither this Agreement nor any right or interest herein shall be assigned, transferred, or
encumbered without the written consent of the other party. In addition, Contractor shall
not subcontract any portion of the work required by this Agreement, except as provided in
the Schedule of Subcontractor Participation. City may terminate this Agreement, effective
immediately, if there is any assignment, or attempted assignment, transfer, or



encumbrance, by Contractor of this Agreement or any right or interest herein without City's
written consent.

Contractor represents that each person who will render services pursuant to this
Agreement is duly qualified to perform such services by all appropriate governmental
authorities, where required, and that each such person is reasonably experienced and
skilled in the area(s) for which he or she will render his or her services.

Contractor shall perform Contractor’s duties, obligations, and services under. this
Agreement in a skillful and respectable manner. The quality of Contractor’s performance
and all interim and final product(s) provided to or on behalf of City shall be comparable to
the best local and national standards. '

In the event Contractor engages any subcontracior in the performance of this Agreement,
Contractor shall ensure that all of Contractor 's subcontractors perform in accordance with
the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Contractor shall be fully responsible for all of
Contractor's subcontractors' performance, and liable for any of Contractor’s
subcontractors' non-performance and all of Contractor’s subcontractors’ acts and
omissions. Contractor shall defend at Contractor’s expense, counsel being subject to
City’s approval or disapproval, and indemnify and hold City and City’s officers,
employees, and agents harmless from and against any claim, lawsuit, third party action,
fine, penalty, settlement, or judgment, including any award of aitorney fees and any award
of costs, by or in favor of any of Contractor’s subcontractors for payment for work
performed for City by any of such subcontractors, and from and against any claim,
fawsuit, third party action, fine, penalty, settlement, or judgment, including any award of
attorney fees and any award of costs, occasioned by or arising out of any act or omission
by any of Contractor 's subcontractors or by any of Contractor’s subcontractors’ officers,
agents, or employees. Contractor’s use of subcontractors in connection with this
Agreement shall be subject to City’s prior written approval, which approval City may
revoke at any time.

0. Conflicts

Neither Contractor nor any of Contractor’s employees shall have or hold any continuing
or frequently recurring employment or contractual relationship that is substantially
antagonistic or incompatible with Contractor’s loyal and conscientious exercise of judgment
and care related to Contractor’s performance under this Agreement.

Contractor further agrees that none of Contractor’s officets or employees shall, during the
term of this Agreement, serve as an expert witness against City in any legal or
administrative proceeding in which he, she, or Contractor is not a party, unless compelled
by court process. Further, Contractor agrees that such persons shall not give sworn
testimony or issue a report or writing, as an expression of his or her expert opinion, which
is adverse or prejudicial to the interests of City in connection with any such pending or
threatened legal or administrative proceeding unless compelled by court process. The
limitations of this section shall not preclude Contractor or any persons in any way from
representing themselves, including giving expert testimony in support thereof, in any action
or in any administrative or legal proceeding.

In the event Contractor is permitted pursuant to this Agreement to utilize subcontractors to
perform any services required by this Agreement, Contractor agrees to require such

.



subcontractors, by written contract, to comply with the provisions of this section to the
same extent as Contractor.

P. Schedule and Delays

Time is of the essence in this Agreement. By signing, Contractor affirms that it believes
the schedule to be reasonable; provided, however, the parties acknowledge that the
schedule might be modified as the City directs.

Q. Materiality and Waiver of Breach

City and Contractor agree that each requirement, duty, and obligation set forth herein was

bargained for at arm’s-length and is agreed to by the parties in exchange for quid pro quo,

that each is substantial and important to the formation of this Agreement and that each is,
: therefore .a material 1erm hereof.

1

City’s failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of
such provision or modification of this Agreement. A waiver of any breach of a provision
of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach and shall not be
construed to be a modification of the terms of this Agreement.

R. Compliance With Laws

Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes,
ordinances, rules, and regulations in performing Contractor’s duties, responsibilities, and
obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

S. Severance

In the event a portion of this Agreement is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
invalid or unenforceable, the provisions not having been found by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable shall continue to be effective.

T. Limitation of Liability

The City desires to enter into this Agreement only if in so doing the City can place a limit
on the City’s liability for any cause of action for money damages due to an alleged breach
by the City of this Agreement, so that its liability for any such breach never exceeds the
sum of $1,000. Contractor hereby expresses its willingness to enter into this Agreement
with Contractor’s recovery from the City for any damage action for breach of contract or
for any action or claim arising from this Agreement to be limited fo a maximum amount of
$1,000 less the amount of all funds actually paid by the City to Contractor pursuant to this
Agreement.

Accordingly, and notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement,
Contractor hereby agrees that the City shall not be liable to Contractor for damages in an
amount in excess of $1,000 which amount shall be reduced by the amount actually paid by
the City to Contractor pursuant to this Agreement, for any action for breach of contract or
for any action or claim arising out of this Agreement. Nothing contained in this paragraph
or elsewhere in this Agreement is in any way intended to be a waiver of the limitation
placed upon City’s liability as set forth in Article 768.28, Florida Statutes.



U. Jurisdiction, Venue, Waiver, Waiver of Jury Trial

This Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with and governed by
the laws of the State of Florida. Venue for any lawsuit by either party against the other
party or otherwise arising out of this Agreement, and for any other legal proceeding, shall
be in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida, or in the event
of federal jurisdiction, in the Southern District of Florida, Fort Lauderdale Division.

In the event Contractor is a corporation organized under the laws of any province of
Canada or is a Canadian federal corporation, the City may enforce in the United States of
America or in Canada or in both countries a judgment entered against the Contractor. The
Contractor waives any and all defenses to the City's enforcement in Canada of a judgment
entered by a court in the United States of America.

V. Amendmenis

. : B 2 . .

No meodification, amendment, or alteration in the terms or conditions contained herein
shall be effective unless contained in a written document prepared with the same or
similar formality as this Agreement and executed by the Mayor-Commissioner and/or City
Manager, as determined by City Charter and Ordinances, and Contractor or others
delegated authority to or otherwise authorized to execute same on their behalf.

W. Prior Agreements

This document represents the final and complete understanding of the parties and
incorporates or supersedes all prior negotiations, correspondence, conversations,
agreements, and understandings applicable to the matters contained herein. The parties
agree that there is no commitment, agreement, or understanding concerning the subject
matter of this Agreement that is not contained in this written document. Accordingly, the
parties agree that no deviation from the terms hereof shall be predicated upon any prior
representation or agreement, whether oral or written.

X. Pavable Interest

Except as required and provided for by the Florida Local Government Prompt Payment
Act, City shall not be liable for interest for any reason, whether as prejudgment interest
or for any other purpose, and in furtherance thereof Contractor waives, rejects,
disclaims and surrenders any and all entitlement it has or may have to receive interest in
connection with a-dispute or claim based on or related to this Agreement.

Y. Representation of Authority

Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of a party hereto hereby represents
and warrants that he or she is, on the date he or she signs this Agreement, duly
authorized by all necessary and appropriate action to execute this Agreement on behalf of
such party and does so with full legal authority. .

AA, Uncontrollable Circumstances ("Force Majeure™)

The City and Contractor will be excused from the performance of their respective
obligations under this agreement when and to the extent that their performance is delayed
or prevented by any circumstances beyond their control including, fire, flood, explosion,
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strikes or other labor disputes, act of God or public emergency, war, riot, civil
commotion, malicious damage, act or omission of any governmental authority, delay or
failure or shortage of any type of transportation, equipment, or service from a public
utility needed for their performance, provided that:

A. The non performing party gives the other party prompt written notice describing
the particulars of the Force Majeure including, but not limited to, the nature of the
occurrence and its expected duration, and continues to furnish timely reports with respect
thereto during the period of the Force Majeure;

B. The excuse of performance is of no greater scope and of no longer duration than
is required by the Force Majeure;

C. No obligations of either party that arose before the Force Majeure causmg the -
excuse of performance are excused as a result of the Force Majeure; and

D. The non-performing party uses its best efforts to remedy its inability to perform.
Notwithstanding the above, performance shall not be excused under this Section for a
period in excess of two (2) months, provided that in extenuating circumstances, the City
may excuse performance for a longer term. Economic hardship of the Contractor will not
constitute Force Majeure. The term of the agreement shall be extended by a period equal
to that during which either party's performance is suspended under this Section.

BB. Scrutinized Companies

-This Section applies to any contract for goods or services of $1 million or more:

The Contractor certifies that it is not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in
Sudan List or the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy
Sector List and that it does not have business operations in Cuba or Syria as provided in
section 287.135, Florida Statutes (2012), as may be amended or revised. The City may
terminate this Contract at the City’s option if the Contractor is found to have submitted a
false certification as provided under subsection (5) of section 287.135, Florida Statutes
(2012), as may be amended or revised, or been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with
Activities in Sudan List or the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran
Petroleum Energy Sector List or has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or
Syria, as defined in Section 287.135, Florida Statutes (2012) , as may be amended or
revised.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Contractor execute this Contract as follows:

CITY OF FORT ?UE%E RDALE
By:

Clty Manager

Approv% form:
M},?{é,ﬂw £ /

Senior f&.@stant City Attorney

SAWGRASS ASSET MANAGEMENT, LLC

By: Sawgrass Asset Management, Inc.,
a Florida corporati
Managing

ATTEST: By: |
: M\/ Dean E. McQuiddyN——"
f President

Bfian K. Monroe
Secretary

(CORPORATE SEAL)

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF ___ puvAaL

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this IST day of
NOVEMBER- , 2012, by Dean E. McQuiddy as president for Sawgrass Asset
Management, Inc., a Florida corporation, as managing member for Sawgrass Asset Management,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company authorized to transact business in the State of Florida.
boy ML
(SEAL) . Notary Public,!State of __ FoR4DA
] (Signature of Notary Public)

| RYANMCCARTHY
{ Notary Public, State of Florida
Commission# EE 148740 Ryed MCCarTHy

] M ctim: Exres Nov: 7. 2615

{Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of
_Notary Public)

Personally Known \4{ Produced Identification
Type of Identification Produced
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City of Fort Lauderdale

EXHIBIT A

Solicitation 125-10899

Investment Management Services

ﬂ?ﬁl?f OF FORT LAUDERDALE

City of Fort Lauderdale



City of Fort Lauderdale Bid 125-10899

Bid 125-10899
Investment Management Services

Bid Number 125-10899
Bid Title Investment Management Services

Bid Start Date Mar 26, 2012 11:09:22 AM EDT
Bid End Date Apr 23, 2012 2:00:00 PM EDT

Question &
Answer End  Apr 6, 2012 5:30:00 PM EDT
Date

Bid Contact Michael F Walker
Procurement & Contracts Manager
Procurement
954-828-5677
mwalker@fortlauderdale.gov

Changes made on Apr 6, 2012 5:07:08 PM EDT

New Documents RFP 110899 Addendum No. 1 dated April 6, 2012.doc

:00: ED
Previous Fnd Date Apr 16, 2012 2:00:00 PM EDT New End Date Apr 23, 2012 2:00:00 PM EDT
Previcus Q & A End Date  Apr 6, 2012 2:00:00 PM EDT New Q & A End Date  Apr 6, 2012 5:30:00 PM EDT

Changes were made to the following items:

Investment Management Services

Changes made on Apr 9, 2012 4:12:34 PM EDT

New Documents RFP 10899 Addendum No. 2 dated April 9, 2012.doc
RFP 10899 EX B - CFL LOCAL PREFERENCE CERTIFICATION 2.doc

Changes were made to the following it_ems:

Investment Management Services

Description
The City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida (City) Is seeking proposals from qualified proposers, hereinafter referred to as the

Contractor; to provide Investment Management Services for the City's Finance Department, in accordance with the terms,
conditions, and specifications contained in this Request for Proposals (RFP).

For information concerning procedures for responding to this sclicitation, contact Procurement and Contracts Manager at (854)

828-5677 or email at mwalker@fortlauderdale.gov . Such contact shall be for clarification purposes only.

For information concerning technical specifications, please utilize the question / answer feature provided by BidSync at
www.bidsync.com . Questions of a material nature must be received prior to the cut-off date specified in the RFP Schedule.
Materlal changes, If any, to the scope of services or bidding procedures will only be transmitted by written addendum. {See
addendum section of BidSync Site). Contractor's please note: Proposals shall be submitted as stated in PART VI -
Requirements of the Propasal. No part of your proposal can be submitted via FAX. No variation in price or conditicns shall be
permitted based upon a claim of ignarance. Submission of a proposal will be considered evidence that the Contractor has
familiarized themselves with the nature and extent of the work, and the equipment, rnaterials, and labor required. The entire
propasal must ba submitted in accordance with all specifications contained in this solicitation.

.
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Added on Apr 6, 2012:
Addendum No. 1 dated April 6, 2012 is attached and changes the open date(close date for contractors) for this RFP from April

16, 2012 prior to 2:00pm EST to Aprif 23, 2012 prior to 2:00pm EST, as the City shall be issuing a second addendum with
additional changes next week. Please acknowledge all Addendums on the proposal signature page or provide/sign the
addendum with your RFP response.

Added on Apr 9, 2012
Addendum No. 2 dated Aprit 9, 2012 is attached with changes to the SSAE 16 requirements and also the Basis Points tierad fee

schedule (which must now be provided in your Addendum No. 2 with your RFP response). Alo added was the Local Business

Preference language, and Certification Statement as an Exhibit.
MAKE SURE YOU SUBMIT YOUR ADDENDUM NOT 2 DATED APRIL 9, 2012 WITH YOUR RFP RESPONSE AND PROVIDE YOUR

REVISED BASIS POINTS IN THE ADDENDUM DOCUMENT.
Changes made on Apr 6, 2012 5:07:08 PM EDT

Changes made on Apr 9, 2012 4:12:34 PM EDT
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RFP # 125-10899
TITLE: Investment Management Services

PART | - INTRODUCTION/INFORMATION

01. PURPOSE
The City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida (City) is seeking proposals from qualified proposers,
hereinafter referred to as the Contractor, to provide Investment Management Services for the
City's Finance Department, in accordance with the terms, conditions, and specifications

contained in this Request for Proposals (RFP).

02.  INFORMATION OR CLARIFICATION ‘
For information concerning procedures for responding fo this solicitation, contact Procurement

and Contracts Manager at (954) 828-5677 or email at mwalker@fortlauderdale.gov . Such
contact shall be for clarification purposes only. :

For information concerning technical specifications, please utilize the question / answer feature
provided by BidSync at www.bidsync.com . Questions of a material nature must be received prior
to the cut-off date specified in the RFP Schedule. Material changes, if any, to the scope of
services or bidding procedures will only be transmitted by written addendum. (See addendum
section of BidSync Site). Confractor's please note: Proposals shall be submitted as stated in
PART VI — Requirements of the Proposal. No part of your proposal can be submitted via FAX.
No variation in price or conditions shall be permitted based upon a claim of ignorance.
Submission of a proposal will be considered evidence that the Contractor has familiarized
themselves with the nature and extent of the work, and the equipment, materials, and labor
required. The entire proposal must be submitted in accordance with all specifications contained in

this solicitation.

03. TRANSACTION FEES
The City of Fort Lauderdale uses BidSync (www.bidsync.com) to distribute and receive bids and

proposals. There is no charge to vendors/contractors to register and participate in the solicitation
process, nor will any fees be charged to the awarded vendor.

04, PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE
There will be a no pre-proposal conference and/or site visit scheduled for this Request for

Proposal.

05. ELIGIBILITY
To be eligible for award of a contract in response to this solicitation the Contractor must

demonstrate that they have successfully completed services, as specified in the Technical
Specifications / Scope of Services section of this solicitation, are narmally and routinely engaged
in performing such services and are properly and legally licensed to perform such work. In
addition, the Contractor must have no conflict of interest with regard to any other work performed
by the Contractor for the City of Fort Lauderdale.

The Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type | report with their proposal.
Awarded contractor will be required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type Il report annually during
the term of this contract. If the Contractor cannot provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type | report at

the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.

06. PRICING/DELIVERY
All pricing should be identified in PART VIi - PROPOSAL SUMMARY REQUIREMENTS. No

additional costs may be accepted, other than the costs stated on the Proposal pages.
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RFP DOCUMENTS
The Contractor shall examine this RFP carefully. Ignorance of the requirements will not relieve

the Contractor from liability and obligation under the Contract.

AWARD/INTENT

It is the intent of the City to select up to four investment managers, whatever is determined to be
in the best interest of the City, to provide innovative investment services for approximately
$542,000,000 market value as of 12/31/11, of its operating and capital (exclusive of pension
funds) funds pursuant to Florida Statutes and the City’s Investment Policy (see Exhibit A). No
Investment manager shall have more than 30% of the City's portfolio dollars. The City's objective
is to obtain a net yield on its portfolio better than that which may be obtained through a tiered
portfolio while maintaining strict adherence to its adopted Investment Policy, to protect investment
principal, and to maintain liquidity, while avoiding unreasonable risk. The City reserves the right to
award to those proposers who will best serve the interests and needs of the City of Fort

Lauderdale.

The award shall be made to up to four investment managers; therefore, fees for all
services/items as stated in the Proposal Summary will be one of the factors in the cost
evaluation. Proposers agree that the quoted costs for service will be calculated utilizing a
portfolio of up to $150 Million each in order to arrive at the “TOTAL COST TO THE CITY",
Proposers must include all fees (in basis points) to this contract. No other costs shall be

accepted.

The City shall be interested in knowing how each investment manager shall construct their
portion of their awarded portfolio.

The City’s intention is to also retain the services of an Investment Advisor (through a separate
request for proposal}, whos function will be to oversee the Investment Manager's in the execution
of their functions per the requirements of the City (see PART Il - Special Conditions, ltem 09
Contract Coordinator (investment Advisor).

The City also reserves the right to waive minor variations in the specifications and in the bidding
process. The City further reserves the right to accept or reject any and/or all proposals and to
award or not award a contract based on this bid solicitation.

PRICE VALIDITY
Prices provided in this Request for Proposal (RFP) are valid for 120 days from time of RFP

opening. The City shall award contract within this time pericd or shall request to the
recommended awarded vendor an extension to hold pricing, until products/services have been

awarded.

Bict 125-10893
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PART Il - RFP SCHEDULE

Release of RFP , (3/26/12

Deadline for Questions/Request for

Clarifications 04/06/12

Addendum if Necessary 04/09/12

Proposal Due Date/Time (Deadline) 04/16/12 Prior to 2:00PM EDT
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PART Il - SPECIAL CONDITIONS

GENERAL CONDITIONS
RFP General Conditions Form G-107 Rev. 11/11 (GC) are included and made a part of this RFP.

NEWS RELEASES/PUBLICITY
News releases, publicity releases, or advertisements relating to this contract or the tasks or

projects associated with the project shall not be made without prior City approval.

RFP DOCUMENTS
The Contractor shall examine this RFP carefully. Ignorance of the requirements will not relieve

the Contractor from liability and obligations under the Contract.

CONTRACTORS' COSTS
The City shall not be liable for any costs incurred by Contractor in responding to this RFP.

RULES AND PROPOSALS

The signer of the proposal must declare that the only person(s), company or parties interested in
the proposal as principals are named therein; that the proposal is made without collusion with any
other person(s), company or parties submitting a proposal; that it is in afl respects fair and in good
faith, without coltusion or fraud; and that the signer of the proposal has full authorlty to bind the

principal Contractor.

CONTRACT PERIOD
The initial contract term shall commence upon date of award by the City or June 1, 2012,

whichever is later, and shall expire five years from that date. The City reserves the right to extend
the contract for two, additional one-year terms, providing all terms conditions and specifications
remain the same, both parties agree to the extension, and such extension is approved by the

City.

In the event services are scheduled to end because of the expiration of this contract, the
Contractor shall continue the service upon the request of the City as authorized by the awarding
authority. The extension period shall not extend for more than ninety (90) days beyond the
expiration date of the existing contract. The Contractor shall be compensated for the service at
the rate in effect when this extension clause is invoked by the City.

COST ADJUSTMENTS
Prices quoted shali be firm for the initiai contract term (5) five years, No cost increases shall be

accepted in this initial contract term, and also shall be firm for the two, additional one-year
contract extensions, if approved by both parties. Please consider this when providing your pricing

for this request for proposal.
No costs shall be accepted for the renewal periods.

SERVICE TEST PERIOD
If the Contractor has not previously performed the services to the city, the City reserves the right

to require a test period to determine if the Contractor can perform in accordance with the
requirements of the contact, and to the City's satisfaction. Such test period can be from thirty to
ninety days, and will be conducted under all specifications, terms and conditions contained in the
contract. This trial period will then become part of the initial contract period.

A performance evaluation will be conducted prior to the end of the test period and that evaluation
will be the basis for the City's decision to continue with the Contractor or to select another

Contractor (if applicable).

Bid 125-10809
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FINANCE DIRRECTOR OR DESIGNEE
Under the direction of the Finance Director or designee, the City may utilize an Investment
Advisor, whose principal duties shall be to oversee the Investment Manager(s) in the execution of
their functions, as a fiduciary for the funds being provided to the Investment Managers as per but
not limited to the following:

Maintain Investment Policy compliance with Fiorida state statutes

Liaison with Investment Manager(s)

Coordinate and approve all work under the contract

Resolve any disputes

Assure consistency and quality of Investment Manager(s) performance

Schedule and conduct Investment Manager(s) performance evaluations and document

findings

Review and approve for payment all invoices for work performed or items delivered

Prepare periodic reports to City management and City Commission

INVOICES/PAYMENT
The City will accept invoices no more frequently than once per month. Each invoice shall fuily

detail the related costs and shall specify the status of the particular fask or project as of the date
of the invoice as regards the accepted schedule for that task or project. Payment will be made
within thirty (30) days after receipt of an invoice acceptable to the City, in accordance with the
Florida Local Government Prompt Payment Act. If, at any time during the contract, the City shall
not approve or accept the Contractor's work product, and agreement cannot be reached between
the City and the Contractor to resolve the problem to the City's satisfaction, the City shall
negotiate with the Contractor on a payment for the work completed and usable to the City.

RELATED EXPENSES/TRAVEL EXPENSES
All costs including fravel, if necessary are to be included in your proposal. The City will not

accept any additional costs.

NO EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT/ADDITIONAL SERVICES

While this contract is for services provided to the department referenced in this Request for
Proposals, the City may require similar work for other City departments. Contractor agrees to
take on such work unless such work would not be considered reasonable or become an undue
burden to the Contractor. '

Contractor agrees and understands that the contract shall not be consfrued as an exclusive
arrangement and further agrees that the City may, at any time, secure similar or identical services
from another vendor at the City's sole option.

The City may require additional items or services of a similar nature, but not specifically listed in
the contract. The Contractor agrees to provide such items or services, and shall provide the City
prices on such additional items or services based upon a formula or method, which is the same or
similar to that used in establishing the prices in his proposal. If the price(s) offered are not
acceptable to the City, and the situation cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the City, the City
reserves the right to procure those items or services from other vendors, or to cancel the confract
upon giving the Contractor thirty (30) days written notice.

DELETION OR MODIFICATION OF SERVICES

The City reserves the right to delete any portion of this Contract at any time without cause, and if
such right is exercised by the City, the total fee shall be reduced in the same ratio as the
estimated cost of the work deleted bears to the estimated cost of the work originally planned. If
work has already been accomplished on the portion of the Contract to be deleted, the Contractor
shall be paid for the deleted portion on the basis of the estimated percentage of completion of

such portion.

4
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If the Contractor and the City agree on modifications or revisions {o the task elements, after the
City has approved work to begin on a particular task or project, and a budget has been
established for that task or project, the Contractor will submit a revised budget to the Clty for
approval prior to proceeding with the work.

SUBSTITUTION OF PERSONNEL

It is the intention of the City that the Contractor's personnel proposed for the contract will be
available for the initial contract term. In the event the Contractor wishes to substitute personnel,
he shall propose personnel of equal or higher qualifications and all replacement personnel are
subject to City approval. In the event substitute personnel are not satisfactory to the City and the
matter cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the City, the City reserves the right to cancel the
Contract for cause. See Section 5.09 General Conditions.

INSURANCE

The Contractor shall furnish proof of insurance requirements as indicated below. The coverage is
to remain in force at all times during the contract period. The following minimum insurance
coverage is required. The City is to be added as an “additional insured” with relation to General
Liability Insurance. This MUST be written in the description section of the insurance certificate,
even if you have a check-off box on your insurance certificate. Any costs for adding the City as
“additional insured” will be at the contractor's expense.

The City of Fort Lauderdale shall be given notice 10 days prior to cancellation or modification of
any stipulated insurance. The insurance provided shall be endorsed or amended to comply with
this notice requirement. In the event that the insurer is unabie to accommodate, it shall be the
responsibility of the Contractor to provide the proper notice. Such natification will be in writing by
registered mail, return receipt requested and addressed to the Procurement Services Division.

The Contractor's insurance must be provided by an A.M. Best's "A-“rated or better insurance
company authorized to issue insurance policies in the State of Florida, subject to approval by the
City's Risk Manager. Any exclusions or provisions in the insurance maintained by the contractor
that precludes coverage for work contemplated in this RFP shall be deemed unacceptable, and
shall be considered breach of contract.

Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability Insurance

Limits: Workers’ Compensation — Per Florida Statute 440
Employers’ Liability - $500,000

Any firm performing work on behalf of the City of Fort Lauderdale must provide Workers’
Compensation insurance. Exceptions and exemptions can only be made if they are in
accordance with Florida Statute. For additional information contact the Department of Financial
Services, Workers’ Compensation Division at (850) 413-1601 or on the web at www.fldfs.com.

Commercial General Liability Insurance

Covering premises-operations, products-completed operations, independent contractors and
contractual liability.

Limits: Combined single limit bodily injury/property damage $1,000,000.

This coverage must include, but not limited to:
a. Coverage for the liability assumed by the contractor under the indemnity

provision of the confract.
b. Coverage for Premises/Operations
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¢. Products/Completed Operations

d. Broad Form Contractual Liability

e. Independent Contractors
Automobile Liability Insurance

Covering all owned, hired and non-owned automobile equipment.

Limits: Bodily injury $250,000 each person,
~ $500,000 each occurrence
Property damage $100,000 each occurrence

Professional Liability {Errors & Omissions)

Consultants
Limits: $2,000,000 per occurrence

A copy of ANY current Certificate of Insurance should be inctuded with your proposal.

In the event that you are the successful bidder, you will be required to provide a certificate
naming the City as an “additional insured” for General Liability.

Ceirtificate holder should be addressed as follows:

City of Fort Lauderdale
Procurement Services Division

100 N. Andrews Avenue, Room 619
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 -

SUBCONTRACTORS
If the Contractor proposes to use subcontractors in the course of providing these services to the

City, this information shall be a part of the bid response. Such information shall be subject to
review, acceptance and approval of the City, prior to any contract award. The City reserves the
right to approve or disapprove of any subcontractor candidate in its best interest and to require

Contractor to replace subcontractor with one that meets City approval,

Contractor shall ensure that all of Contractor's subcontractors perform in accordance with the
terms and conditions of this Contract. Contractor shall be fully responsible for alt of Contractor's
subcontractors’ performance, and liable for any of Contractor's subcontractors’ non-performance
and all of Contractor’s subcontractors’ acts and omissions. Contractor shall defend, at
Contractor's expense, counsel being subject to the City's approval or disapproval, and indemnify
and hold harmiess the City and the City’s officers, employees, and agents from and against any
claim, lawsuit, third-party action, or judgment, including any award of attorney fees and any award
of costs, by or in favor of any Contractor’s subcontractors for payment for work performed for the

City.

INSURANCE — SUBCONTRACTORS
Contractor shall require all of its subcontractors to provide the aforementioned coverage as well

as any other coverage that the contractor may consider necessary, and any deficiency in the
coverage or policy limits of said subcontractors will be the sole responsibility of the contractor.
UNCONTROLLABLE CIRCUMSTANCES ("Force Majeure")

The City and Contractor will be excused from the performance of their respective obligations
under this agreement when and to the extent that their performance is delayed or prevented by
any circumstances beyond their control including, fire, flood, explosion, strikes or other labor
disputes, act of God or public emergency, war, riot, civil commotion, malicious damage, act or

=
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19.

20.

21.

22.

City of Fort Lauderdale

omission of any governmental authority, delay or failure or shortage of any type of transportation,
equipment, or service from a public utility needed for their performance, provided that:

A. The non performing party gives the other party prompt written notice describing the
particulars of the Force Majeure including, but not limited to, the nature of the occurrence and its
expected duration, and continues to furnish timely reports with respect thereto during the period
of the Force Majeure;

B. The excuse of performance is of no greater scope and of no longer duration than is
required by the Force Majeure;

C. No obligations of either party that arose before the Force Majeure causing the excuse of
performance are excused as a result of the Force Majeure; and

D. The non performing party uses its best efforts to remedy its inability to perform.
Notwithstanding the above, performance shall not be excused under this Section for a period in
excess of two (2) months, provided that in extenuating circumstances, the City may excuse
performance for a longer term. Economic hardship of the Confractor will not constitute Force
Majeure. The term of the agreement shall be extended by a period equal to that during which
either party's performance is suspended under this Section.

PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES
NOTE: Contractor, by submitting a proposal attests she/hefit has not been placed on the

convicted vendor fist.

A person or affiliate who has been placed on the convicted vendor iist following a conviction for a
public entity crime may not submit a proposal on a contract fo provide any goods or services to a
public entity, may not submit a proposal on a contract with a public entity for the construction or
repair of a public buitding or public work, may not submit proposals on leases of real property to a
public entity, may not be awarded or perform work as a contracter, supplier, subcontractor, or
consultant under a contract with any public entity, and may not transact business with any public
entity in excess of the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017, Florida Statutes, for
Category Two for a period of 36 months from the date of being placed on the convicted vendor

list.

CANADIAN COMPANIES
The City may enforce in the United States of America or in Canada or in both countries a

judgment entered against the Contractor, The Contractor waives any and all defenses fo the
City's enforcement in Canada, of a judgment entered by a court in the United States of America.
All monetary amounts set forth in this Contract are in United Sfates dollars.

LOBBYING ACTIVITIES

ALL CONTRACTORS PLEASE NOTE: Any contractor submitting a response to this solicitation
must comply, if applicable, with City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance No. C-00-27 & Resolution No.
07-101, Lobbying Activities. Copies of Ordinance No. C-00-27 and Resolution No. 07-101 may
be obtained from the City Clerk’s Office on the 7th Floor of City Hall, 100 N. Andrews Avenue,
Fort Lauderdale, Fiorida. The ordinance may also be viewed on the City's website at:

http:/iwww . fortlauderdale.goviclerk/LobbyistDocs/lobbyistord 1009.pdf .

BID TABULATIONS/INTENT TO AWARD
(Notice of Intent to Award Contract/Bid, resulting from the City's Formal solicitation process,

requiring City Commission action, may be found at
http:/fwww forttauderdale.gov/purchasing/notices_of_intent.htm. Tabulations of receipt of those

parties responding to a formal solicitation may be found at

Bid 125-10862
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http:/Awww.fortlauderdale.gov/purchasing/bidresults.htm, or any interested party may call the
Procurement Office at 954-828-5933.

SAMPLE CONTRACT AGREEMENT

A sample of the formal agreement template, which may be required to be executed by
the awarded vendor, can be found at our website
http.//fortlauderdale.gov/purchasing/general/contractsample021412.pdf

SERVICE INFORMATION CONTROLS

The Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type | report with their proposal.
Awarded contractor will be required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type Il report annually during
the term of this contract. if the Contractor cannot provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type | report at
the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.
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PART IV - TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS/SCOPE OF SERVICES

SECTION | - PURPOSE

The City is seeking to contract with up to four investment managers with the ability to actively manage
funds for the City’s benefit. No one investment manager will handle more than 30% of the city’s available
funds (exclusive of pension funds) pursuant to Florida Statutes and the City's Investment Policy (see
Exhibit A attached). The City’s objective is to obtain a net yield on its portfolio better than that which may
be obtained through utilization of a tiered portfolio while maintaining strict adherence to its adopted
Investment Policy, protect investment principal, maintain liquidity, while avoiding unreasonable risk.

The City shall be interested in knowing how each investment manager shall construct their portion of
their awarded portfolio. ' :

A. The Required Investment Process: All investments will be held in a safekeeping Trust
Account. Funds for acquiring investments will be on a (Delivery vs. Payment) basis to the City's Trust
Account. Any and all proceeds (Principal and/or Interest payments) will go directly to an account
specified by the City. Under no circumstances will the Investment Manager have custody of any City

assets.

Initially the process will require close coordination with the Director of Finance or designee. However,
once the portfolio is established and operating smoothly, it is expected that the Investment Manager will
operate independently but keeping the City informed of any and all activity via same day fax or email.

B. Bond Proceeds: The City at its sole determination may include bond proceeds in its
investment pool. When such funds are included, the proposer must adhere to the investment restrictions
that accompany the bond issue and create a separate segregated account that will allow for and facilitate
the proper recognition and accounting of all bond proceeds and their accompanying earnings. At the
end of each quarter, the investment manager shall certify to the City that all investments and
transactions met the criteria stated in the bond documentation.

C. City Investment Policy: The City's Investment Policy, Revision Effective - November 1, 2011
is included as EXHIBIT “A” to the RFP document.
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PART V - PROPOSAL EVALUATION CRITERIA
The award of the contract will be based on certain objective and subjective considerations listed below:

Understanding of the overall needs of the City for such services, as presented in 30%
the narrative proposal. Ability to provide the type and quantity and quality of

services requested within this proposal. This includes the responsiveness of the

proposer in meeting the requirements.

Other Factors: 40%

1. Ability to excel within the fixed income investment environment.

2. Ability to produce meaningful reports on a monthly basis reflecting
results for the month and year. (Comparison Bench Mark).

3. Ability to stay within the parameters of the City’s Investment Policy.

4. Ability to provide on-line computer access by authorized city representatives
to the City’s portfolio, in a pdf and spreadsheet downloadable format.

Cost of services based on the proposer’s fee proposal 30%

TOTAL PERCENT AVAILABLE: 100%

An evaluation committee of qualified City Staff or other persons selected by the City will conduct
evaluations of proposals. It may be a two-step process. In step one; the committee will evaluate all
responsive proposals based upon the information and references contained in the proposals as
submitted. The committee shall review each proposal and rank each proposer's evaluation criteria as
stated in this RFP (i.e. criteria 1, 2, 3, 4), and determine a minimum of three (3), if more than three (3)
proposals are responsive, to be finalists for further consideration. In the event there are less than three
(3) responsive proposals, the committee will give further consideration to all responsive proposals
received. In step two, the committee may then conduct discussions (oral presentations), for clarification
purposes only, with the finalists and re-score and re-rank the finalists’ proposais. The evaluation
committee may then make a recommendation, resulting from this process, o the City Manager for award

of a contract(s).

The City may require visits to customer installations or demonstrations of product by Contractor’s, as part
of the evaluation process.

The City of Fort Lauderdale reserves the right, before awarding the contract, to require a Propqser fo
submit any evidence of its qualifications as the City may deem necessary, and to consider any evidence
available of financial, technical and other qualifications and capabilities, including performance

experience with past and present users.

The City of Fort Lauderdale reserves the right to request additional clarifying information and request an
oral presentation from any and all Proposers prior to determination of award.

The City reserves the right to award the contract to that Proposer who will best serve the interest of the
City. The City reserves the right based upon its deliberations and in its opinion, to accept or reject any or
all proposals. The City aiso reserves the right to waive minor irregularities or variations to the

specifications and in the bidding process.

1
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The City uses a mathematical formula for determining allocation of evaluation criteria including cost
points, to each responsive, responsible proposer. Each evatuation criteria stated in the RFP has an
identified weighted factor. Each evaluation committee member will rank each criteria, from each
proposer, giving their first ranked proposer as number 1, and second proposer as number 2 and so on.
The City shall average the ranking for each criteria, for all evaluation committee members, and then
multiply that average ranking by the weighted criteria identified in the RFP. The lowest average final
ranking score will determine the recommendation by the evaluation committee to the City Manager.
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_ PART VI - REQUIREMENTS OF THE PROPOSAL

All proposals must be submitted as specified on the proposal pages, which follow. Any attachments
must be clearly identified. To be considered, the proposal must respond to all parts of the RFP. Any
other information thought to be relevant, but not applicable to the enumerated categories, should be
provided as an appendix to the proposal. If publications are supplied by a proposer to respond to a
requirement, the response should include reference to the document number and page number.
Proposals not providing this reference will be considered to have no reference material included in the

additional documents,

All proposals must be submitted in a sealed package with the RFP number, due and open date, and RFP
itle clearly marked on the outside. If more than one package is submitted they should be marked 1 of 2,

etfc.

THIS IS A PAPER RFP WITH CD. All proposals must be received by the City of Fort Lauderdale, in the
Procurement Services Division, Room 619, City Hall, 100 North Andrews Avenue, Fort Lauderdale,
Florida, 33301 prior to 2:00 pm on the date specified m PART I — RFP SCHEDULE. Submittal of

response by fax or e-mail will NOT be acceptable.

PROPOSERS MUST SUBMIT AN IDENTIFIED ORIGINAL COPY PLUS (3) COPIES OF THE
PROPQSAL PAGES INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS

THE ABOVE REQUIREMENT TOTALS 4 COPIES OF YOUR PROPOSAL. CONTRACTOR SHOULD
SUBMIT (5) COPIES OF YOUR PROPOSAL ON A CD. FAILURE TO PROVIDE PRi POSALS AS
STATED ABOVE, MAY BE GROUNDS TO FIND CONTRACTOR NON-RESPONSIVE.

The proposer understands that the information contained in these Proposal Pages is to be relied upon by
the City in awarding the proposed Agreement, and such information is warranted by the proposer to be
true. The proposer agrees to furnish such additional information, prior to acceptance of any proposal,
relating to the qualifications of the proposer, as may be required by the City.

A representative who is authorized to contractually bind the Contractor shall sign the
Bid/Proposal Signature page. Omission of a signature on that page may result in rejection of

your proposal.
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PART VIl - PROPOSAL SUMMARY REQUIREMENTS

PROPOSAL SUMMARY REQUIREMENTS TO BE COMPLETED AND SUBMITTED AS FOLLOWS:

SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS:

In order to provide for proper evaluation of your firm and fairly compare it with other submittals, we
request that you format your response in the following order:

1. Organization
Company Name

Principal Address

Telephone Numbers - Principal and Fax

Email Address (es)

Describe the organization, date founded and ownership of your firm and regulatory bodies your

firm reports to. Has the firm experienced a significant change in organizational structure,

ownership or management during the past three years and, if so, please describe.

F. Describe any other business affiliations (e.g. subsidiaries, joint ventures, “soft dollar”
arrangements with brokers).

G. Identify the types of accounts primarily managed by your firm.

H. Does the firm have an office in the State of Florida?

[. Is your firm a registered advisor under the Investment Advisor's Act of 19407 Please attach Part
I of your most recent Form ADV.

J. Describe any SEC, NASD or any other regulatory censure or litigation involving your firm during

_ the past five {5) years.

K. Summarize fidelity bond coverage, errors and omissions, employee dishonesty, fiduciary fiability
insurance, or other fiduciary coverage your firm carries. Provide a Certificate of Insurance.

L. Provide a copy of your firm's most recent audited financial statement.

M. Does your firm adhere to the Code of Professional and Ethical Standards as described by

Association for Investment Management and Research (AIMR)? :

moowr

2. Experience

A. Describe your firm's experience in managing investment portfolios for public funds and
governmental entities including any relevant experience managing public funds in Florida.

B. Describe your firm's experience in managing investment portfolios for bond funds.
C. Summarize your assets under management (institutional only) over the past five years by the

following categories: short-term funds, medium-term funds, long-term funds. Also, please
separate these asset totals by Government Institutions and Other Institufions

Short-Term Medium-Term Long-Term
Funds Funds Funds

Government Institutions

Other Institutions

Total
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C. What is your firm’s experience in developing investment policies and portfolio management
guidelines for government operating OR CAPITAL funds?

D. Does your firm act as a broker or as a primary deater in securities or receive any other form
of additional compensation (including soft dollars) for client transactions aside from the direct

fee paid by clients?

E. Provide five client references (public references, if possible) including client name, contact
personnel, address, phone number, fax number, e-mail address, and length of time you have
managed their assets and a list of any other refated services provided (e.g. investment

advisor, cash flow analysis, etc.)

3. Personnel
A. Provide a summary organizational chart showing your proposed project team including
analytical investment and research staff, other decision support and back office support.
Identify the primary contact and describe the roles of each key person.

B. Provide detailed resumes for ali key investment professionals who will be directly responsible
for the investment of our funds. Include the following information; titfe, number of years at
your firm, total number of years of experience, professional designations or licenses and
SEC, NASD, or any other regulatory censures or actions or litigation, if any.

C. Describe your firm’s activities to keep portfolio managers informed of developments relevant
to the management of local government funds.

D. What is the largest number of accounts handled by any single manager!team (give size of
team)?

4. Investment Management Approach and Discipling
A. Briefly describe your firm's invastment management phi!osophy.

B. Describe the investment program you are proposing for us, including the type and mix of
securities you propose to purchase, how the funds will be managed after the initial
investments are made and how you will provide liquidity should it be necessary.

GC. What are the primary strategies empioyed by your firm for adding value to portfolios {e.g.,
market timing, credit research, etc,)?

D. Describe how investment ideas are originated and how researched, and how the ultimate
investment decision is made. Explain how investment decisions are then implemented,
monitored and evaluated. =

E. Describe your firm's research capabilities and resources. Does your firm assign credit
research to specialists?

F. What suggestions do you have for changing the City's existing Investment Policy to increase
yield without unduly sacrificing safety and liquidity, while staying within Florida state statutes.
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G. In one sentence, describe your firm's fixed income investment policy. When was it
established?

5. Performance
A. Provide a breakdown of the total assets managed by your firm. Do not include figures for any

subsidiaries, affiliates, or parent firms, As of March 31, 2012 orasof: /[

# of accts $ value (in $1 000)

Tax Exempt Assets
ERISA
Public
Taft-Hartley
Endowment
Foundation
Other

Total Tax-Exempt

Taxable Assets
Parsonal Trusts
Commingled

Total Taxable

Mutual Funds
Equity
Fixed Income
Money Market
Total Mutuat Funds

Overall Total



B. For each of the last five years please indicate the number of fixed income accounts gained and
lost in each category.

ACCOUNTS GAINED

City of Fort Lauderdale

A
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2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

PUBLIC

ERISA

TAFF-HARTLEY

ENDOWMENT

FOUNDATION

OTHER

TOTAL

ACCOUNTS LOST

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

PUBLIC

ERISA

TAFF-HARTLEY

ENDOWMENT -

FOUNDATION

OTHER

TOTAL




C. Provide the rates of return indicated below by fund (limited to fixed income investments -
exclude equity portfolios). If you have a fund, which would mirror the City's authorized investments,
please bring this to our aftention as such. Where multi-products exist, simply duplicate the return
tables listed below for each product submitted. Additionally, if available, submit return figures
calculated by a third party performance firm. Be sure to indicate the asset value and number of

accounts corresponding to the return figures.

ity of Fort Lauderdale

Fixed Income Performance

D. Is your Firm in compliance with the Association for Investment Management and Research

(AIMR) Standards?

E. What is the average size of the five largest fixed income funds under current active

management?

6. Accounting and Reporting

YEAR RETURN # OF | Market
ENDING % ACCOUNTS Value ($)
2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

Annualized

3 year fthru

12/31

Annualized

5 vyear thru

12/31

13t Q 2011

2nd Q@ 2011

ard Q@ 2011

4th  Q 2011

1% Q 2012

Bid 325-10889

A. Describe the investment accounting and reporting system used by your firm and if it
complies with AIMR standards.

B. Describe the frequency and format of reports that you shall provide to the City, (including the
methods and formulas used to calculate yield and performance). The city requires reports on
a monthly basis for each month of the year, a quarterly basis and an annual report. Also, in
order for the City to comply with accounting and financial reporting requirements, state what
data is available for the reports, such as effective duration on an investment basis, type of

investment basis and total portfolio basis. Sample reports must be included.



x

City of Fort Lauderdale Bid 125-10899

C. Describe the types of benchmarks that would be included with the performance.

D. Describe the process the firm would go through to assist in identifying appropriate industry
benchmarks. What performance benchmark(s) would you suggest for our portfolio given our
current investment policy which states an overall with a weighted average duration of less

than 3 years?

7. Fees (In basis points)

Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly balance
within the following range, based on a current pool of market value of approximately
$542,000,000), as of 12/31/12. No other fees shall be accepted other than the fees in basis

points, as stated below.
(In basis points)

$1.00 to $150,000,000
Over $150,000,000

8. Other

A. Provide a description of your firm’s technological capabilities.

B. What makes your firm unique?

The proposer understands that the information contained in these Proposal Pages is to be relied
upon by the City in awarding the proposed Agreement, and such information is warranted by the
proposer to be frue. The proposer agrees to furnish such additional information, prior to acceptance
of any proposal, relating to the qualifications of the proposer, as may be required by the City.

9. City's prefef‘red tiers/categories: How would you construct your portfolio taking into consideration
the preferred tiers/categories stated below?

A. Immediate needs: less than 30 days

B. Short term: 30 days to a maximum of 12 months

C. Intermediate term: 1 year — up to 2-1/2 years

D. Long term: 2-1/2 years up to 10 years (the City’s maximum per policy)

10. Can you submit a monthly and/or quarterly report within (30) days after the compietion of a
month or quarter? Yes No

If No — How many days after?
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PART VIl - PROPOSAL PAGES - TECHNICAL PROPOSAL

The following issues should be fully responded to in your proposal in concise narrative form.
Additional sheets should be used, but they should reference each issue and be presented in the

same order.

Tab 1: Bid/Proposal Signature page (signed by a representative who is authorized fo
contractually bind the Contractor). A copy of your Corporate By-Laws, or a letter
signed by a corporate officer should be included, if proposal is signed by other than the
President, Vice President or Treasurer.,

Tab 2: Non-Collusion Statement

Tab 3; Letter of Interest, The letter of interest may contain any other information not in the
proposal but should not exceed two (2) pages.

Tab 4; Statement of Proposed Services. Proposals should respond fo scope of work. They
should be no longer than twelve (12) pages (single sided), and be comprised of three
general components: (@) an assessment of capability and approach to perform the
scope of service; (b) identification of Proposer's distinctive competence, staff
qualifications assigned to this account with their experience and skills they bring to this
assignment, along with resume of experience and qualifications;

Tab &: Business Licenses. Evidence that your firm and/or persons performing the work are
licensed to do business in the State of Florida, or Certificate of Good Standing from the

State in which you are corporately registered.

Tab 6: Evidence of Insurance. Certificate of Insurance showing coverage, forms, limits.
Actual insurance certificates will be required from recommended contractor, prior to
award.

Tab 7: List of five current and past clients/references for whom you have provided similar

services in the last three years; Provide agency name, address, telephone number,
contact person, and date service was provided. Be prepared to provide, upon request,
evidence of work product, ability 1o meet schedules, cooperation, and responsiveness.

Altach additional shests if necessary.

Tab 8: PART VIli - Proposal Summary Requirements {Provide answers to all questions in
this section of the RFP, including the fees in basis points).

Tab 9; SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type | report with their proposal. Awarded contractor will be
required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type Il report annually during the term of this
contract. if the Contractor cannot provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type | report at the
time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.

Tab 10: Any additional attachments to your proposat.
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CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE
GENERAL CONDITIONS

These instructions are standard for all contracts for commodities or services issued through the City of Fort Lauderdale Procursment Services Division.
The City may delete, supersede, or modify any of these standard instructions for a particular contract by indicating such change in the Invitatien to Bid
(ITB) Special Conditions, Technical Specifications, Instructions, Proposal Pages, Addenda, and tegal Advertisement. In this general conditions
document, Invitation to Bid (ITB) and Request for Propesal (RFP) are intarchangeabla.

PARTI BIDDER PROPOSAL PAGE(S) CONDITIONS: -

1.01 BIDDER ADDRESS: The City maintains automated vendor address lists that have been generated for each specific Commodity Class item 3
through our bid issuing service, BidSync. Nofices of invitations to Bid (ITB’S) are sent by e-mail to the selection of bidders who have fully N
registered with BidSync or faxed (if applicable) ta every vendor on those lists, who may then view the bid documents online. Bidders who
have been informed of a bid's availability in any other manner are responsible for registering with BidSync in ordar to view the bid documents.

There is no fee for doing so. If you wish bid notifications be provided to ancther e-mail address or fax, piease contact BidSync. if you wish
purchase orders sent to a different address, please so indicate in your bid response. If you wish payments sent o a different address, please
so indicate on your invoice.

1.02 DELIVERY: Time will be of the essence for any orders placed as a result of this ITB. The City reserves the right 1o cancel any orders, or part
thereof, without obligation if delivery is not made in accordance with the schedule spacified by the Bidder and accepted by the City.

1.03 PACKING SLIPS: ft will be the responsibility of the awarded Contractor, to attach all packing slips to the OUTSIDE of each shipment.
Packing slips must provide a detaited description of what is to be received and reference the Cily of Fort Lauderdale purchase order number
that is asscciated with the shipment. Faiture to provide a detailed packing slip attached fo the outside of shipment may result in refusal of
shipment at Contractor's expense,

1.04 PAYMENT TERMS AND CASH DISCOUNTS: Paymant terms, unless otherwise stated in this ITB, will be considered to be net 30 days after
the date of satisfactory delivery at the plase of acceptance and receipt of correct invoice at the office specified, whichever occurs fast. Bidder
may offer cash discounts for prompt payment but they will not be considered in determination of award. If a Bidder offers a discount, it is
understocd that the discount time will be computed from the date of satisfactory delivery, at the place of acceptance, and receipt of correct
invoice, at the office specified, whichever occurs last.

1.05 TOTAL BID DISCOUNT: ¥ Bidder offers a discount for award of all items listed in the bid, such discount shall be deducted from the total of
the firm net unit prices bid and shall be considered in tabulation and award of bid.

1.06 BIDS FIRM FOR ACCEPTANGE: Bidder warranis, by virtue of bidding, that the bid and the prices quoted in the bid will be firm for
acceptance by the City for a periad of rinety (90) days from the date of bid cpening unless otherwise stated in the ITE.

1.07 VARIANCES: For purposes of bid evaluation, Bidder's must indicate any variances, no matter how slight, from ITB General Conditions,
Special Conditions, Specifications or Addenda in the space provided in the ITB. No variations or exceptions by a Bidder will be considered or
deemed a part of the bid submitted unless such variances or exceptions are listed in the bid and referenced in the space provided on the
bidder proposal pages. If variances are not stated, or referenced as required, it will be assumad that the product or service fully complies with
the City's terms, conditions, and specifications.

By receiving a bid, City does not necessarily accept any variances contained in the bid. All variances submitted are subject to review and
appraval by the City. If any bid contains material variances that, in the City's sole opinion, make that bid conditional in nature, the City
reserves the right to reject the bid or part of the bid that is declared, by the City as conditional.

1.08 NO BIDS: [f you do not intend te bid please indicate the reason, such as insufficient time to respond, do not offer product or service, unable to
meet specifications, schedule would not permit, or any other reason, in the space provided in this ITB. Failure to bid or feturn no bid
comments prior to the bid due and cpening date and time, indicated in this ITB, may result in your firm being deleted from our Bidder's
registration list far the Commodity Class ltem requested in this [TB.

1.09 MINORITY AND WOMEN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PARTICIPATION AND BUSINESS DEFINITIONS: The City of Fort Lauderdate wants
to increase the participation of Mincrity Business Enterprises (MBE), Women Business Enterprises (WBE), and Small Business Enterprises
(SBE) in its procurement activities. If your firm qualifies in accordance with the below definitions please indicate in the space provided in this

TB.

Minority Business Enterprise (MBE) "A Minority Business” is a business enterprise that is owned or controlled by cne or more socially or
economically disadvantaged persons. Such disadvantage may arise from cultural, racial, chronic economic circumstances or background or
other similar cause. Such persons include, but are not limited to: Blacks, Hispanics, Asian Americans, and Native Americans.

The term “Minority Business Enterprise” means a business at feast 51 percent of which is owned by mincrity group members or, it the case of
a publicly owned business, ai ieast 51 percent of ihe siock of which is owned by minority group members. For the purpose of the preceding
sentence, minority group merbers are citizens of the.United States who include, but are not limited to: Blacks, Hispanics, Asian Americans,

and Native Americans.

Women Business Enterprise (WBE) a "Women Qwned or Controlled Business" is a business enterprise at least 51 percent of which is owned
by females or, in the case of a publicly owned business, at least 51 percent of the stock of which is owned by females.

Small Business Enterprisé (SBE) "Small Business" means a corporation, partnership, sole proprietorship, or other legal entity formed for the
purpese of making a profi{, which is indepandently owned and operated, has sither fewer than 100 employees or less than $1,000,000 in

annual gross receipts.

BLACK, which includes persons having crigins in any of the Black racial groups of Africa.
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WHITE, which includes persons whose origins are Anglo-Saxon and Europeans and persons of Indo-European decent including Pakistani and
East Indian.

HISPANIC, which includes persons of Mexican, Puerio Rican, Cuban, Central and South American, or other Spanish culture or origin,
regardless of race.

NATIVE AMERICAN, which includes perscns whose origins are American Indians, Eskimos, Aleuts, or Native Hawaiians.

ASBIAN AMERICAN, which includes persons having origin in any of the eriginal peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian
subcontinent, or the Pacific Islands.

1.10 MINORITY-WOMEN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PARTICIPATION
It is the desire of the City of Fort Lauderdale to increase the paricipation of minority (MBE} and women-owned (WBE) businesses In its
comracting and procurement programs. While the City does not have any preference or set aside programs in place, it is commitled to a
policy of equitable pariicipation for these firms. Proposers are requested to include in their proposals a narrative describing their past
accomplishments and intended actions in this area. If proposers are considering minority or women owned enterprise participation in their
proposal, those firms, and their specific duties have to be identified in the proposal. If a proposer is considered for award, he or she will be
asked to meet with City staff so that the intended MBE/WBE participation can be formalized and included in the subsequant contract.

1.11 SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES
This Section applies to any confract for goods or services of $1 million or more:
The Contractor certifias that it is nof on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or the Serutinized Companies with Activities in
the Iran Petroleusm Energy Sector List as provided in section 287.135, Florida Statutes (2011), as may be amended or revised. The City may
terminate this Contract at the City’s option if the Contractor is found to have submitted a false ceriification as provided under subsection {5) of
section 287,135, Florida Statutes (2011), as may be amended or revised, or been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in
Sudan List or the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the lran Petraleum Energy Sector List.

Partl DEFINITIONS/ORDER OF PRECEDENCE:

2.1 BIDDING DEFINITIONS The City will use the following definitions in it's general conditions, special conditions, technical specifications,
instructions to bidders, addenda and any other decument used in the bidding process:
INVITATION TO BID {ITB} when the City is requesting bids from qualified Bidders.
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP} when the City is requesting proposals from qualified Proposers.
BID — a price and terms quote received in response to an ITB.
PROPOSAL - a proposal received in response to an RFP.
BIDDER - Parson or firm submitting a Bid.
PROPOSER — Person or firm submitting a Proposal.
RESPONSIVE BIDDER - A person whose bid conforms in all material respects {o the terms and conditions inciudad in the ITS.
RESPONSIBLE BIBDER — A person who has the capability in all respects to perform in fuli the contract requirements, as stated in the ITB,
and-the integrity and reliability that wilf assure good faith performance.
FIRST RANKED PROPOSER -~ That Proposer, responding to a City RFP, whose Proposal is deemed by the City, the most advantageous o
the City after applying the evaluation criteria contained in the RFP.
SELLER - Suscessful Bidder or Proposer who is awarded a Purchase Order or Contract to provide goods or services to the City.
CONTRACTOR - Successful Bidder or Proposer who is awarded a Purchase Order, award Contract, Blanket Purchase Order agreement, or
Term Contract to provide goads or services to the City.
CONTRACT - A deliberate verbal or written agreement between two or more competent parties to perform or not to perform a certain act or
acts, including all types of agreements, regardless of what they may be called, for the procurement or disposal of equipment, matarials,
supplies, services or construction. ’
CONSULTANT — Successful Bidder or Proposer who is awarded a confract to provide professional services to the City.
The following terms may be used interchangeably by the City: ITB anc/or RFP; Bid or Proposal; Bidder, Proposer, ar Seller; Contractor or
Consultant; Contract, Award, Agreement or Purchase Order.

2.02 SPECIAL CONDITIONS: Any and all Special Conditions contained in this ITB that may be in variance or conflict with these General
Conditions shall have precedence over these General Conditions. If no changes or deletions to General Conditions are made in the Special
Conditions, then the General Conditions shall prevail in their entirety,

PART ljl _BIDDING AND AWARD PROCEDURES:

3.01 SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF BIDS: To receive consideration, bids must be received prior o the bid opening date and time. Unless
ctherwise specified, Bidder's should use the proposal forms provided by the City. These forms may be duplicated, but failure to use the forms
may cause the bid to be rejected. Any erasures or corrections on the bid must be made in ink and initialed by Bidder in ink. All information
submitted by the Bidder shall be printed, typewritten ot filled in with pen and ink. Bids shall be sighed in ink. Separate bids must be submitted
for each ITB issued by the Cily in separate sealed envelopes properly marked. When a particular ITB or RFP requires multiple copies of bids
or proposals they may be included in a single envelope or package properly sealed and identified. Only send bids via facsimile transmission
(FAX) if the ITB specifically states that bids sent via FAX will ba considered. If such a statement is not inciuded in the ITB, bids sent via FAX
will be rejected. Bids will be publicly opened in the Procurement Office, or other designated area, in the presence of Bidders, the public, and
City staff. Bidders and the public are invited and encouraged to attend bid openings. Bids will be tabulated and made available for review by
Bidder's and the public in accordance with applicable regulations.

3.02 MODEL NUMBER CORRECTIONS: If the model number for the make specified in this [TB is incorrect, or no longer availabie and replaced
with an updated model with new specifications, the Bidder shali enter the correct model number on the bidder proposal page. In the case of
an updated model with new specifications, Bidder shall provide adequate information to ailow the City to determine if the model bid meets the

City's requirements.

3.03 PRICES QUOTED: Deduct trade discounts, and quote firm net prices. Give both unit price and extended total. In the case of a discrepancy
in computing the amount of the bid, the unit price quoted will govern. All prices quoted shall be F.O.B. destination, freight prepaid (Bidder
pays and bears freight charges, Bidder owns goods in fransit and files any claims), unless otherwise stated in Special Conditions. Each item
must be bid separately. No attempt shall be mads to tie any item or items ceniained in the ITB with any other business with the City.
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310

312

313

3.15

City of Fort Lauderdale

TAXES: The City of Fort Lauderdale is exempt from Federal Excise and Florida Sales taxes on direct purchase of tangible property.
Exemption number for EIN is §9-6000319, and State Sales tax axemption number is 85-8013875578C-1.

WARRANTIES OF USAGE: Any quantities listed in this ITB as estimated or projecied are provided for tabulation and information purposes
only. No warranty or guarantee of quantities is given ar implied. It is understeod that the Contractor will furnish the City's needs as they arise.

APPROVED EQUAL: When the technical specifications call for a brand name, manufacturer, make, model, or vendor catalog number with
acceptance of APPROVED EQUAL, it shalf be for the purpose of establishing a level of guality and features desired and acceptable to the
City. In such cases, the Gity will be recepfive to any unit that wauid be considered by gualified City personnel as an approved equal. In that
the specified make and model represent a level of quality and features desired by the Gity, the Bidder must state clearly in the bid any
variance from those specifications. It is the Bidder's responsibility to provide adequate information, in the bid, to enable the City to ensure that
the bid meets the required criteria. If adequate information is not submitted with the bid, it may be rejectad. The City will be the sole judge in

determining if the item bid qualifies as an approved equal.

MINIMUM AND MANDATORY TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS: The technical specifications may include items that are considered
minimum, mandatory, or required. If any Bidder is unable to meet or excead these ftems, and faels that the technical specifications are overly
restrictive, the bidder must nolify the Procurement Services Division immediately. Such nofification must be received by the Procurement
Services Division prior to the deadline contained in the ITB, for questions of a material nature, or prior to five (5) days hefore bid due and open
date, whichever occurs first. I no such notification Is received prior to that deadline, the City will consider the technical specifications to be

acceptable 1o all bidders.

MISTAKES: Bidders are cautioned to examine all terms, conditions, specifications, drawings, exhibits, addenda, delivery instructions and
special conditions pertaining to the ITB. Failure of the Bidder to examine all pertinent documents shall not ertitle the bidder to any relief from

the conditicns imposed in the contract.

SAMPLES AND DEMONSTRATIONS: Samples or inspection of product may be requested to determine suitability. Unless ofherwise
spacified in Special Conditions, sampies shail be requested after the date of big opening, and if requested should be received by the City
within seven (7) working days of request. Samples, when requested, must be furnished free of expense to the City and if not used in testing
or destroyed, will upon request of the Bidder, be returned within thirty (30) days of bid award at Bidder's expense. When required, the City
may request fuil demonstrations of units prior to award. When such demcnsirations are requested, the Bidder shall respond promptly and
arrange a demonstration al a convenient locaffon. Failure to provide samples or demonstrations as specified by the City may result in

rejaction of a bid.

LIFE CYCLE COSTING: If so specified in the ITB, the City may elect to evaluate equipment proposed on the basis of fotal cost of awnarship.
In using Life Cycle Costing, factors such as the fellowing may be considered: estimated useful life, maintenance costs, cost of supplies, labor
infensity, energy usage, environmental impact, and residual value. The City reserves the right 1o use those or ather applicable criteria, in its

sole opinion that will most accurately estimate total cost of use and ownership.

BIDDING ITEMS WITH RECYCLED CONTENT: In addressing environmental cencerns, the City of Fort Lauderdale encourages Bidders to
submit bids or alternate bids containing items with recycled content. When submitting bids containing items with recycled content, Bidder shall
provide documentation adequate for the City to verify the recycled content. The City prefers packaging consisting of materials that are
degradable or able to be recycled. When specifically stated in the iTB, the City may give preference to bids containing items manufactured

with recycled material or packaging that is able to be recycled.

USE OF OTHER GOVERNMENTAL CONTRACTS: The City reserves the right to reject any part or afl of any bids received and utilize other
available governmental contracts, if such action is in its best interest,

QUALIFICATIONS/INSPECTION: Bids will only be considerad from firms normally engaged in providing the types of commodities/services
specified herein. The City reserves the right to Inspect the Bidder's facilities, equipment, persennel, and organization at any time, or fo take
any other action necessary to determine Bidder's ability to perform. The Procurement Director reserves the right to rejest bids where evidence

or evaluation is determined to indicate inability to perform.

BID SURETY: If Special Conditicns require a bid security, it shall be submitted in the amount stated. A big security can be in the form of a
bid bond or cashiers check. Bid security will be returned to the unsuccessfut bidders as soon as practicable afier opening of bids. Bid security
will be returned to the successful bidder after acceptance of the performance bond, if required; acceptance of insurance coverage, if required;
and full execution of contract documents, if required; or conditions as stated in Special Conditions.

PUBLIC RECORDS/TRADE SECRETS/COPYRIGHT: The Proposer's rasponse to the RFP is a public record pursuant to Fiorida law, which
is subject to disclosure by the Gity under the State of Florida Public Records Law, Florida Statutes Chapter 119.07 ("Public Records Law”).
The City shell permit public access to al! documents, papers, letters or other material submitted in connection with this RFF and the Confract

to be executed for this RFP, subject to the provisions of Chapter 119.07 of the Florida Statutes.

Any language cortained in the Proposer's response to the RFP purporting to require corfidentiality of any portion of the Proposer's respanse
to the RFP, except fo the extent that certain infarmation is in the City's opinion a Trads Secrst pursuant to Florida law, shall be void. I a
Proposer submits any documents or other information o the City which the Proposer claims is Trade Secrei information and exempt from
Florida Statules Chapter 119.07 (“Public Records Laws"), the Proposer shall clearly designate that it is a Trade Secret and that it is assering
that the document or information is exempt. The Proposer must specifically identify the exemption being claimed under Florida Statutes
119.07. The City shall be the final arbiter of whether any information contained in the Proposer's response to the RFP constitules a Trade
Secret. The city's determination of whether an exemption applies shall be final, and the proposer agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold
harmless the city and the city’s officers, employees, and agent, against any loss or damages incurred by any persen or enfity as a result of the
city's treaiment of records as public records. Proposals purporting to be subject to copyright protection in full or in part will be rejected.

EXCEPT FOR CLEARLY MARKED PORTIONS THAT ARE BONA FIDE TRADE SECRETS PURSUANT TO FLORIDA LAW, DO NCT MARK
YOUR RESPONSE TO THE RFP AS PROPRIETARY OR CONFIDENTIAL. DO NOT MARK YOUR RESPONSE TO THE RFP OR ANY

PART THEREQOF AS COPYRIGHTED.
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3.16 PROHIBITION OF INTEREST: No contract wilf be awarded to a bidding firm who has City elected officials, officers or employees affiliated
with if, unless the bidding firm has fully complied with current Florida State Statutes and City Ordinances relating to this issue. Bidders must
disclose any such affiliation. Failure to disclose any such affiliation will resuit in disqualification of the Bidder and remaval of the Bidder from
the City's bidder lists and prohibition from engaging ir any business with the City.

317 RESERVATIONS FOR AWARD AND REJEGTION QF BIDS: The City reserves the right fo accept or reject any or all bids, pari of bids, and
to waive minor irregularities or variations to specifications contained in bids, and minor irregularities in the bidding process. The City also
reserves the right to award the contract on a split order basis, lump sum basis, individua! item basis, or such combination as shall best serve
the interest of the City. The City reserves the right o make an award to the responsive.and responsible bidder whose product or service
meets the terms, conditions, and specifications of the ITB and whose bid is considerad to best serve the City's interest. In determining the
responsiveness of the offer and the responsibility of the Bidder, the following shall be considersd when applicable: the ability, capacity and
skill of the Bidder to perform as required; whather the Bidder can perform promptly, or within the time specified, without delay or interference;
the character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency of the Bidder; the quality of past performance by the Bidder; the
previous and existing compliance by the Bidder with related laws and ordinances; the sufficiency of the Bidder's financial rescurces; the
avallability, quality and adaptability of the Bidder's supplies or services to the required use; the ability of the Bidder to provide future
maintenance, service or parls; the number and scape of conditions attached tc the bid.

If the ITB provides for a contract trial period, the City reserves the right, in the event the seiected bidder does not perform satisfactorily, to
award a trial pericd to the next ranked bidder or to award a contract to the next ranked bidder, if that bidder has successfully provided services
to the City in the past. This procedure fo continue unfil a bidder is selected or the contract is re-bid, at the sole option of the City.

318 LEGAL REQUIREMENTS: Applicable provisions of ali federal, state, couniy laws, and loca! ordinances, rules and regutations, shall govern
development, submittal and evaluation of all bids raceived in response hereto and shall gover any and all claims and disputes which may
arise betwsen person(s) submitting a bid response hereto and the City by and through its officers, employees and authorized representatives,
or any other person, natural or otherwise; and lack of knowledge by any bidder shall not constitute @ cognizable defense against the legal

effact thereof.

3.19 BID PROTEST PROCEDURE: ANY PROPOSER OR BIDDER WHO IS NOT RECOMMENDED FOR AWARD OF A CONTRACT AND
WHO ALLEGES A FAILURE BY THE CITY TO FOLLOW THE CITY'S PROCUREMENT ORDINANCE OR ANY APPLICABLE LAW MAY
PROTEST TO THE DIRECTOR OF PROCUREMENT SERVICES DIVISION (DIRECTORY), BY DELIVERING A LETTER QF PROTEST TO
THE DIRECTOR WITHIN FIVE (§) DAYS AFTER A NOTICE OF INTENT TO AWARD IS POSTED ON THE CITY'S WEB SITE AT THE

FOLLOWING LINK: http:/iwww fortlauderdale govipurchasing/notices of infent.htm
THE COMPLETE PROTEST ORDINANCE MAY BE FOUND ON THE CiTY'S WEB SITE AT THE FOLLOWING LINK:

http:/iwww fortlauderdate.gov/purchasing/protestordinance.pdf

" PART IV_BONDS AND INSURANCE

4.01 PERFORMANCE BOND: If a performance bond is required in Special Conditions, the Contractar shall within fifteen (15} working days after
notification of award, furnish to the City a Perdformance Bond, payable to the City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida, in the face amount specified in
Speciat Condifions as surety for faithful performance under the terms and conditions of the contract. If the bond is on an annual coverage
basis, renewal for each succeeding year shall be submitted to the City thirty (30) days prior to the terminaticn date of the existing Performance
Bond. The Performance Bond must be executed by a surety company of recognized standing, authorized to do business in the State of

Florida and having a resident agent.

Acknowledgement and agreement is given by both parties that the amount hersin set for the Performance Bend is not intended to be nor shall
be deemed to be in the nature of liquidated damages nor is it intended to timit the liability of the Contractor to the City in the event of a material
breach of this Agreement by the Contracior.

4.02 INSURANCE: If the Contractor is reguired to go on to Cily property fo perform work or services as a resuit of ITB award, the Cantractor shall
assume full responsibility and expense 1o obtain all necessary insurance as requirad by City or specified in Special Conditions.

The Contractor shall provide to the Procurement Services Division original certificates of coverage and receive nofification of approval of those
certificates by the City's Risk Manager prior to engaging in any activities under this contract. The Contractors insurance is subject to the
approval of the City's Risk Manager. The certificates must list the City as an ADDITIONAL INSURED for General Liability Insurance. and shall
have no less than thirty (30) days writien notice of cancellation or material change. Further modification of the insurance requirements may be
made at the scie discretion of the City's Risk Manager if circumstances change or adequate protection of the City is not presented. Bidder, by
submitting the hid, agrees to abide by such modifications.

PARTV PURCHASE ORDER AND CONTRACT TERMS:

5.01 COMPLIANCE TO SPECIFICATIONS, LATE DELIVERIES/PENALTIES: ltems offered may be tested for compliance to hid specifications.
ltems delivered which do not conform to bid specifications may be rejected and returned at Contractor's expense. Any violation resulting in
confract termination for cause or delivery of items not conforming to specifications, or late delivery may also result in:
Bidders name being removed from the Cily's bidder's mailing list for a specified period and Bidder will not be recommended for any
award during that period.

- Al City Departments being advised to refrain from doing business with the Bidder.

- All other remedies in law ar equity.

5.02 ACCEPTANCE, CONDITION, AND PACKAGING: The material delivered in response to ITB award shafl remain the property of the Seller
untit a physical inspection is made and the material accepted to the satisfaction of the City. The material must comply fulty with the terms of
the ITB, be of the required quality, new, and the latest model. Alf containers shall be suitable for storage and shipment by common carrier,
and all prices shall include standard commercial packaging. The City will not accept substitutes of any kind. Any substitutes or material not
meeling specifications will be returned at the Bidder's expense. Payment will be made only after City receipt and acceptance of materials or
services,
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5.03 SAFETY STANDARDS: All manufactured items and fabricated assemblies shall comply with applicable requirements of the Occupation
Safety and Heath Act of 1970 as amended, and be in compliance with Chapter 442, Florida Statutes. Any toxic substance listed in Section
38F-41.02 of the Florida Administrative Code delivered as a result of this order must be accompanied by a completed Material Safety Data

Sheet (MSDS).

5.04 ASBESTOS STATEMENT: All matefial supplied must be 100% asbestos free. Bidder, by virtue of bidding, cerlifies that if awarded any
: portion of the ITB the bidder will supply only material or equipment that is 100%, asbestos frae.

5.05 OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: If the Bidder is awarded a contract as a result of this ITB, the bidder may, if the bidder has sufficient
capacity or quantities available, provide to other governmental agencies, so requesting, the products or services awarded in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the ITB and resulting contract. Prices shall be F.O.B. delivered to the requesting agency.

5.08 VERBAL INSTRUCTIONS PROCEDURE: No negofiations, decisions, or actions shall be initiated or executed by the Contractor as a result of
any discussions with any City employee. Only those communications which are in writing from an authorized City representative may be
considerad. Only written communications from Contractors, which are assigned by a person designated as authorized to bind the Contractor,
will be recognized by the City as duly authorized expressions on behalf of Contractors.

5.07 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR: The Contractor is an independent contractor under this Agreement. Personal services provided by the
Proposer shall be by employees of the Contractor and subjact o supervision by the Gontractor, and not as officers, employees, of agents of
the City. Personnel policies, tax responsibilities, social security, health instrance, employee benefits, procurement policies unless otherwise
stated in this ITB, and other similar administrative procedures applicable to services rendered under this contract shalf be those of the

Contractor.

5.08 INDEMNITY/HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENT: The Contractor agrees lo protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Fort
Lauderdale and its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all losses, penalties, damages, seftlements, claims, costs,
charges for other expenses, or liabilities of every and any kind including attorneys fees, in connection with or arising directly or indirectly out of
the work agreed to or performed by Contractor under the terms of any agreement that may arise due to the bidding process. Without limiting
the foregoing, any and ail such claims, suits, or other astions relating to personal injury, death, damage to property, defects in materials or
workmanship, actual or alleged viotations of any applicable Statute, ordinance, administrative order, rule or regulation, or decree of any court

shall be included in the indemnity hereunder.

5.09 TERMINATION FOR CAUSE: If, through any cause, the Contractor shall fail to fulfilf in a timely and proper manner its abligations under this
Agreermant, or if the Contractor shall viclate any of the provisions of this Agreement, the City may upon written notice ta the Contractor
terminate the right of the Contracter to proceed under this Agresment, or with such part or parts of the Agreement as to which there has been
default, and may hold the Contractor fiable for any damages caused to the City by reason of such default and termination. In the event of
such termination, any completed services performed by the Contractor under this Agreement shail, at the opticn of the City, become the City’s
property and the Contractor shall be entitled fo receive equitable compensation for any work completed to the satisfaction of the Gity. The
Contractor, however, shall not be relieved of liability to the City for damages sustained by the City by reason of any breach of the Agreemant
by the Contractor, and the City may withhold any payments fo the Contractor for the purpose of sefoff until such time as the amount of

damages due fo the City from the Gontractor can be determined.

5.10 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENGE: The City reserves the right, in its best interest as determined by the City, io cancel coniract by giving
wittan notice to the Contfractor thirty {30) days prior to the effective date of such cancellation.

511 GANCELLATION FOR UNAPPROPRIATED FUNDS: The obligation of the City for payment to a Conlracter is limited to the availability of
funds appropriated in a current fiscal pericd, and continuation of the cantract into a subsequent fiscal pericd is subject to appropriation of

funds, unless otherwise authorized by law.

5.12 RECORDS/AUDIT: The Contractor shall maintain during the term of the contract all books of account, reports and records in aceordance with
generally accepted accounting practices and standards for records diractly related to this contract, The Contractor agrees to make available
to the City's Internal Auditor, during normal business hours and in Broward, Miami-Dade or Palm Beach Counties, afl books of account,
reports and records relating to this contract should be retained for the duration of the contract and for three years after the final payment under
this Agreement, or until al pending audits, investigations or litigation matters relating fo the contract ars closad, whichever is iater.

513 PERMITS, TAXES, LICENSES: The successful Contractor shall, at their own expense, obtain all necessary permits, pay all licenses, fees
and taxes, required to comply with all local ordinances, state and federal laws, rules and regulations applicable toc business to be garried out

under this contract.

§.14 LAWS/ORDINANCES: The Contractor shail abserve and comply with all Faderal, state, local and municipal laws, ordinances rules and

regulations that would apply to this contract.
5.18 NON-DISCRIMINATION: There shall be no discrimination as to race, sex, color, creed, age or national origin in the operations conducted
under this centract. o

5.16 UNUSUAL CIRCUMSTANCES: If during a contract term where costs to the City are to remain firm or adjustments are restricted by a
percentage or CP! cap, unusual circumstances that could not have been foreseen by either parly of the contract occur, and those
circumstances significantly affect the Contractor's cest in providing the reguired prior items or services, then the Contractor may request
adjustments to the costs to the City to reflect the changed circumstances. The circumstances must be beyond the control of the Confractor,
and the requested adjustments must be fully documented. The City may, afler examination, refuse to accept the adjusted costs if they are net
properly documented, increases are considered to be excessive, or decreases are considered fo be insufficient. In the event the City does not
wish to accept the adjusted costs and the matter cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the City, the City will reserve the following opticns:

1. The confract can be canceled by the City upon giving thirly (30) days written notice to the Contractor with no penalty 1o the City or
Contractor. The Contractor shal fill all Gity requirements submitted to the Cantractor untll the termination date contained in the notice.
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2. The City reguires the Centractor to continue to provide the items and services at the firm fixad (non-adjusted) cost until the termination of
the contract term then in effect.

3. Ifthe City, in its interest and in its sole opinfon, determines that the Contractor in a capricious manner attempted to use this section of the
contract to relieve themseives of a legitimate obligation under the contract, and no unusual circumstances had occurred, the City
reserves the right to 1ake any and all action under law or equity. Such action shall include, but not be limited fo, declaring the Contractor
in default and disqualifying him for receiving any business from the City for a stated period of time.

If the City doss agree fo adjusted costs, these adjusted costs shall not be invoiced to the City unfil the Confractor receives notice in writing
signed by a perscn authorized to bind the Gity in such matters.

517 ELIGIBILITY: If applicable, the Contractor must first register with the Department of State of the State of Florida, in accordance with Florida
State Statutes, prior to entering into a contract with the City.

5.18 PATENTS AND ROYALTIES: The Contractor, without exception, shall indemnify and save harmless the City and its employees from liability
of any nature and kind, including cost and expenses for or on account of any copyrighted, patented or un-patented invention, process, or
article manufactured or used in the performance of the contract, Incluging its use by the City. If the Contractor uses any design, device, or
matarials covered by latters, patent or capyright, it is mutually agreed and understood without exception that the bid prices shall inciude all
royalties ar costs arising from the use of such design, device, ar materials in any way involved in the work.

519 ASSIGNMENT: Contractor shall not transfer or assign the performance required by this ITB without the pricr written consent of the City. Any
award issued pursuant to this ITB, and the monies, which may become due hereunder, are not assignable except with the prior written
approval of the City Commission or the City Manager or City Manager's designee, depending on original award approval.

5.20 LITIGATION VENUE: The parties waive the privilege of venue and agree that all litigation between them in the state cours shall take place in
Broward County, Florida and that all littgation between them in the federal courts shall take place in the Southern District in and for the State of

Fiarida.
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RESOLUTION NO. 11-314

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY
OF FORT LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE CITY'S
INVESTMENT POLICY BY INCREASING THE NUMBER OF
INVESTMENT MANAGERS AND THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT
OF EACH PORTFOLIO MANAGED TQ $100,000,000.

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, investment
activity by a unit of local government must be consistent with a written investment plan adopted
by the governing body: and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 00-115 adopted on September 6, 2000,
the City Commission of the City of Fort Lauderdale approved the City's Investment Policy; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 07-238 adopted at a special meeting on
November 29, 2007, the City Commission authorized temporary amendments to the City's
Investment Pohcy and directed the City's investment Committee to make a recommendation
regarding the investmeént of funds in the Florida State Board of Administration; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 08-39 adopted on February 19, 2008,
the City Commission amended the City's Investment Policy by decreasing the percentage of
funds invested in the Florida State Board of Administration and by increasing the percentage
invested in money market funds; permitting investment through regional broker dealers;
increasing the targeted cash balance in the City's depository bank including conditions for
investment in the Florida State Board of Administration; revising the membership of the
Investment Committee and providing definitions; and

WHEREAS, the City's Finance Director together with the City’s Budget Advisory
Board, have proposed amendments to the iInvestment Policy to increase the number of
investment managers and the maximum amount of each portfolio managed to $100,000,000;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE
CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE. FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. That the City Commission of the City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida hereby

approves the amendments to the City's investment Policy as shown in Exhibit 1, attached
hereto and incorporated herein.
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RESOLUTION NO. 11-314

Bid 125-10899

SECTION 2. That except as amended as. provided in Exhibit 1, the City’s Investment Policy
adopted pursuant to Resolution No. 00-115, as amended, is in full force and effect.

SECTION 3. That this Resolution shall be in effect immediately upon its adoption.

ADOPTED this the 1st day of November, 2011.

 ATTEST:

Clty_CrIer G
JONDA K. JOSEPH

LACOMMZ2011\Rasos\Nov1\1 1-314 . doc
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Investment Policy
City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida

PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to set forth the investment objectives and parameters for the
management of public funds of the City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida (hereinafter “City™). These
policies are designed to safeguard the City’s funds, the availability of operating and capital funds
when needed, and an investment return competitive with comparable funds and financial market

mdices,

SCOPE

In accordance with Section 218.415, Florida Statues, this investment policy applies to all cash and
investments held or controlled by the City and shall be identified as “general operating funds” of the
City with the exception of the City’s Pension Funds including those funds in chapters 175 and 185,
Other Post Employment Benefit Funds (OPER), Deferred Compensation & Section 401(a) Plans,
and funds related to the issuance of debt where there are other existing policies or indentures in
effect for such funds. Additionally, any future revenues, which have statutory investment
requirements conflicting with this Investment Policy and funds held by state agencies {e.g.,
Department of Revenue), are not subject to the provisions of this policy.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES

A, Safety of Principal
The foremost objective of this investment program is the safety of the principal of those
funds within the portfolios. Investment transactions shall seek to avoid capital losses,
whether they are from securities defauits or erosion of market value. To attain this
objective, the City will maintain a diversified portfolio so that potential losses on individual
securities do not exceed the income generated from the remainder of the portfolio,

From time to time, securitics may be traded for other similar securities to improve yield,
maturity or credit risk. For these transactions, a loss may be incurred for accounting purposes,
provided any of the fellowing occurs with respect to the replacement security:

1. Yield has been increased, or
2, Maturity has been reduced, or
3. Quality of the investment has been improved.

B. Maintenance of Liquidity
The portfolios shall be managed in such a manner that funds are available to meet

reasonably anticipated cash flow requirements in an orderly manner. Periodic cash flow
analyses will be performed in order to ensure that the portfolio is positioned to provide

sufficient liquidity.

C. Return on Investment

Investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate of return
throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the investment risk
constraints and liquidity needs. Return on investment is of least importance compared to
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the safety and liguidity objectives as described. The core of investments is limited to
relatively low risk securities in anticipation of earning a fair return relative to the risk being
agsumed.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

In accordance with the City’s Administrative Policies, the responsibility for providing oversight and
direction in regard to the management of the investment program resides with the City’s Director of
Finance. The management responsibility for all City funds in the investment program and
investment transactions is delegated to the City’s Treasurer. The Director of Finance shall establish
written procedures for the operation of the investment portfolio and a system of internal accounting
and administrative controls to regulate the activities of employees. The City may employ
Investment Managers to assist in managing some of the City’s portfolio. Such Investment Manager
must be registered under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940,

STANDARDS OF PRUDENCE

The standard of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the “Prudent Person™ standard
and shall be applied in the context of managing the overall investment program. Investment officers
acting in accordance with written procedures and this investment policy and exercising due
diligence shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an individual security’s credit risk or
market price changes, provided deviations from expectation are reported to the Director of Finance
in a timely fashion and the liquidity and the sale of securities are cartied out in accordance with the
terms of this policy. The “Prudent Person” rule states the following:

“Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then
prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the
management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering
the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income to be derived from
the investment.” 218.415(4) F.S.

While the standard of prudence to be used by investment officials who are officers or employees is
the “Prudent Person™ standard, any person or firm hired or retamed to invest, monitor, or advise
concerning these assets shall be held to the higher standard of “Prudent Expert”. The standard shait
be that in investing and reinvesting moneys and in acquiring, retaining, managing, and disposing of
investments of these funds, the contractor shall exercise: the judgment, care, skill, prudence, and
diligence under the circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion, and
intelligence, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an
enterprise of like character and with Iike aims by diversifying the investments of the funds, so as to
minimize the risk, considering the probable income as well as the probable safety of their capital.

ETHICS ANP CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business activity that
could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which could impair their ability
to make impartial investment decisions. Also, employees involved in the investment process shall
disclose any material financial interests in financial institutions that conduct business with the City,
and they shall further disclose any material personal financial/investment positions that could be
related to the performance of the City’s investrnent program.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND INVESTMENT PROCEDURES

The Director of Finance shall establish a system of internal controls and operational procedures that
are in writing and made a part of the City’s operational procedures. The internal controls should be
designed to prevent losses of funds, which might arise from fraud, empioyec crror, and
misrepresentation, by third parties, or imprudent actions by employees. The written procedures
should include reference to custodial agreements, repurchase agreements, separation of transaction
authority from accounting and recordkeeping, wire transfer agreements, banking service contracts,
collateral/depository agreements, and “delivery vs. pavment” procedures. No person may engage in
an investment transaction except as authorized under the terms of this policy.

Independent auditors as a normal part of the annual financial audit to the City shall conduct a review
of the system of internal controls to ensure compliance with policies and procedures.

CONTINUING EDUCATION

The Director of Finance, Treasurer, and appropriate staff shail annually complete 8 hours of
continuing education in subjects or courses of study related to investment practices and products,
pursuant to Section 218.415(14)F.S,

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTITUTIONS AND DEALERS

Authorized City staff and Investment Manager(s) shall only purchase securities from the following
financial and investment institutions:

A. Certificates of Deposit or Savings Accounts
These investments may only be purchased from public depositories qualified by the
Treasurer of the State of Florida, in accordance with Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.

B. Overnight Repurchase Agreement
Collateral for the City’s “Sweep Accounts” shall be held at City®s depository bank which

must be a State Qualified Public Depository (QPD).

C. All Other Investments

For purchases and sales of securities by the City staff, only dealers designated as “Primary
Securities Dealers” by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, brokers/dealers that are
wholly owned subsidiaries of financial institutions or from direct 1ssuers of commercial
paper and bankers” acceptances will be utilized.

Each Dealer’s representative will be required to complete the “City’s Investment Firm
Certification Form” prior to the City conducting any business with the Broker/Dealer or its
representative (not including the City’s Investment Manager(s) dealer relationships). The
City’s Investment Manager(s) will be responsible for operating within the guidelines of the
policy and will maintain more than three dealer relationships. The City’s Investment
Manager(s) may also execute purchases and sales with regional broker/dealers if the
transaction is to the benefit of the portfolio. In this event, the Investment Manager(s) will
document the benefit by providing the City's Treasurer with a minimum of three
competitive bid/offers.

Para & AFNQ



XL

City of Fort Lauderdale Bid 125-10899

MATURITY AND LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS

To the extent possible, an attempt will be made to match investment maturities with known cash
needs and anticipated cash flow requirements.

A, Maturity Guidelines
Securities purchased by or on behalf of the City shall have a final maturity of ten (10} years
or less from the date of purchase. The overall weighted average duration of principal return
for the portfolio shall be less than three (3) years. The maturities of the underlying
securities of a repurchase agreement will follow the requirements of the Master Repurchase
Agresment,

B. Liquidity Requirements
Investment maturities will match known cash needs and anticipated cash flow requirements.

COMPETITIVE SELECTION OF INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

After the Treasurer or the Investment Manager(s) has determined the approximate maturity date
based on cash flow needs and market conditions and has analyzed and selected one or more optimal
types of investments, a minimum of three (3) qualified baunks and/or approved broker/dealers must
be contacted and asked to provide bids/offers on securities in question. Bids will be held in
confidence uniil the bid deemed to best meet the investment objectives is determined and selected.

However, if obtaining bids/offers are not feasible or appropriate, securities may be purchased
utilizing the comparison to current market price method on an exception basis. Acceptable current

market price providers include, but are not limited to:

A. Telerate Information System
B. Bloomberg Information Systems
C. Wall Street Journal or a comparable nationally recognized financial publication providing

daily market pricing

D. Daily market pricing provided by the City’s custodian or their correspondent institutions.

The Treasurer or the Investrnent Manager(s) shall utilize the competitive bid process to select the
securities to be purchased or sold. Selection by comparison to a current market price, as indicated
above, shall only be utilized when, in judgment of the Treasurer or the Investment Manager(s),
competitive bidding would inhibit the selection process.

Examples of when this method may be used include:

A. Time constraints due to unusual circumstances preclude the use of the competitive bidding
process

B. No active market exists for the issue being traded due to the age or depth of the issue

C. A security is unique to a single dealer, for example, a private placement
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D. The transaction involves new issues or issues in the “when issued” market.

Overnight sweep repurchase agreements will not be bid, but may be placed with the City's
depository bank relating to the derand account for which the repurchase agreement was purchased.

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS AND PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION

Investments should be made subject to the cash flow needs and such cash flows are subject to
revisions as market conditions and the City’s needs change. However, when the invested funds are
needed in whole or in part for the purpose originally intended or for more optimal investments, the
Treasurer or Investment Manager(s) may sell the investment at the then-prevailing market price and
place the proceeds into the proper account at the City’s custodian.

The following are the investment requirements and allocation limits on security types, issuers, and
maturities as established by the City. Diversification strategies within the established guidelines
shall be reviewed and revised periodically as necessary. The percentage allocations limits for
investment types and issuers are calculated based on the original cost of each investment.
Investments not listed in this policy are prohibited.

A. The Florida Prime Fund

l. Investment Authorization
Investment in the Florida Prime Fund.

2. Portfolio Composition
- Maximum of 25% of available funds may be invested in the Florida Prime Fund,
3. Rating Requirements
Rating shall be “AAAm” by Standard & Poor’s, or the equivalent by another rating
agency.
4. Due Diligence Requirements
Ongoing verification of the fund’s rating as stated above.
B, United States Government Securities
L. Purchase Authorization

Investment in negotiable direct obligations, or obligations the principal and interest
of which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States Government. Such
securities wiil include, but not be limited to the following:

Cash Management Bills -
Treasury Securities — State and Local Government Series (“SLGS™)
Treasury Bills

Treasury Notes

Treasury Bonds

Treasury Strips

Page 7 of 28
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2, Portfolio Composition
A- maximum of 100% of availabie funds may be invested in the United States
Government Securities with the exception that Treasury Strips are limited to 10% of
available funds.

3. Maturity Limitations
The maximum length to maturity of any direct investment in the United States
Government Securities is ten (10) years from the date of purchase.

C. United States Government Agencies

1. Purchase Authorization .
Investment in bonds, debentures, notes or callables issued or guaranteed by the
United States Governments agencies, provided such obligations are backed by the
full faith and credit of the United States Government. Such securities will include,
but not be limited to the following:

United States Export-Import Bank
-Direct obligations or fully guaranteed certificates of beneficial
ownership
Farmer Home Administration
-Certificates of beneficial ownership
Federal Financing Bank
-Discount notes, notes and bonds
Federal Housing Administration Debentures
Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA)
-GNMA guaranteed mortgage-backed bonds
-GNMA guaranteed pass-through cbligations
General Services Administration
United States Maritime Administration Guaranteed
-Title X1 Financing
New Communities Debentures
-United States Government guaranteed debentures
United States Public Housing Notes and Bonds
-United States Government guaranteed public housing notes and
bonds
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development
-Project notes and local authority bonds

2. Portfolio Composition
A maximum of 100% of available funds may be invested in United States

Government agencies,

3. Limits on Individual Issuers
A maximum of 25% of available funds may be invested in individual United States

Government agencies.
4. Maturity Limitations

The maximum length io maturity for an investment in any United States
Government agency security is ten (10) years from the date of purchase.
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D. Federal Instrumentalities (United States Government sponsored agencies)

1. Purchase Authorization
Investment in bonds, debentures, notes or callables issued or guaranteed by United
States Government sponsored agencies (Federal Instrumentalities) which are non-
full faith and credit agencies limited to the following:

Federal Farm Credit Bank (FFCB)

Federal Home T.oan Bank or its City banks (FHLB)

Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA)

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) including Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation participation certificates

2. Portfolio Composition
A maximum of 100% of available funds may be invested in Federal

Instrumentalities.

3 Limits on Individual [ssuers
A maximum of 25% of available funds may be invested in any one issuer.

4, Maturity Limitations
The maximum length to maturity for an investment in any Federal Instrumentality
security is ten (10) years from the date of purchase.

E. Interest Bearing Time Deposit or Saving Accounts

1. Purchase Authorization
Investment in non-negotiable interest bearing time certificates of deposit or savings
accounts in banks organized under the laws of this state and/or in national banks
organized under the laws of the United States and doing business and situated in the
State of Florida, provided that any such deposits are secured by the Florida Security
for Public Deposits Act, Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. Additionally, the bank shall
not be listed with any recognized credit watch information service.

2.  Portfolio Composition :
A maximum of 10% of available funds may be invested in non-negotiable interest

bearing time certificates of deposit.

3. Limits on Individual Issuers .
A maximum of 10% of available funds may be deposited with any one issuer.

4. Maturity Limitations
The maximum maturity on any certificate shall be no greater than one (1} year from

the date of purchase.

F. Repurchase Agreements
L. Purchase Authorization
a. Investment in repurchase agreements composed of only those investments

authorized in Section XII. B, C, and D. All firms are required to sign the
City’s Master Repurchase Agreement prior to the execution of a repurchase
agreement transaction.
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b. A third party cusiodian with whom the City has a current custodial
agreement shall hold the collateral for all repurchase agreements with a
term longer than one (1) business day. A clearly marked receipt that shows
evidence of ownership must be supplied to the Treasurer and retained.

C. Securities authorized for collateral must have maturities less then ten (10)
years and with market value for the principal and accrued interest of 102
percent of the value and for the term of the repurchase agreement.
Immaterial short-term deviations from 102 percent requirement are
permissible only upon the approval of the Treasurer.

d. The overnight sweep arrangement shall adhere to the agreement between
the City and the City’s depository bank.

Portfolio Composition
A maximum of 20% of available funds may be invested in repurchase agreements
excluding one (1) business day agreements and overnight sweep agreements.

Limits on Individual Issuers
A maximum of 10% of available funds may be invested with any one institution
excluding one (1) business day agreements and overnight sweep agreements,

Maturity Limitations
The maximum length to maturity of any repurchase agreement is 90 days from the
date of purchase.

Commercial Paper

1.

[F%)

Purchase Authorization :

Investment in commercial paper of any United States company that is rated, at the
time or purchase, “Prime-1" by Moody’s and “A-1" by Standard & Poor’s (prime
commercial paper). If the commercial paper is backed by a letter of credit (“LOC”),
the long-term debt of the LOC provider must be rated “A” or better by at least two
pationally recognized rating agencies.

Portfolio Composition
A maximum of 25% of available funds may be directly invested in prime

commercial paper.

Limits on Individual Issuers
A maximum of 5% of available funds may be invested with any one issuer.

Maturity Limitations
The maximum length to maturity for prime commercial paper shall be 180 days
from the date of purchase.

Corporate Notes

L

Purchase Authorization
Investment in corporate notes issued by corporations organized and operating
within the United States or by depository institutions licensed by the United States
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that have a long term debt rating, at the time or purchase, at a minimum “A ” by
Moody’s and “A * by Standard & Poor’s {S&P) or “A " by Fitch, IBCA, Inc.
(Fitch)

Partfolio Composition
A maximum of 25% of available funds may be directly invested in corporate notes,

Limils on Individual Issuers
A maximum of 5% of available funds may be invested with any one issuer.

Maturity Limitations
The maximum length to maturity for corporate notes shall be (10) ten years from

the date of purchase.

L. Bankers' Acceptances

1.

Purchase Authorization ,

" [nvestment in Bankers’ acceptances issued by a domestic bank or a federally
chartered domestic office of a foreign bank, which are eligible for purchase by the
Federal Reserve System, at the time or purchase, the short-term paper is rated, at a
minimum, “A-1" by S&P, “Aa2” by Moody’s or ‘F-1” by Fitch

2. Portfolio Compasition
A maximum of 10% of available funds may be directly invested in Bankers®
acceptances

3. Limits on Individual Issuers
A maximum of 3% of available funds may be invested with any one issuer,

4. Maturity Limitations
The maximum Jength to maturity for Bankers’ acceptances shall be 180 days from
the date of purchase.

J. State and/or [.ocal Government Taxable and/or Tax-Exempt Debt

1. Purchase Authorization
Investment in state and/or local government taxable and/or tax-exempt debt, general
obligation and/or revenue bonds, rated at least “Aa” by Moody’s or “AA™ S&P and
Fitch for long-term debt, or rated at least “MIG-2" by Moody’s and “SP-1” by S&P
and “F-1" by Fitch for short-term debt.

2. Portfolic Composition
A maximum of 25% of available funds may be invested in taxable and tax-exempt
General Obligation bonds.
A maximum of 10% of available funds may be invested in taxable and tax-exempt
Revenue and Excise tax bonds of municipalities, provided no issuer of such
securities has been in default.

3. Maturity Limitations

A maximum length to maturity for an investment in any state or local government
debt security is ten (10) years from the date of purchase.
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City of Fort Lauderdale Debt Obligations

l.

Investment Authorization :
City of Fort Lauderdale obligations, general obligations, revenue bonds, excise
bonds or internal fund debt obligations.

Portfolioc Compositior and Maturity Limitations
Composition is based on financial debt management requirements and internal fund
asset and liabilities matching structuring requirements.

Registered Investment Companies (Money Market Mutual Funds)

1.

[nvestment Authorization

[nvestment in shares in open-end, no-load money market funds provided such funds
are registered under the Federal Investment Company Act of 1940 and operate in
accordance with 17 C.F.R. § 270.2a-7, which stipulates that money market funds
must have an average weighted maturity of 90 days or less. In addition, the share
value of the money market funds must equal to $1.00.

Portfolio Composition
A maximum of 75% of available funds may be invested in money market funds,
with no more than 25% of available funds invested in non-government money

market funds.

Limits of [ndividual Issuers
A maximum of 25% of available funds may be invested with any one money market

fund.

Rating Requirements
The mutual funds shall be rated “AAAm” by Standard & Poor’s or the equivalent

by another rating agency.

Due Diligence Requirements
A thorough review of any money market fund is required prior to investing, and on

a continual basis.

Intergovernmental Investrent Pool

1.

Investment Authorization

[nvestment in intergovernmental investment pools that are authorized pursuant to
the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in Section 163.01, Florida
Statutes and provided that said funds contain no derivatives.

Portfelio Composition
A maximum of 25% of available funds may be invested in intergovernmental

investment pools.
Due Diligence Requirements

A thorough review of any investment pool/fund is required prior to investing, and
on a continual basis.
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Mortgage-Backed Securities (MBS}

I Investment Authorization
Investment in mortgage-backed securities (MBS) which are based on mortgages
that are guaranteed by a government agency or GSE for payment of principal and a

guarantee of timely payment.

r2

Portfolio Composition
A maximum of 20% of available funds may be invested in MBS,

3. Limits of Individual Issuers
A maximum of 15% of available funds may be invested with any one issuer.

4, The maximum percentage invested in securities of any one issuer is inclusive of
mortgage backed securities of same issuer.

5. Maturity Limitations
The maturity of mortgage securities shall be considered the date comresponding to
its average life. This date reflects the point at which an investor will have received
back half of the original principal (face) amount. The average life may be different
from the stated legal maturity included in a security’s description.

XHI. DERIVATIVES AND REVERSE REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

XIV.

A Dertvative is defined as “a financial instrument the value of which depends on, or is derived from,
the vatue of one or more underlying assets or index or asset values.” Those responsible for making
investment decisions or chief financial officer shall have developed sufficient understanding of the
derivative products and have the expertise to manage them.

Reverse repurchase agreements are allowed, when deemed necessary and subject to limitations in
order to finance short-term cash flow needs or to provide liquidity for the portfolio. Institutions that
are party to the transaction must have entered into a Master Repurchase Agreement and entered into
a Tri-Party Custody Agreement which provides for a third party to take custody of the securities
subject to the Master Repurchase Agreement.

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS

In order to assist in the evaluation of the portfolios’ performance, the City will use performance
benchmarks for short-term and long-term portfolios, The use of benchmarks will allow the City to .
measure its returns against other investors in the same markets.

A,

The 90-day Treasury Bill Rate will be used as a benchmark as compared to the portfolio’s
net book value rate of return for current operating funds (short-term portfolio).

The long-term investment portfolio shall be designed with the annual objective of exceeding
the return of the Merrill Lynch 1-3 Year Treasury Index compared to the portfolio’s total
rate of return. The Merrill Lynch 1-3 Year Treasury Index represents all U.S. Treasury
securities maturing over one year, but less than three years. This maturity range is an
appropriate benchmark based on the objectives of the City.

Other indices may be used from time to time to measure the portfolic performance,



XV.

City of Fort Lauderdale Bid 125-1089%

REPORTING

A. Treasurer and/or Investment Manager(s) shall provide the City Commission, City Manager,
City Auditor and Director of Finance with quarterly investment reports. Schedules in the
quarterly report should include the following:

1. A listing of individual securities held at the end of the reporting period
2. Percentage of available funds represented by each investment type
3. Coupon, discount or earning rate
4, Average life or duration and final maturity of all investments
5. Par value and market value
6. Rate of Return as compared to benchmarks
B. Annual Investment Report

On an annual basis, the Treasurer shall prepare and submit to the City Commission a written
report on all invested funds. The annual report shall provide all, but not limited to, the
following: a complete list of all invested funds, name or type of security in which the funds
are invested, the amount invested, the maturity date, earned income, the book value, the
market value and the yield on each investrent. The annual report will show performance
on both a book value and total rate of return basis and will compare the results to the above-
stated performance benchmarks. All investments shall be reported at fair value per
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Investment reports shall be available
to the public.

C. Monitoring and Compliance
The City Auditor will monitor and ensure compliance with this policy.
THIRD-PARTY CUSTODIAL AGREEMENTS

Securitics, with the exception of certificates of deposits, shall be held with a third party custodian;
and all securities purchase by, and all collateral obtained by the City should be properly designated
as an asset of the City. The securities must be held in an account separate and apart from the assets
of the financial institution. A third party custodian is defined as any bank depository chartered by
the Federal Government, the State of Florida, or any other state or territory of the United States
which has a branch or principal place of business in the State of Florida as defined in Section
658.12, Florida Statutes, or by a national association organized and existing under the laws of the
United States which is authorized to accept and execute trusts and which is doing business in the
State of Florida. Certificates of deposits will be placed in the provider's safekeeping department for
the term of the deposit.

The custodian shall accept transaction instructions only from those persons who have been duly
authorized by the Director of Finance and which authorization has been provided, in writing, to the
custodian. No withdrawal of securities, in whole or in part, shall be made from safekeeping, shall
be permitted unfess by such a duly authorized persen.

The custodian shall provide the Treasurer with safekeeping receipts that provide detail information

on the securities held by the custodian, In addition, the custodian shall report at least quarterly and
the Treasurer shall verify the reports. Security transactions between a broker/dealer and the
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custodian involving the purchase or sale of securities by transfer of money or securities must be
made on a “delivery vs. payment” basis, if applicable, to ensure that the custodian will have the
security or money, as appropriate, in hand at the conclusion of the transaction. Only after receiving
written authorization from the Director of Finance shall the City Treasurer be authorized to deliver
securities “free”. Securities beld as collateral shal] be held free and clear of any [iens.

XVIL INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION

The investment policy shall be adopted by Resolution. The City Manager, City Auditor, Director of
Finance and Treasurer shall review the policy annually and the City Commission shall approve any

necessary modifications.

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION ON

City Mayor

City Manager

City Clerk
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ATTACHMENT A
Accrued Interest. Interest earned but which has not yet been paid or received.

Agency. See "Federal Agency Securities."

Ask Price. Price at which a broker/dealer offers to seil a security to an investor. Alse known as “offered
price.”

Asset Backed Securities (ABS). A fixed-income security backed by notes or receivables against assets
other than real estate. Generally issued by special purpose companies that “own” the assets and issue the
ABS. Examples include securities backed by auto loans, credit card receivables, home equity loans,
manufactured housing loans, farm equipment loans and aircraft leases.

Average Life. The average length of time that an issue of serial bonds and/or term bonds with a mandatory
sinking fund feature is expected to be outstanding.

Bankers' Acceptance (BA's). A draft or bill of exchange drawn upon and accepted by a bank. Frequently
used to finance shipping of international goods. Used as a short-term credit instrument, bankers'
acceptances are traded at a discount from face value as a money market instrument in the secondary market
on the basis of the credit quality of the guaranteeing bank.

Basis Point. One hundredth of one percent, or 0.01%. Thus 1% equals 100 basis points.

Bearer Security. A sccurity whose ownership is determined by the holder of the physical security.
Typically, there is no registration on the issuer’s books. Title to bearer securities is transferred by delivery
of the physical security or certificate. Also know as “physical securities.”

Benchmark Bills: in November 1999, FNMA introduced its Benchmark Bills program, a short-term debt
securities issuance program to supplement its existing discount note program. The program includes a
schedule of larger, weekly issues in three- and sixth-month maturities and biweekly issues in one-year for
Benchmark Bills, Each issue is brought to market via a Dutch {single price) auction. FNMA conducts a
weekly auction for each Benchmark Bill maturity and accepts both competitive and non-competitive bids
through a web based auction systemn. This program is in addition to the variety of other discount nofe
maturities, with rates posted on a daily basis, which FNMA offers. FNMA's Benchmark Bills are unsecured
general obligations that are issved in book-entry form through the Federal Reserve Banks. There are no
periodic payments of interest on Benchmark Bills, which are sold at a discount from the principal amount
and payable at par at maturity. Issues under the Benchmark program constitute the same credit standing as
other FNMA discount notes; they simply add organization and liguidity to the short-term Agency discount
note market,

Benchmark Notes/Bonds: Benchmark Notes and Bonds are a series of FNMA “bullet” maturities (non-
callable) issued according to a pre-announced calendar. Under its Benchmark Notes/Bonds program, 2, 3, 5,
10 and 30-year maturities are issued each quarter. Each Benchmark Notes new 1ssue has a minimum size of
$4 billion, 30-year new issues having a mintmum size of 81 billion, with reopenings based on investor
demand to further enhance liquidity. The amount of non-callable issuance has allowed FNMA to build a
yield curve in Benchmark Notes and Bonds in maturities ranging from 2 to 30 years. The liquidity
emanating from these large size issues has facilitated favorable financing opportunities through the
development of a liquid overnight and term repo market. Issues under the Benchmark program constitute the
same credit standing as other FNMA. issues; they simply add organization and liquidity to the intermediate-
and long-term Agency market.
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Benchmark. A market ndex used as a comparative basis for measuring the performance of an investment
portfolio. A performance benchmark should represent a close correlation to investment guidelines, risk
tolerance and duration of the actual portfolio's investments.

Bid Price. Price at which a broker/dealer offers to purchase a security from an investor.

Bond Market Association (BMA). The bond market trade association representing the largesl securities
markets in the world. In addition to publishing a Master Repurchase Agreement, widely accepted as the
industry standard document for Repurchase Agreements, the BMA also recommends bond market closures
and early closes due to holidays.

Bond. Financial obligation for which the issuer promises to pay the bondholder (the purchaser or owner of
the bond) a specified stream of future cash flows, including periodic interest payments and a principal
repayment.

Book Entry Securities. Securities that are recorded in a customer’s account electronically through one of
the financial markets electronic delivery and custody systems, such as the Fed Securities wire, DTC and
PTC (as opposed to bearer or physical securities). The trend is toward a certificate-free society in order to
cut down on paperwork and to diminish investors’ concerns about the certificates themselves. The vast
majority of securities are now book entry securities.

Book Value. The value at which a debt security is reflected on the holder's records at any point in time.
~Book value is also called “amontized cost” as it represents the original cost of an investment adjusted for
amortization of premium or accretion of discount. Also called “carrying value.” Book value can vary over
time as an investment approaches maturity and differs from “market value” in that it is not affected by
changes in market Interest rates,

Broker/Dealer. A person or firm transacting securities business with customers. A “broker” acts as an
agent between buyers and sellers, and receives a commission for these services. A “dealer” buys and sells
financial assets from its own portfoho A dealer takes risk by owning inventory of securities, whereas a
broker merely matches up buyers and sellers. See also "Primary Dealer.”

Buliet Notes/Bonds. Notes or bonds that have a single maturity date and are non-callable.
Call Date. Date at which a call option may be or is exercised.

Call Option. The right, but not the obligation, of an issuer of a security to redeem a security at a specified
value and at a specified date or dates prior to its stated maturity date. Most fixed-income calls are a par, but
can be at any previously established price. Securities issued with a call provision typically carry a higher
yield than similar securities issued without a call feature. There are three primary types of call options (1)
European - one-time calls, (2) Bermudan - periodically on a predetermined schedule (quarterly, semi-annual,

armual), and (3) American - continuously callable at any time on or after the call date. There is usuaily a
notice period of at least S business days prior to a call date.

Callable Bonds/Notes. Securities, which contain an imbedded call option giving the issuer, has the right to
redeem the securities prlor 1o matunty ata predetermmed price and time.

Certificate of Deposit (CD). Bank obligation issued by a financial institution generally offering a fixed rate
of return {coupon) for a specified period of time (maturity). Can be as long as 10 years to maturity, but most
CDs purchased by public agencies are one year and under.

Collateral. Investment securities or other property that a borrower pledges to secure repayment of a Joan,
secure deposits of public monies, or provide security for a repurchase agreement.
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Collateralization. Process by which a borrower pledges securities, property, or other deposits for securing
the repayment of a loan and/or security.

Collateralized Mortgage Obligation (CMO}. A security that pools together mortgages and separates them
into short, medium, and long-term positions {called tranches). Tranches are set up to pay different rates of
interest depending upon their maturity. Interest payments are usually paid monthly. In “plamn vanilta”
CMOs, principal is not paid on a tranche until all shorter tranches have been paid off. This system provides
interest and principal in a more predictable manner, A single pool of mortgages can be carved up into
numerous tranches each with its own payment and risk characteristics.

Commercial Paper. Short term unsecured promissory note issued by a company or financial institution.
Issued at a discount and matures for par or face vaiue. Usually 2 maximum maturity of 270 days, and given
a short-term debt rating by one or more Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization (NRSRO).

Convexity. A measure of a bond's price sensitivity to changing interest rates. A high convexity indicates
greater sensitivity of a bond's price to interest rate changes.

Corporate Note. A debt instrument issued by a corporation with a maturity of greater than one year and
less than ten years,

Counterparty. The other party in a two party financial transaction. "Counterparty risk" refers to the risk
that the other party to a transaction will fail in its related obligations. For example, the bank or broker/dealer
in a repurchase agreement. '

Coupon Rate. Annual rate of interest on a debt security, expressed as a percentage of the bond’s face
value.

Current Yield. Annual rate of return on a bond based on its price. Calculated as (coupon rate / price), but
does not accurately reflect a bond’s true yield level.

Custody. Safekeeping services offered by a bank, financial institution or trust company, referred to as the
“custodian.” Service normally inciudes the holding and reporting of the customer's securities, the collection
and disbursement of income, securities settlement and market values.

Dealer. A dealer acts as a principal in al] transactions, buying and selling for his own account,

Delivery vs. Payment (DVP). Settlement procedure in which securities are delivered versus payment of
cash, but only after cash has been received. Most security transactions, inciuding those through the Fed
Securities Wire system and Depository Trust Company (DTC), are done DVP as a protection for both the
buyer and seller of securities.

Depository Trust Company (DTC). A firm through which members can use a computer to arrange for
securities to be delivered to other members without physical delivery of certificates. A member of the
Federal Reserve System and owned mostly by the New York Stock Exchange, the Depository Trust
Company uses computerized debit and credit entries. Most corporate securities, commercial paper, CDs and
BAs clear through DTC.

Derivatives. For hedging purposes, common derivatives are options, futures, swaps and swaptions. All
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (“*CMOQs”) are derivatives. (1) Financial instruments whose return
profile is linked to, or derived from, the movement of one or more underlying index or security, and may
include a leveraging factor, or (2) financial contracts based upon notional amounts whose value is derived
from an underlying index or security (interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equities or commodities).

Derivative Security. Financial instrument created from, or whose value depends upon, one or more
underlying assets or indexes of asset values.
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Designated Bond. Farm Credit Designated Bonds are high credit quality, liquid, non-callable and callable
securities, New issues of Designated Bonds are $1 biliion or larger for non-callable securities and $500
million or larger for callable securities. Reapens of existing Designated Bond issues are generally a
minimum of $100 million. Designated Bonds generally have a two to ten year original maturity and are
offered through z syndicate of two to six Bond Dealers. Callable Designated Bonds will contain one-time
only "European” redemption features.

Discount Notes. Unsecured general obligations issued by Federal Agencies at a discount. Discount notes
mature at par and can range in maturity from overnight to one year. There are very jarge primary (new
issue) and secondary markets.

Discount Rate. Rate charged by the system of Federal Reserve Banks on overnight Joans to member banks.
Changes to this rate are administered by the Federal Reserve and closely mirror changes to the “fed funds

rate.”

Discount Secorities, Non-interest bearing money market instruments that are issued at discount and
redeemed at maturity for full face value. Examples include 1.8 Treasury Bills, Federal Agency Discount
Notes, Bankers' Acceptances and Commercial Paper.

Discount. The amount by which a bond or other financial instrument sells below its face value. See also
"Premium.” :

Diversification. A method of reduvcing risk by investing in a variety of assets.

Dollar Price. A bond’s cost expressed as a percentage of its face value. For cxample, a bond quoted at a
doliar price of 95 %, would have a principal cost of $955 per $1,000 of face value.

Duration. The weighted average maturity of a security’s or portfolio’s cash flows, where the present values
of the cash flows serve as the weighis. The greater the duration of a security/portfolio, the greater its
percentage price volatility with respect to changes in interest rates. Used as a measure of risk and a key tool
for managing a portfolic versus a benchmark and for hedging risk. There are also different kinds of duration
used for different purposes {(e.g. MacAuley Duration, Modified Duration).

Fannic Mae. See "Federal National Mortgage Association.”

Fed Money Wire. A computerized communications system that connects the Federal Reserve System with
its member banks, certain U. S. Treasury offices, and the Washington D.C. office of the Commodity Credit
Corporation. The Fed Money Wire is the book entry system used to transfer cash balances between banks
for themselves and for customer accounts.

Fed Securities Wire. A computerized communications system that facilitates book entry transfer of
securities between banks, brokers and customer accounts. Used primary for settlement of U.S. Treasury and
Federal Agency securities.

Fed. Sec "Federal Reserve System."

Federal Agency Security. A debt instrument issued by one of the federal agencies. Federal agencies are
considered second in credit quality and liquidity only to U.S. Treasuries.

Federal Agency. Government sponsored/owned entity created by the U.S. Congress, generally for the
purpose of acting as a financial intermediary by borrowing in the marketplace and directing proceeds to
specific areas of the economy considered to otherwise have restricted access to credit markets. The largest
Federal Agencies are GNMA, FNMA, FHLMC, FHLB, FFCB, SLMA, and TVA.
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Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). The insurance coverage of public unit accounts
depends upon the type of deposit and the location of the insured depository institution. All time and savings
deposits owned by a public unit and held by the same official custodian in an insured depository institution
within the State in which the public unit is Jocated are added together and insured up to $250,000.
Separately, all demand deposits owned by a public unit and held by the same official custodian in an insured
depository institution within the State in which the public unit is located are added together and insured up
to $250,000. For the purpose of these rules {Deposit Insurance for Accounts Held by Government
Depositors), the term ‘savings deposits’ includes NOW accounts and money market deposit accounts but
does not include interest-bearing demand deposit accounts (which will be permitted after July 21, 2011) The
term ‘demand deposits’ means deposits payable on demand and for which the depaesitory institution does not
reserve the right to require advance notice of an intended withdrawal.

For the period from December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2012, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act {Dodd-Frank Act) provides separate and unlimited deposit insurance coverage
for accounts that meet the definition of a ‘non-interest bearing transaction account.” This uniimited
coverage for such accounts is separate from the $250,000 coverage provided for other types of

accounts. Also, beginning on July 21, 2011, the Dodd-Frank Act provides that insured depository
institutions will be permitted to pay interest on demand deposit accounts.

Federal Farm Credit Bank (FFCB). A Government Sponscred Enterprise (GS) system that is a network
of cooperatively-owned lending institutions that provides credit services to farmers, agricultural
cooperatives and rural utilities. The FFCBs act as financial intermediaries that borrow money in the capital
markets and use the proceeds to make loans and provide other assistance to farmers and farm-affiliated
businesses. Consists of the consolidated operations of the Banks for Cooperatives, Federal [ntermediate
Credit Banks, and Federal Land Banks. Frequent issuer of discount notes, agency notes and callable agency
securities. FFCB debt is not an obligation of, nor is it guaranteed by the U.S. government, although it is
considered to have minimal credit risk due to its importance to the U.S. financial system and agricultural
indusiry. Also issues notes under its “designated note™ program.

Federal Funds (Fed Funds). Funds placed in Federal Reserve Banks by depository institutions in excess of
current reserve requirements, and frequently Toaned or borrowed on an overnight basis between depository
nstitutions.

Federal Funds Rate (Fed Funds Rate). The interest rate charged by a depository institution lending
Federal Funds to another depository institution. The Federal Reserve influences this rate by establishing a
"target" Fed Funds rate associated with the Fed's management of monetary policy.

Federal Home Loan Bank System (FHLB). A Government Sponsored Enterprise {(GSE) systemn,
consisting of wholesale banks (currently twelve district banks) owned by their member banks, which
provides correspondent banking services and credit to various financial institutions, financed by the issuance
of securities. The principal purpose of the FHLB is to add liquidity to the morigage markets. Although
FHLB does not directly fund mortgages, it provides a stable supply of credit to thrift institutions that make
rew mortgage loans. FHLB debt is not an obligation of, nor is it guaranteed by the U.S. government,
afthough it is considered to have minimal credit risk due to its importance to the U.S. financial system and
housing market. Frequent issuer of discount notes, agency notes and callable agency securities. Also issues
notes under its “global note” and “TAP” programs.

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC or "Freddie Mac"). A government sponsored
public corporation (GSE) that provides stability and assistance to the secondary market for home mortgages
by purchasing first mortgages and partictpation interests financed by the sale of debt and guaranteed
mortgage-hacked securities. FHLMC debt is not an obligation of, nor is it guaranteed by the U.S.
government, although it is considered 1o have minimal credit risk due to its importance to the U.S. financial
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system and housing market. Frequent issuer of discount notes, agency notes, callable agency securities and
MBS. Also issues notes under its “reference note™ program,

Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA or "Fannie Mae™), A government sponsored public
corporation {GSE) that provides lignidity to the residential mortgage market by purchasing mortgage loans
from lenders, firanced by the issuance of debt securities and MBS (pools of mortgages packaged together as
a security). FNMA debt is not an obligation of, nor is it guaranteed by the U.S. government, although it is
considered to have minimal credit risk due to its importance to the U.S. financial system and housing
market. Frequent issuer of discount notes, agency notes, callable agency securities and MBS. Also issues
notes under its “benchmark note” program. '

Federal Reserve Bank. One of the 12 distinct banks of the Federal Reserve System.

Federal Reserve System (The Fed). The independent central bank system of the United States that
establishes and conducts the nation's monetary policy. This is accomplished in three major ways: (1) raising
or lowering bank reserve requirements, (2) raising or lowering the target Fed Funds Rate and Discount Rate,
and (3) in open market operations by buying and selling government securities. The Federal Reserve
System is made up of twelve Federal Reserve District Banks, their branches, and many national and state
banks throughout the nation. It is headed by the seven member Board of Governors known as the “Federal

Reserve Board™ and headed by its Chairman.

Fiscal Agent/Paying Agent. A bank or trust company that acts, under a trust agreement with a corporation
or municipality, in the capacity of general treasurer. The agent performs such duties as making coupon
payments, paying rents, redeeming bonds, and handling taxes relating to the issuance of bonds.

Fitch Investors Service, Inc. One of several “Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization”
{NRSRQ) that provide credit ratings on corporate and municipal debt issues.

Floating Rate Security (FRN or “floater™). A bond with an interest rate that is adjusted according to
changes in an interest rate or index. Differs from variable-rate debt in that the changes to the rate take place
immediately when the index changes, rather on a predetermined schedule. See also “Variable Rate

Security,” '
Freddie Mac. See "Federal Home Loan Mortgége Corporation".
Ginnie Mae. See "Government National Mortgage Association”.

Global Notes: Notes designed to qualify for immediate trading in both the domestic U.S. capital market
and in foreign markets around the giobe. Usually large issues that are sold to investors worldwide and
therefore have excellent liquidity. Despite their global sales, global notes sold in the U.S. top U.S. investors
are typically denominated in U.S. dollars.

Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA or "Ginnie Mae"). A government-owned
corporation within the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). Today, Ginnie Mae
securities are the only mortgage-backed securities that offer the full faith and credit guaranty of the United
States government. 1t acquires, packages, and resells mortgages and mortgage purchase commitments in the
form of mortgage-backed securities and is the largest issuer of mortgage pass-through securities.
Government Securities, An obligation of the U.S. government, backed by the full faith and credit of the
government. These securities are regarded as the highest quality of investment securities available in the
U.S. securities market. Sec "Treasury Bills, Notes, Bonds, and SLGS."

Government Sponsored Enterprise (GSE). Privately owned entity subject to federal regulation and
supervision, created by the U.S, Congress 1o reduce the cost of capital for certain borrowing sectors of the
economy such as students, farmers, and homeowners. GSEs carry the implicit backing of the U.S.
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Government, but they are not direct obligations of the U.S, Government. For this reason, these securities
will offer a yield premium over Treasuries. Some consider GSEs to be stealth recipients of corporate
welfare. Examples of GSEs include: FHLB, FHLMC, and FNMA.

Government Spensored Enterprise Security. A security issued by a Government Sponsored Enterprise.
Considered Federal Agency Securities.

Index. A compilation of statistical data that tracks changes in the economy or in financial markets.

Interest-Only {I0) STRIP. A security based solely on the interest payments from the bond. After the
principal has been repaid, interest payments stop and the value of the security falls to nothing. Therefore,
I0s are considered risky investments. Usually associated with mortgage-backed securities.

Internal Controls. An internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the entity are
protected from loss, theft, or misuse. The internal controt structure is designed to provide reasonable
assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that 1. the cost of a
conirol should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived and 2. the valuation of costs and benefits requires
estimates and judgments by management. Internal controls sheuld address the following points:

1. Control of collusion - Collusion is a situation where two or more employees are working in
conjunction to defraud their employer.

2. Separation of transaction authority from accounting and record keeping - By separating the
person who authorizes or performs the {ransaction from the people who record or otherw1sc account
for the transaction, a separation of duties is achieved.

3. Custodial safekeeping - Securities purchased from any bank or dealer including appropriate
collateral (as defined by state law) shall be placed with an independent third party for custodial
safekeeping. ,

4. Avoidance of physical delivery securities - Book-entry securities are much easier to transfer and
account for since actval delivery of a document never takes place. Delivered securities must be
properly safeguarded against loss or destruction. The potential for fraud and loss increases with
physically delivered securities.

5. Clear delegation of authority to subordinate staff members - Subordinate staff members must
have a clear understanding of their authority and responsibilities io avoid improper actions. Clear
delegation of authority also preserves the infernal control structure that is contingent on the various
staff positions and their respective responsibilities.

6. Written confirmation of t{ransactions for investments apd wire transfers - Due to the potential
for error and improprieties arising from telephone and electronic transactions, all transactions should
be supported by written communications and approved by the appropriate person. Written
communications may be via fax if on letterhead and if the safekeeping institution has a list of
authorized signatures. )

7. Development of a wire transfer agreement with the lead bank and third-party custodian - The
designated official should ensure that an agreement will be entered into and will address the
following points: controls, security provisions, and responsibilities of each party making and
receiving wire transfers.
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Inverse Floater. A floating rate security structured in such a way that it reacts inversely to the direction of
interest rates. Considered risky as their value moves in the opposite direction of normal fixed-income
investments and whose interest rate can fail to zero.

Investment Advisor. A company that provides professional advice managing portfolios, investment
recommendations and/or research in exchange for a management fee,

Investment Adviser Act of 1940. Federal legislation that sets the standards by which investment
companies, such as mutual funds, are regulated in the areas of advertising, promotion, performance
reporting requirements, and securitics valuations.

Investment Manager A company that actively manages fixed income portfolios which include operating
funds, capital reserves, insurance reserves, proceeds from the sale of bonds and other funds.

Investment Grade. Bonds considered suitable for preservation of invested capital; bonds rated a minimum
of Baa3 by Moody’s, BBB- by Standard & Poor’s, or BBB- by Fitch. Although “BBB” rated bonds are
considered investment grade, most public agencies cannot invest in securities rated below “A.”

Liquidity. Relative ease of converting an asset into cash without significant loss of value. Also, a relative
measure of cash and near-cash items in a portfolio of assets. Also, a term describing the marketability of a
money market security correlating to the narrowness of the spread between the bid and ask prices.

Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), An investment by local governments in which their money
is pooled as a method for managing local funds, (i.e., Florida PRIME),

Long-Term Core Investment Program. Funds that are not needed within a one-year period.

Market Value. The fair market valie of a security or commodity. The price at which a willing buyer
would pay for a security,

Mark-to-market. Adjusting the value of an asset to its market value, reflecting in the process unrealized
gains or losses.

Master Repurchase Agreement. A widely accepted standard agreement form published by the Bond
Market Association' (BMA) that is used to govern and document Repurchase Agreements and protect the
interest of parties in a repo transaction.

Maturity Date. Date on which principai. payment of a financiat obligation is to be paid.

Medium Term Notes (MTNs). Used frequently to refer to corporate notes of medinm maturity (5-years
and under). Technically, any debt security issued by a corporate or depository institution with maturities
from 1 to 10 years and issued under an MTN shelf registration. Usually issued in smaller issues with
varying coupons and maturities, and underwritten by a variety of broker/dealers (as opposed to large
corporate deals issued and underwritten all at once in large size and with a fixed coupon and maturity).

Money Market. The market in which short-term debt instruments (bills, commercial paper, bankers’
aceeptance, etc.) are issued and traded.

Money Market Mutual Fund (MMF). A type of mutua! fund that invests solely in money market
instruments, such as Treasury bills, commercial paper, bankers' acceptances, and repurchase agreerments.
Money market mutual funds are registered with the SEC under the Investment Company Act of 1940 and
are subject “rule 2a-7" which significantly limits average maturity and credit quality of holdings. MMFs are
managed to maintain a stable net asset value (NAV) of $1.00. Many MMFs carry ratings by a NRSRO,

Pace 721 A IR



City of Fort Lauderdale Bid 125-10829

Moody's Investors Service. One of several NRSROs that provide credit ratings on corporate and municipal
debt issues.

Mortgage Backed Securities (MBS). Mortgage-backed securities represent an ownership interest in a pool
of mortgage loans made by financial institutions, such as savings and loans, commercial banks, or mortgage
companies, to finance the borrower's purchase of a home or other real estate. The majority of MBS are
issued and/or guaranteed by GNMA, FNMA and FHLMC. There are a variety of MBS structures, some of
which can be very risky and complicated, All MBS have reinvestment risk as actual principal and interest
payments are dependent on the payment of the underlying morigages which can be prepaid by maortgage
holders to refinance and lower rates or simply because the underlying property was sold.

Mortgage Pass-Through Securities. A pool of residential mortgage loans with the monthly interest and
principal distributed to investors on a pro-rata basis. Largest issuer is GNMA.

Municipal Note/Bond. A debt instrument issued by a state or local government unit or public agency. The
vast majority of municipals are exempt from state and federal income tax, although some non-qualified
issues are taxable.

Mutual Fund. Portfolio of securities professionally managed by a registered investment company that
issues shares to investors. Many different types of mutual funds exist (bond, equity, money fund); all except
money market funds operate on a variable net asset value (NAV).

National Association of Securities Dealers (NASD). Organization of brokers and dealers who trade
securities in the United States, supervised by the SEC, and which provides regulatory exams for industry
participants.

‘Negotiable Certificate of Deposit (Negotiable CD). Large denomination CDs ($100,000 and targer) that
are issued in bearer form and can be traded in the secondary market.

Net Asset Value. The market value of one share of an investment company, such as a mutual fund. This
figure is calculated by totaling a fund's assets which inciudes securities, cash, and any accrued earnings,
subtracting this from the fund's liabiiities and dividing this total by the number of shares ocutstanding. This is
calculated once a day based on the closing price for each security m the fund's portfolio. (See below.)

[(Total 2ssets) - (Liabilities)]/(Number of shares outstanding)

NRSRO. A “Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization.” A designated rating organization
- that the SEC has deemed a strong national presence in the U.S. NRSROs provide credit ratings on corporate
and bank debt issues. Only ratings of a NRSRO may be used for the regulatory purposes of rating.
Includes Moody's, S&P, Fitch and Duff & Phelps.

Offered Price, Seealso "Ask Price.”

Open Market Operations. Federal Reserve monetary policy tactic entailing the purchase or sale of
govermment securities in the open market by the Federal Reserve System from and to primary dealers in

order to influence the money supply, credit conditions, and interest rates.

Par Value. Face value, stated value or maturity value of a security.

Physical Delivery. Delivery of readily available underlying assets at contract maturity.
Portfolio. Collection of securities and investments held by an investor.

Premium. The amount by which a bond or other financial instrument sells above its face value, See also
"Discount.”
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Primary Dealer. Any of a group of designated government securities dealers designated by to the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York. Primery dealers can buy and sell government securities directly with the Fed.,
Primary dealers also submit daily reports of market activity and security positions held to the Fed and are
subject to its informal oversight. Primary dealers are considered the largest players in the U.S. Treasury
seclrities market.

Prime Paper. Commercial paper of high quality. Highest rated paper is A-1+/A-1 by S&P and P-1 by
Moody’s.

Principal. Face value of a financial instrument on which interest accrues. May be less than par value if
some principal has been repaid or retired. For a transaction, principal is par value times price and includes
anry premium or discount,

Prudent Investor Standard. Standard that requires that when investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring,
exchanging, selling, or managing public funds, a trustee shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence
under the circumstances then prevailing, including, but not limited to, the general economic conditions and
the anticipated needs of the agency, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiarity with those
matters would use in the conduct of funds of a like character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal
and maintain the liquidity needs of the agency. More stringent than the “prudent person” standard as it
implies a ievel of knowledge commensurate with the responsibility at hand.

Qualified Public Depository - Per Florida Statnte 280, means any bank, saving bank or savings association
that:

1. Is organized and exists under the laws of the United States, the laws of this state or any other state or
territory of the United States;

Has 1ts principal place of business in this state or has a branch office in this state which is authorized
under the laws of this state or of the United States to receive deposits in this state.,

[

3. Has deposit insurance under the provision of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended, 12
U.S.C. 551811 seq.

4. Meets all requirements of F.S. 280

5. Has been designed by the Treasurer as a qualified public depository.

Range Note. A type of structured note that accroes interest daily at a set coupon rate that is tied to an index.
Most range notes have two coupon levels; a higher accrual rate for the period the index is within a
designated range, the lower accrual rate for the period that the index falls outside the designated range. This
lower rate may be zero and may result in zero eamings.

Rate of Return. Amount of income received from an investment, expressed as a percentage of the amount
invested.

Realized Gains (Losses). The difference between the sale price of an investment and its book vahie.
Gains/losses are “realized” when the security is actual sold, as compared to “unrealized” gains/losses which
are based on current market value. See “Unrealized Gains (Losses).”

Reference Bilis: FHLMC’s short-term debt program created to supplement its existing discount note
program by offering issues from one month through one year, auctioned on a weekly or on an alternating
four-week basis (depending upon maturity) offered in sizeable volumes (31 billion and up) on & cycle of
regular, standardized issuance. Globally sponsored and distributed, Reference Bill issues are intended to
encourage active trading and market-making and facilitate the development of a term repo market, The
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program was designed to offer predictable supply, pricing transparency and liquidity, thereby providing
alternatives to Treasury bills. FHLMC’s Reference Bills are unsecured general corporate obligations. This
program supplements the corporation’s existing discount note program, Issues under the Reference program
constitute the same credit standing as other FHLMC discount notes; they simply add organization and
fiquidity to the short-term Agency discount note market.

Reference Notes: FHLMC’s intermediate-term debt program with issuances of 2, 3, 5, 10 and 30-year
maturities, [nitial issuances range from $2 - $6 billion with reopenings ranging $§1 - $4 billion. The notes
are high-quality bullet structures securities that pay interest semiannually. lIssues under the Reference
program constitute the same credit standing as other FHL.MC notes; they simply add organization and
liquidity to the intermediate- and long-term Agency market.

Repurchase Agreement (Repo). A short-term investment vehicle where an investor agrees to buy
securities from a counterparty and simultaneously agrees to resell the securities back to the counterparty at
an agreed upon time and for an agreed upon price. The difference between the purchase price and the sale
price represents interest earned on the agreement. In effect, it represents a collateralized loan to the investor,
where the securities are the collateral. Can be DVP, where securities are delivered to the investor’s
custodial bank, or “tri-party” where the securities are delivered to a third party intermediary. Any type of
security can be used as “collateral,” but only some types provide the investor with special bankruptecy
protection under the law. Repos should be undertaken only when an appropriate BMA approved master
repurchase agreement is in place.

Reverse Repurchase Agreement (Reverse Repo). A repo from the point of view of the original seller of
securities. Used by dealers to finance their inventory of securities by essentially borrowing at short-term
rates. Can also be used to leverage a portfolio and in this sense, can be considered risky if used improperly.

Safekeeping. Service offered for a fee, usually by financial institutions, for the holding of securities and
other vaiuables. Safekeeping is a component of custody services.

Secondary Market. Markets for the purchase and sale of any previously issued financial instrument,

Securities Lending. An arrangement between and investor and a custody bank that aliows the custody bank
to “loan” the investors investment holdings, reinvest the proceeds in permitted investments, and shares any
profits with the investor. Should be governed by a securities lending agreement. Can increase the risk of a
portfolio in that the investor takes on the default risk on the reinvestment at the discretion of the custodian.

Sinking Fund. A separate accumulation of cash or investments (including earnings on investments) in a
fund in accordance with the terms of a trust agreement or indenture, funded by periodic deposits by the
issuer {or other entity responsible for debt service), for the purpose of assuring timely availability of moneys
for payment of debt service, Usually used in connection with term bends.

Spread. The difference between the price of a security and similar maturity Treasury investments,
expressed in percentage terms or basis points. A spread can also be the absolute difference in yield between
two securities. The securities can be in different markets or within the same securities market between
different credits, sectors, or other relevant factors.

Standard & Poor's. One of several NRSROs that provide credit ratings on corporate and munioipal debt
issues.

STRIPS (Separate Trading of Registered Interest and Principal of Securities). Acronym applied to
Treasury securities that have had their coupons and principal repayments separated into individual
zero-coupon Treasury securities. The same technique and “strips" dsscription can be applied to
non-Treasury securities {e.g. FNMA strips).
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Structured Notes. Notes that have imbedded into their structure options such as step-up coupons or
derivative-based returns. '

Swap. Trading one asset for another.

TAP Notes: Federal Agency notes issued under the FHLB TAP program. Launched in 6/99 as a
refinement to the FHLB bullet bond auction process. In a break from the FHLB’s traditional practice of
bringing numerous small issues to market with similar maturities, the TAP Issue Program uses the four most
common maturities and reopens them up regularly through a competitive auction. These maturities (2, 3, 5
and 10 year) will remain open for the calendar quarter, after which they will be closed and a new series of
TAP issues will be opened to replace them. This reduces the number of separate builet bonds issued, but
generates enhanced awareness and liquidity in the marketplace through increased issue size and secondary

market volume,

Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA)., A wholly owned corporation of the United States government that
was established in 1933 to develop the resources of the Tennessee Valley region in order to strengthen the
regional and national economy and the national defense. Power operations are separated from non-power
operations. TV A securities represent obligations of TV A, payable solely from TVA's net power proceeds,
and are neither obligations of nor guaranteed by the United States. TVA is currently authorized to issue debt
up to §30 billion. Under this authorization, TVA may also obtain advances from the Treasury of up to $150
million. Frequent issuer of discount notes, agency notes and callable agency securities.

Total Return. Investment performance measured over a period of time that includes coupon interest,
interest on interest, and both realized and unrealized gains or losses. Total return includes, therefore, any
market value appreciation/depreciation on investments held at period end.

Treasuries. Collective term used to describe debt instruments backed by the U.S. Government and issued
through the U.S. Department of the Treasury. Includes Treasury bills, Treasury notes, Treasury Inflation-
Protected Securities (TTPS) and Treasury bonds. Also a benchmark term used as a basis by which the yields
of non-Treasury securities are compared (¢.g., "trading at 50 basis points over Treasuries").

Treasury Bills (T-Bills). Short-term direct obligations of the United States Government issued with an
original term of one year or less. Treasury bills, or T-bills, are sold in terms ranging from a few days to 52
weeks, Bills are typically soid at a discount from the par amount (also called face value). For instance, you
might pay $990 for a $1,000 bill. When the bill matures, you would be paid $1,000. The difference between
the purchase price and face value is interest. It is possible for a bill auction to result in a price equaj to par,
which means that Treasury will issue and redeem the securities at par value.

Treasury Bonds. Long-term interest-bearing debt securities backed by the U.S. Government. issued
Treasury bonds pay a fixed rate of interest every six months until they mature and are issued in & term of 30

years.

Treasury Inflation-Protected Securities (TIPS) Provide protection against inflation. The principal of a
TIPS increases with inflation and decreases with deflation, as measured by the Consumer Price Index. When
a TIPS matures, you are paid tlie adjusted principal or original principal, whichever is greater. TIPS pay
interest twice a year, at a fixed rate. The rate is applied to the adjusted principal; so, like the principal,
interest payments rise with inflation and fall with deflation.

Treasury Notes. Intermediate interest-bearing debt securities backed by the U.S. Government and issued
with maturities ranging from one to ten years by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. Treasury Notes, earn
a fixed rate of interest every six months until maturity. Notes are issued in terms of 2, 3, 5, 7, and 10 years.
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Trustee. A bank designated by an issuer of securities as the custodian of funds and official representative of
bondholders. Trustees.are appointed to insure compliance with the bond documents and to represent
bondholders in enforcing their contract with the issuer.

Uniform Net Capital Rule. SEC regulation 15C3-1 that outlines the minimum net capital ratio (ratio of
indebtedness to net liguid capital) of member firms and non-rmember broker/dealers.

Unrealized Gains (Losses), The difference between the market value of an investment and its book value,
Gainsflosses are “realized” when the security is actual sold, as compared to “unrealized” gains/losses which
are based on current market value, See also “Realized Gains (Losses).”

Variable-Rate Security. A bond that bears interest at a rate that varies over time based on a specified
schedale of adjustment (e.g., daily, weekly, monthly, semi-annually or annually). See also “Floating Rate
Note.”

Weighted Average Maturity Average Maturity. The average maturity of all securities and investments of
a pertfolio, determined by multiplying the par or principal value of each security or investment by its
maturity (days or years), summing the products, and dividing the sum by the total principal vatue of the
portfolio. A simple measure of risk of a fixed-income portfolio.

Weighted Average Maturity to Call. The average maturity of all securiiies and investments of a portfolio,
adjusted to substitute the first call date per security for maturity date for those securities with call provisions.

Yield Curve. A graphic depiction of yields on like securities in relation to remaining maturities spread over
a time line. The traditional yield curve depicts yields on Treasuries, although yield curves exist for Federal
Agencies and various credit quality corporates as well. Yield curves can be positively sloped (normal)
where longer-term investments have higher yields, or “inverted” (uncommen) where longer-term
investments have lower yields than shorter ones.

Yield to Call (YTC). Same as “Yield to Maturity,” except the return is measured to the first call date rather
than the maturity date. Yield to call and be significantly higher or lower than a security’s yieid to maturity.

Yield to Maturity (YTM). Calculated return on an investment, assuming all cash flows from the security
are reinvested at the same original yield, Can be higher or lower than the coupon rate depending on market
rates and whether the security was purchased at a premiumn or discount. There are different conventions for
caleulating YTM for various types of securities, '

Yield. There are numerous methods of yield determination. In this glossary, see also "Current Yield,”
“Yield Curve," "Yield to Cail" and "Yield to Maturity."
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NON-COLLUSION STATEMENT:

By signing this offer, the vendor/contractor certifies that this offer is made independently and free from
coliusion. Vendor shall disclose below any City of Fort Lauderdale, FL officer or employes, or any
relative of any such officer or employee who is an officer or director of, or has a material interest in,
the vendor's business, who is in a position to influence this procurement.

Any City of Fort Lauderdale, FL officer or employee who has any input into the writing of specifications
or requirements, solicitation of offers, decision to award, evaluation of offers, or any other activity
pertinent to this procurement is presumed, for purposes hereof, to be in a position to influence this

procurement.
For purposes hereof, a person has a material interest if they directly or indirectly own more than 5

percent of the total assets or capital stock of any business entity, or if they otherwise stand to
personally gain if the contract is awarded fo this vendor,

In accordance with City of Fort Lauderdale, FL Policy and Standards Manual, 6.10.8.3,

3.3. City employees may not contract with the City through any corporation or business entity in
which they or their immediate family members hold a controlling financial interest (e.g.
ownership of five (5) percent or more).

3.4. Immediate family members (spouse, parents and children) are also prohibited from
contracting with the City subject to the same general rules.

Failure of a vendor to disclose any relationship described herein shall be reason for
debarment in accordance with the provisions of the City Procurement Code.

NAME RELATIONSHIPS

In the event the vendor does not indicate any names, the City shall interpret this to mean that
the vendor has indicataed that no such relationships exist.
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BID/PROPOSAL SIGNATURE PAGE

How to submit bids/proposals: Proposals must be submitted by hard copy only. It will be the sole
responsibility of the Bidder fo ensure that the bid reaches the City of Fort Lauderdale, City Hall, Procurement
Services Division, Suite 619, 100 N. Andrews Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301, prior to the bid opening
date and time listed. Bids/proposals submitted by fax or email will NOT be accepted.

The below signed hereby agrees to furnish the following article(s) or services at the price(s) and terms
stated subject to all instructions, conditions, specifications addenda, legal advertisement, and conditions
contained in the bid. | have read all attachments including the specifications and fully understand what is
required. By submitting this signed proposal | will accept a contract if approved by the CITY and such
acceptance covers all terms, conditions, and specifications of this bid/fproposal.

Please Note: Al fields below must be completed. If the field does not apply to you, please note N/A in that
field.

Submitted by:

{signature) (date)

Name (printed) Title:

Company: (Legal Registration)

CONTRACTOR, IF FOREIGN CORPORATION, MAY BE REQUIRED TO OBTAIN A CERTIFICATE OF
AUTHORITY FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE. IN ACCORDANCE WITH FLORIDA STATUTE

§607.1501 (visit http://iwww.dos.state.fl.us/ ).

Address:
City State: Zip
Telephone No.___~ FAX No. Email:

Delivery: Calendar days after receipt of Purchase Order (section 1.02 of General Conditions):

Payment Terms (section 1.04): Total Bid Discount {section 1.05):

Does your firm qualify for MBE or WBE status (section 1.09): MBE WBE

ADDENDUM ACKNOWLEDGEMENT - Proposer acknowledges that the following addenda have been
received and are included in the proposal:

Addendum No. Date |ssued

P-.CARDS: Will your firm accept the City's Credit Card as payment for goods/services?

YES NO

VARIANCES: State any variations to specifications, terms and conditions in the space provided below or
reference in the space provided below all variances contained on other pages of bid, attachments or bid
pages. No variations or exceptions by the Proposer ‘will be deemed to be part of the bid submitted unless
such variation or exception is listed and contained within the bid documents and referenced in the space
provided below. If no statement is contained in the below space, it is hereby implied that your bid/proposal
complies with the full scope of this solicitation. HAVE YOU STATED ANY VARIANCES OR EXCEPTIONS
BELOW? BIDDER MUST CLICK THE EXCEPTION LINK IF ANY VARIATION OR EXCEPTION IS TAKEN
TO THE SPECIFICATIONS. TERMS AND CONDITIONS. If this section does not apply to your bid, simply
mark N/A in the section below.

Variances:

revised 11-29-11
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ADDENDUM NO. 1

RFP 125-10899
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

ISSUED: Apri! 6, 2012

The Proposal Due Date for RFP 125-10899 Investment Management Services, states
that the Request For Proposal shall open (due date), on April 16,2012, prior to 2:00pm
EST. This has been changed to read that the Request for Proposal (due date) shall

open on April 23, 2012, prior to 2:00pm EST. This change is being made as the City
shall be issuing a second Addendum next week with additional changes to the RFP

document.

All Addendum, questions and answers posted in BidSync are incorporated and made part of the
City’s Contract with the proposer.
All other terms, conditions, and specifications remain unchanged.

This Addendum No. 1 should be submitted with your RFP Response.

Michael Walker, CPPB
Procurement and Contracts Manager

Company
Name:

(Please print)

Proposer’s
Signature:

Date:

-

Bid 125-10899
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City of Fort Lauderdale ¢ Procurement Services Division
100 N. Andrews Avenue, #619 « Fort Lauderdale; Florida 33301
954-828-5933 FAX 954-828-5576
purchase@fortlauderdale.gov

Page 1 of 4

ADDENDUM NO. 2

~ RFP 125-10899
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

ISSUED: April 9, 2012

The following paragraphs in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted in its entirety:

PART | — INTRODUCTION INFORMATION, ITEM 05. ELIGIBILITY {second paragraph),
PART It — SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 24. SPECIAL INFORMATION CONTROLS,
and PART VHI -PROPOSED PAGES — TECHNICAL PROPOSAL, Tab 9, which states

the following:

“The Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report with their
proposal. Awarded contractor will be reguired to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type |l
report annually during the term of this contract. if the Contractor cannot provide the
SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report at the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report

will be accepted.”

And shall be replaced with the following SSAE 16 requirements:

The Contractor(s} or all investment managers shall be required to provide a SSAE 16,
SOC 1, Type 2 Report, within six (6) months from the effective date of the contract. The
SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type Il Report will be required each vear for the term of the contract.
This includes third party entities. No other documentation shall be accepted.
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City of Fort Lauderdale » Procurement Services Division

100 N. Andrews Avenue, #5619 « Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
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The following section in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted:

PART VII - PROPOSAL SUMMARY REQUIREMENTS, ltem 7. Fees (in basis points)
after first paragraph, which states the following:

Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly balance
within the following range, based on a current pool of market value of approximately
$542,000,000), as of 12/31/12. No other fees shall be accepted other than the fees in

basis points, as stated below.
(In basis points)

$1.00 to $150,000,000
Over $150,000,000

And shall be replaced with the revised basis points:

Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly balance
within the following range, based on a current pool of market value of approximately
$542,000,000), as of 12/31/12. No other fees shall be accepted other than the fees in

basis points, as stated below. -

CONTRACTOR -~ PLEASE FILL IN THE REVISED BASIS POINTS IN THiS
ADDENDUM, AS STATED BELOW:

(In basis points)

$1.00 to $25,000,000 _

Over $25,000,000 up to $50,000,000
Over $50,000,000 up to $100,000,000
Over $50,000,000 up to $100,000,000
Over $100,000,000 up to $150,000,000
Over $150,000,000

-

Bid 125-10899
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The following New language is being added and made part of this RFP under
PART {ll - SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 25. Also added and made part of this RFP
of this RFP is Exhibit B Local Business Preference Certification Statement
document.:

25,

LOCAL BUSINESS PREFERENGCE
Section 2-199.2, Code of Ordinances of the City of Fort Lauderdale, {Ordinance No. C-12-
04), provides for a local business preference.,

In order to be considered for a local business preference, a bidder or proposer must inciude
the Local Business Preference Certification Statement, Exhibit“B" of this RFP, and
documentation of the following, as applicable to the local business preference class
claimed, at the time of proposal submittal:

Upon recommendation for contract award based on the application of a local Business
Preference the Proposer shall within ten (10) calendar days submit the following
documentation to the Local Business Preference Class claimed:

A) Copy of City of Fort Lauderdale current year business tax receipt, or
Broward County current year business tax receipt, and

B) List of the names of alf employees of the bidder or proposer and evidence of
employees' residence within the geographic bounds of the City of Fort Lauderdale or
Broward County, as the case may be, such as current Florida driver license, residenttal

utility bill (water, electric, telephone, cable television), or other type of similar
documentation acceptable to the City.

Failure to comply at time of proposal submittal shafl result in the Proposer heing found
ineligible for the local business preference.,

THE COMPLETE LOCAL BUSINESS PREFERENCE ORDINANCE MAY BE FOUND ON
THE CITY’S WEB SITE AT THE FOLLOWING LINK:

hitp:iwww.fortlauderdale.govipurchasing/index.htm

Definitions: The term “Business” shall mean a person, firm, corporation or other business
entity which is duly licensed and authorized to engage in a particular work in the State of
Florida. Business shall be broken down into four (4) types of classes:

1. Class A Business — shall mean any Business that has established and agrees to
maintain a permanent place of business located in a non-residential zone and staffed
with fufl-time ernployees within the limits of the City and shall maintain a staffing level
of the prime contractor for the proposed work of at least fifty percent (50%) who are
residents of the City.

2. Class B Business - shall mean any Business that has established and agrees to
maintain a permanent place of business located in a non-residential zone and staffed
with full-time employees within the limits of the City or shall maintain a staffing level
of the prime contractor for the proposed work of at least fifty percent (50%) who are
residents of the City.

3. Class C Business - shall mean any Business that has established and agrees to
maintain a permanent place of business located in a non-residential zone and staffed
with full-time employees within the limits of Broward County.

Bict 125-10898
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4. Class D Business — shall mean any Business that does not qualify as either a
Class A, Class B, or Class C business.

Page 4 of 4

All other terms, conditions, and specifications remain unchanged.

This Addendum No. 2 MUST be submitted with your RFP Response.

Michael Walker, CPPB
Procurement and Contracts Manager

Company
Name:

(Please print)
Proposer’s _
Signature;

Date:
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RFP NO. 125-10899
TITLE: Investment Management Services

EXHIBIT “B”
LOCAL BUSINESS PREFERENCE CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

The Business identified below certifies that it qualifies for the locat BUSINESS preference classification as indicated herein, and further
certifies and agrees that it will re-affirm it's local preference classification annually no later than thirty {30} calendar days prior to the
anniversary of the date of a conlract awarded pursuant to this RFP. Violation of the foregoing provision may result in contract

termination.

is a Class A Business as defined in City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance No. C-12-04,
Sec.2-199.2. A copy of the City of Fort Lauderdale current year Business Tax Receipt
and a complete list of full-ime employees and their addresses are attached for

(1 justification.
Business Name

is a Class B Business as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance No. C-12-04,
Sec.2-199.2. A copy of the Business Tax Receipt or a complete list of full-time
(2} employees and their addresses is attached as justification.

Business Name

is a Class C Business as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance No. C-12-04,
Sec.2-199.2. A copy of the Broward County Business Tax Receipt is attached as

{3) justification.
Business Name

requests a Conditional Class A classification as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale
(4) Ordinance No. C-12-04, Sec.2-189.2. Written certification of intent is attached.

Business Name

requests a Conditional Class B classification as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale
() Ordinance No. C-12-04, Sec.2-199.2. Written ceriification of intent is attached.

Business Name

is considered a Class D Business as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance
No. C-12-04, Sec.2-199.2. and does not qualify for Local Preference consideration.

(8) (Notary not required for Class “D")
Business Name

PROPOSER'S COMPANY:
AUTHORIZED COMPANY PERSON:
NAME SIGNATURE DATE
STATE OF
COUNTY OF
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of 20, by _ and
as and respectively, of
They are [] personally known to me or [] have produced as
identification.
(SEAL)

Notary Public, State of
{Signature of Notary taking Acknowledgment)

Name of Notary Typed, Printed or Stamped

My Commission Expires:

Commission Number

March 30, 2012
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- 1. Unless the policy is changed, NO. Afso the policy must comply with 218.415 Florida Statutes, particularty 218.415(2)

Investment Objectives.

2. Unless the pelicy is changes, NO.
3. Please refer to the Investment policy far the minimum grade for each investment type. for exemple, Corporate notes

rmust have a minimum long term debt rating, at a minimum of "A" by either Moody's or Standard & poor's at the time of
purchase. Documentation must be maintained as proof of this requirement for audit purposes.

4, NO.

5. Commingled or mutual funds are permitted as long as the underiying investments in these funds mest the criteria of
fype and do not exceed the maximum alfowable percentage as detailed in the investment policy. Again, the identification,
rating and proportionate share of a particular investment in a commingled or mutual fund must be identifable for audit

purposes. {Answered; Apr 5, 2012 3:09:07 PM EDT)

Question 10
Since a SSAE 15, SOC 2, Type I report doesn't truly apply to Investment Managers will audited financials be an

appropriate proxy or does not having the SSAE 16 automatically disqualify appiicants? (Submitted: Apr 3, 2012 3:18:46 PM

EDT)
Answer

- SEE ADDENDUM NO 2 ATTACHED DATED APRIL 9, 2012

The following paragraphs in RFP 125-10859 shall be deleted in its entirety:

PART I ¢ INTRODUCTION INFORMATION, ITEM (5. ELIGIBILITY (second paragraph),

PART III ¢ SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 24. SPECIAL INFORMATION CONTROLS, and PART VIII éPROPOSED PAGES ¢
TECHNICAL PROPOSAL, Tab 9, which states the following:

éThe Contractor shall provide a currant SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report with their proposal. Awarded contractar will be
required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type I report annually during the term of this contract. If the Contractor cannot
provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report at the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.é

And shall be replaced with the following SSAE 16 requirements:
The Contractor(s) or all investment managers shall be required to provide a SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type 2 Report, within six (6)

months from the effective date of the contract. The SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type II Report will be required each year for the term
of the contract, This includes third party entities. No other documentation shall be accepted. (Answered: Apr 9, 2012

4:02:54 PM EDT)
Question 11

In question 4. of Investment Management Approach and Discipline G, you ask for the firms fixed income investment
policy in one sentence? Is that supposed to be investment philosophy? (Submitted: Apr 3, 2012 4:26:14 PM EDT)

Answer
- 4(A) refers to Philosophy, 4.(G0 Policy (Answered: Apr 5, 2012 3:09:07 PM EDT)

Question 12
Regarding Part VII, Question 2C, can you define short-term, medium-term and long-term funds? (Submitted: Apr 3;
2012 4:43:56 PM EDT)
Answer
- Please refer to Part VII, Item 9.
City's preferred tiers/categories:
A. Immediate needs: less than 30 days
B. Short term: 30 days to a maximum of 12 months
C. Intermediate tern: 1 year - up to 2-1/2 years
D. Long term: 2-1/2 years up to 10 years {the City’s maximum per policy) (Answered: Apr 5, 2012 3:09:07 PM EDT)

Question 13
To get a sense of your existing portfolio, I have a four questicns.
1. What is the current duration of your portfolio?
2. What are your current allocations to Gov't, Corp, and asset backeds? Realize these are general buckets. Please be more
specific if you choose.
3. Who are your current managers?
4. What are the current investment management fees you are paying? (Submitted: Apr 4, 2012 2:37:19 PM EDT)
Answer
- 1. Less than one year
2. Summary of Cash Investment as of December 31, 2011:
Cash and Money Market Accounts - market value $260,359.43, % of portfolic - 48%, max. % authorized - 100%.
Money Market Funds - market valus - $83,390,512.49, % of portfolio - 15.37%, max. % authorized - 75%.
Local Government Investment Pool - market value - $58,390,512.49, % of portfolic - 10.82%, max. % authorized - 25%.
U.S. Treasury Bond/Note - market value ~ $64,161,327.90, % of portfolic - 11.83%, max. % authorized - 100%.
Federal Agency Bond/Note - market value - $42,245,664.04, % of protfolio - 7.79%, max. % authorized - 100%
Federal agency MBS/CMO/CMBS - market value - $3,669,837.64, % of portfolio - 7.79%, max. % authorized - 20%.,
Municipat Bond/Note - $6,404,335.90, % of protfolio - 1.18%, max. % authorized ~ 25%.
Corporate note - market value - $$18,234,437.02, % of protfolio - 3.36%.
Corporate ABS - market value - $5,284,331.38, % of portfolio - 0.97% {combined (2)Corporate items above maximum %

authorized is 25%).




e

s

| éThe Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report with their proposal, Awarded contractor will be

City of Fort Lauderdale

Commerical paper - market value - $0.00, % of protfolio - 0.00%, maiumum % authorized - 25%.

Unsettled Activity Cash - market value $7,182.70, % of protfolia - N/A, maximum % authorized - N/A.

Total market value = $542,450,659.22, % of portfolio = 100%

3. PFM and Cutwater Asset Managers. They currrently manage $100 million each.

4. Bath current contracts may be found at: http://www.fortlauderdale.gov/purchasing/contractdocs. httm {Answered: Apr
5, 2012 3:09:07 PM EDT)

Question 14
1. In question 9 on page 21 of your solicitation you identify 4 tiers of investment with different maturities. Is your

request for single or multiple investment portfolios and what will be the benchmark or benchmarks?

2. How the funds are currently being invested? '

3. Are historical or projected cash flows available?

4. On page 7 in item 12 you state that the City may require additional items or services. Are the additional services
envisioned limited to investment management and if not, what types of services may be required? {Submitted: Apr 5, 2012
6:45:44 AM EDT)

Answer
- 1. For benchmarking purposes, each manager's allccation can be divided, although a manager may be rescinsible for a

particular term of investments, such as intermediate term. Please refer to the Invesiment Palicy, Section X1V. Performance
Measurements for benchmarks.
2. See answer in Questiocn 13, item 2. above.

3. NO.
4. Updates on current investment environment, options regarding particular investments, recommendation to portfolio

compasition within the parameters of Florida Statutues. Also, the addition of fuel hedging for an energy price risk
management program. The primary goal of the program is to minimize the variability in the city's budget due to
fluctuations in the price of fuel rather than speculative investrment, This program is in the process of being finalized.
(Answered: Apr 5, 2012 3:09:07 PM EDT)
Question 15

Our firm is working to provide a response to Bid 125-10899 request for Investment Management Services, We have a
question regarding the requirement below. As a registered investment advisor, we do not produce this report. We are
required to produce an ADV which could be provided. Would that be acceptable? I believe the report below replaces SAS 70
reports which were for banking/custodial organizations.

SSAE 16, SOC 2; Type I report with their proposal.

If the Contractor cannot provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type I report at the

time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.

Awarded contractor will be required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type II report annually during the term of this
contract. {Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 7:04:09 AM EDT)

Answer

- SEE ADDENDUM NO 2 ATTACHED DATED APRIL 9, 2012

The following paragraphs in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted in its entirety:

PART I ¢ INTRODUCTION INFORMATION, ITEM 05, ELIGIBILITY (second paragraph),

PART I1I ¢ SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 24, SPECIAL INFORMATION CONTROLS, and PART VIII éPROPOSED PAGES &

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL, Tab 9, which states the following:

required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type II report annually during the term of this contract. If the Contractor cannot
provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report at the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report wilt be accepted.é

And shall be replaced with the following SSAE 16 requirements:
The Contractor(s) or ail investment managers shall be required to provide a SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type 2 Report, within six (6)

months from the effective date of the contract. The SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type II Report will be required each year for the term
of the contract. This includes third party entities. No other documentation shall be accepted. (Answered: Apr 9, 2012
4:02:54 PM EDT)
Question 16

Wouid the City consider a proposal that offered a standard 2a-7 low fee institutional money fund as a liquidity option for
the cityés short term assets versus a separately managed cash portfolio? (Submittad: Apr 5, 2012 2:58:47 PM EDT)
Answer
- Yes. {Answered: Apr 5, 2012 3:10:56 PM EDT)
Question 17

Part 1I1- Special Conditions, Section 12 of Solicitation 125-10899 requires, in part, that Contractor agrees to provide
services not. identified in the contract. Please confirm that Contractor would not be required to provide additional services
except as may be agreed to by both parties in the form of a new contract or contract amendment. (Submitted: Apr 5, 2012
3:15:06 PM EDT)

Answer
- An additional services would be mutually agread to by both parties. (Answered: Apr 9, 2012 7:14:06 AM EDT)

Question 18
Solicitation 125-10899, General Conditions ¢ Part V- Purchase Order and Contract Terms, 5.12, reguires, in part, that

Bidt 325-10899
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Contractor make available to the City<s Internal Auditor, during normal hours and in Breward County, all books of account,
reports and records relating to this contract. A similar requirement is reflected in the sample IMA. Please confirm that a
Contractor that is not operating in Broward County does not need to maintain all of its advisory records related to the IMA
in Broward County. (Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 3:15;55 PM EDT)

Answer

- General Conditions

Part v
5.12 RECORDS/AUDIT: The Contractor shall maintain during the term of the contract all books of account, reports_and

records in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and standards for records directly related to this
contract. The Contractor agrees to make available to the Cityés Internal Auditor, during normal business hours and in
Broward, Miami-Dade or Palm Beach Counties, all books of account, reports and records refating to this contract should be
retained for the duration of the contract and for three years after the final payment under this Agreement, or until all
panding audits, investigations or litigation matters relating to the contract are closed, whichever is later.

The contractor needs to maintain all records as stated above and make readily available to the Auditor as requested. The
documentation does not have te be maintained in Broward, Miami-Dade or Palm Beach counties. {(Answered: Apr 6, 2012

4:35:28 PM EDT)

Question 19 :
Page 10 éInitially the process will require close coordination with the Director of Finance or designeeé. Please define

éclose coordinationé, Does this mean pre-clear all trades?

Page 5 {authorized Investment Institutions and Dealersé: Our approved list of Counterparties goes through an in-depth
internal approval process. May we work from our Approved Counterparty List in order to execute trades? Will each of our
counterparties be required to complete the Cityés Investment Firm Certification Form?

Page 6 {Maturity Guidelinesé ¢ ¢.shall have a final maturity of 10 years or less from the date of purchase. ¢ Is date of
purchase considered trade date or settlement date?

Thank you. {Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 3:34:50 PM EDT)

Answer
- 1. The investment manager will be in communication with the Director of Finance or designee to establish reporting

needs, necessary documentation, etc. It does not mean pre-clear trades.

2. Please define counterparty?
3. Settlement date. (Answered: Apr 6, 2012 4:35:28 PM EDT)

Question 20
On the Bid/Proposal Signature Page, under Variances,it states:
HAVE YOU STATED ANY VARIANCES OR EXCEPTIONS BELOW? BIDDER MUST CLICK THE EXCEPTION LINK IF ANY
VARIATION OR EXCEPTION IS TAKEN TO THE SPECIFICATIONS, TERMS AND CONDITIONS.
What is the exception link? (Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 3:43:32 PM EDT)

Answer
- This only applys to electronic bids. This is a PAPER BID ONLY. If you choose to take any variances, your firm may be

deemned non-responsive. (Answered: Apr 5, 2012 4:30:44 PM EDT)
Question 21

¢ In Section 7 (Fees in basis points), there exists a form that contemplates a two-tiered fee proposal with a breakpoint
at $150 miltion. Does the City intend to limit proposals to this framework, or wiil alternative fixed basis point fee structures
be considered in this solicitation? (Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 4:06:21 PM EDT}
Answer

- SEE ADDENDUM NO 2 ATTACHED DATED APRIL 9, 2012
Based on numerous questians regarding using only a two-tiered fee structure, please see Addendum No. 2 dated Apri! 9,

2012 with revised tiered structure. Please provide Addendum No. 2 with your revisad Basis Points for the revised Taired
Stucture with your RFP response. (Answered: Apr 9, 2012 4:02:54 PM EDT)
Question 22

In Section 8 (Cityés preferred tiers/categories), will selected managers be asked to execute strategies that operate only
within these tiers/categories or will they have the latitude to invest more broadly within the overall policy limits? Will the
City ask selected managers to manage multiple portfolios, across certain individual or multiple tiers/categories?
(Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 4:06:40 PM EDT)

Answer
- 1. Yet to be determined. Currently, the managers have the latitude to invest within the poficy fimits.

2. Also, yet to be determined. {Answered: Apr 5, 2012 2:35:28 PM EDT}

Question 23
Can the City please clarify its intention to have the funds held in a safekeeping Trust account? Wauld the city entertain

the use of commingled vehicles or mutual funds where assets are safekept at a third-party custodian in which the selected
manager has na business interast? (Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 4:06:56 PM EDT)
Answer

- 1. From the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) Best Practices:
¢In a third-party safekeeping agreement, the government arranges for a firm other than the party that sold the investment
to provide for the transfer and safekeeping of the securities. Financial firms should not serve as both government broker-
dealer and custodian. Safekeeping represents a financial institutionés obligation to act on behalf of the owner under the

ownerdés control. Custody Is a more clearly defined control position by the agent responding to the ownerés requirements,
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Custody normally does not take place in the governmental entities depository bank.

Investments should be settled in a delivery-versus-payment (DVP) basis. In this procedure, the buyer's payment for
securities is due at the time of delivery. Security delivery and payment occur simultaneously. This practice ensures that no
funds are at risk-in an investrment transaction as funds are not released until securities are delivered, ensuring the
governmental entity has either money or securities at all times during the transaction.é

2. If the comingled vehicles or mutual funds meet the criteria of the Cityés Investment Policy on individual investments and
maximure allocation, and the entity can provide a SSAE 16, Soc 1, Type 2 report. It would be allowed. (Answered: Apr 6,
2012 4:35:28 PM EDT)

Question 24

In Item 23 of Part 1I1 of the RFP, we note that the formal agreement template (the "Sample Agreement") may be
required to be executed. While we understand the City of Fort Lauderdale's (the "City") preference to use the Sample
Agreement, we would like to know whether the City provides contractors the opportunity to comment on the Sample
Agreement and if the City would consider certain changes to the Sample Agreement and incorporation of certain provisions
from the contractor's standard investment management agreement? (Submitted: Apr 5, 2012 4:09:35 PM EDT)
Answer
- The Contract for this RFP shall be the Sample Contract, the RFP document and any Addendum and answers/questions
and the Contractor's REP response. We encourage all contractors to agree to the City terms and conditions as stated in the
RFP and sample contract, or they may be deemed non-responsive. Final approval is from the City Attorney's office and the
City Commission. (Answered: Apr 6, 2012 4:35:28 PM EDT) :

Question 25

Since a SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type I report doesn't truly apply to Investment Managers will audited financials be an
appropriate proxy or does not having the SSAE 16 automatically disqualify applicants?
The Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type I report with their praposal. Awarded contractor will be
required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type II report annually during the term of this contract. If the Contractor cannot
provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type I report at the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.
Will our vendor SSAE repots be sufficient for this requirement?
Dur firm is working to provide a response to Bid 125-1089% request for Investment Management Services, We have a
question regarding the requirement below. As a reglstered investment advisor, we do not produce this report. We are
required to produce an ADV which could be provided. Would that be acceptable? I believe the report below reptaces SAS 70
reports which were for banking/custodial organizations. (Submitted: Apr 6, 2012 12:36:18 PM EDT)
Answer
- SEE ADDENDUM NO 2 ATTACHED DATED APRIL 9, 2012
The following pafagraphs in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted in its entirety:
PART I ¢ INTRODUCTION INFORMATION, ITEM 05. ELIGIBILITY {second paragraph),
PART III ¢ SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 24. SPECIAL INFORMATION CONTROLS, and PART VIII (PROPOSED PAGES &
TECHNICAL PROPOSAL, Tab 9, which states the following:
{The Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report with their propesal. Awarded contractor will be
required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type II report annually during the term of this contract.'If the Contractor cannot
provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report at the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.c

And shall be replaced with the following SSAE 16 requirements: )

The Centractor(s) or all investment managers shall be required to provide a SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type 2 Report, within six (6)
months from the effective date of the contract. The SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type II Report will be required each year for the term
of the contract. This includes third party entities. No other documentation shall be accepted. (Answered: Apr 9, 2012

4:02:54 PM EDT)
Question 26

In the accounts lost table (Question 5.B.) located in Part VII, should respendents include clients who did not renew a
marager’s contract during a rebidding process (in which the incumbant manager was invited to rebid) foilowing a termed
contract? (Su_bmitted: Apr 6, 2012 12:44:35 PM EDT)

Answer
- Yes. (Answered: Apr 9, 2012 12:27:13 PM EDT)

Question 27
Regarding Tab 9, while cur firm is a federally registered investment adviser, it is not deemed a "qualified custodian" as

defined under Rule 206(4)-2 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended. Therefore, it is not subject to a SSAE16
internat control verification review. However, our risk management structure includes business-line controfs as well as
audits and assessments performed internally and by our parent company. We are willing to discuss these processes in
detail in Tab 9. Given that we do not fit the Act's definltion of a "qualified custedian” and are not subject to such SSAE 16
reviews, is this how the City would request our firm to proceed? (Submitted: Apr 6, 2012 12:45:27 PM EDT}

Answer

- SEE ADDENDUM NO 2 ATTACHED DATED APRIL 9, 2012

The following paragraphs in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted in its entirety:

PART I ¢ INTRODUCTION INFORMATION, ITEM 05. ELIGIBILITY (second paragraph},

PART III ¢ SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 24, SPECIAL INFORMATION CONTROLS, and PART VIII éPROPOSED PAGES ¢
TECHNICAL PROPOSAL, Tab 9, which states the following:

éThe Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report with their proposal. Awarded contractor will be
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required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type II report annually during the term of this contract. If the Contractor cannot
provide the SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report at the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report will be accepted.é

And shall be replaced with the following SSAE 16 requirements:
The Contractor(s) or all investment managers shalt be required to provide a SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type 2 Report, within six {6)

months from the effective date of the contract. The SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type II Report will be required each year for the term
of the contract. This includes third party entities. No other documentation shall be accepted. (Answered: Apr 9, 2012
4:02:54 PM EDT)
Question 28

In the fifth paragraph of "Part VI-Requirements of the Proposal,” the City states "Contractor should submit (5) coples of
your proposal on a CD." Boes this request calf for five identical PDF copies of the proposal docurment to be induded on the
CD? Or s the City requesting 5 CDs, each of which includes a single copy of the proposal? (Submitted: Apr 6, 2012

12:45:52 PM EDT)

Answer
- The City is requesting {3} Paper coples of your proposal- with one marked as "original". The City is also asking for your

original proposal downloaded an (5) CD's, so we have (5) additional copies of your proposal on CD's. (Answered: Apr 9,
2012 7:14:06 AM EDT)

Question 29
Would a selected manager have the flexibility to dedicate mora than 25% to corporates in their portfolio? (Submitted:
Apr 6, 2012 12:49:38 PM EDT)

Answer
- No. (Answered: Apr9, 2012 12:27:13 PM EDT)

Question 30
1. Could you please confirm that the total assets (approximately $542 million) would be split across two mandates, one
which would be benchrnarked against the Merrifi Lynch 1-3 Year Treasury Index and one which would be benchmarked

against the 90-Day T-Bill Index? o
2. If #1 is yes, would it be possible for a firm to submit a bid for just one of those mandates, or would participation in bids

for both mandates be required?
3. Do the sector maximum percentages indicated in the Investment Poficy that was provided refer to maximums that each
portfollo would need to adhere to, or are these maximums for the fund as a whole? (Submitted: Apr 6, 2012 5:07:47 PM

EDT) :

Answer
- 1. The market value of the Cityés assets was approximately $542 million on 12/31/2011. Since these funds are include

operating funds and bond proceeds, the total available for investmant fluctuates or an annuaf basis. The City may hold
funds liquidity purposes and not allocate to any investment manager. And the funds the City decides to allocate will be
altocated to up to four investment managers, not necessarily split into {two mandates.é

2. NfA
3. These are tht maximums for the City's funds as a whole (Answered: Apr 9, 2012 12:27:13 PM EDT)
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BID/PROPOSAL SIGNATURE PAGE

How to submit bids/proposals: Proposals must be submitted by hard copy only. It will be the sole
responsibility of the Bidder to ensure that the bid reaches the City of Fort Lauderdale, City Hall, Procurement
Services Division, Suite 619, 100 N. Andrews Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301, prior to the bid opening
date and time listed. Bids/proposals submitted by fax or email will NOT be accepted.

The below signed hereby agrees to furnish the following article(s) or services at the price(s) and terms
stated subject to all instructions, conditions, specifications addenda, legal advertisement, and conditions
contained in the bid. | have read all attachments including the specifications and fully understand what is
required. By submitting this signed proposal | will accept a contract if approved by the CITY and such
acceptance covers all terms, conditions, and specifications of this bid/proposal.

Please Note: All fields below must be co
field.

leted. If the field does not apply to you, please note N/A in that

4/12/2012

Submitted by: _ ‘ ‘
(signature) {date)

Name (printed)___Christopher i. Greco : Title: Partner

Company: {Legal Registration)__ Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC

CONTRACTOR, IF FOREIGN CORPORATION, MAY BE REQUIRED TO OBTAIN A CERTIFICATE OF
AUTHORITY FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH FLORIDA STATUTE
§607.1501 {visit http:/'www.dos.state.fl.us/ ).

Address: 1579 The Greens Way, Suite 20

City__Jacksonville Beach, - _ State_FL_____ Zip_32250
- Telephone No.-{904} 493-5500 __FAX No. t9’04)493-5522 __Email Qrecqc@saw—qrass.com

Delivery: Calendar days after receipt of Purchase Order (section 1.02 of General Conditions):

Payment Terms (section 1.04): ‘ Total Bid Discount (section 1.05):;

- Does your firm qualify for MBE or WBE status {section 1.09): MBE WBE

ADDENDUM ACKNOWLEDGEMENT - Proposer acknowledges that the following addenda have been
received and are included in the proposal: ' o : -

Addendum No. : ' - Date Issued
P-CARDviII your firm accept the City’s Credit Card as payment for goods/services?

NO

VARIANCES: State any variations to specifications, terms and conditions in the space provided below or
reference in the space provided below all variances contained on other pages of bid, attachments or bid
pages. No variations or exceptions by the Proposer will be deemed to be part of the bid submitted unless
such variation or exception is listed and contained within the bid documents and referenced in the space
provided below. If no statement is contained in the below space, it is hereby implied that your bid/proposal
complies with the full scope of this solicitation. HAVE YOU STATED ANY VARIANCES OR EXCEPTIONS
BELOW? BIDDER MUST CLICK THE EXCEPTION LINK IF ANY VARIATION OR EXCEPTION IS TAKEN
TO_THE SPECIFICATIONS, TERMS AND CONDITIONS. If this section does not apply to your bid, simply
mark N/A in the section below,

Variances:

revised 11-29-11






NON-COLIUSION STATEMENT:

By signing this offer, the vendor/contractor certifies that this offer is made independently and free from
coliusion. Vendor shall disclose below any City of Fort Lauderdale, FL officer or employee, or any
relative of any such officer or employee who is an officer or director of, or has a material interest in,
the vendor's business, who is in a position to influence this procurement.

Any City of Fort Lauderdale, FL officer or employee who has any input into the writing of specifications
or requirements, solicitation of offers, decision to award, evaluation of offers, or any other activity
pertinent to this procurement is presumed, for purposes hereof, to be in a position to influence this
procurement.

For purposes hereof, a person has a material interest if they directly or indirectly own more than 5
percent of the total assets or capital stock of any business entity, or if they otherwise stand to
personally gain if the contract is awarded to this vendor.

In accordance with City of Fort Lauderdale, FL Policy and Standards Manual, 6.10.8.3,

3.3. Clty employees may not contract with the City through any corporatlon or business entity in
which they or their immediate family members hold a controlling financial interest (e.g.
ownership of five (5) percent or more).

3.4. Immediate family members (spouée, parents and children) are also prohibited from
contracting with the City. subject to the same general rules. ‘ :

Faliure of a vendor to disclose any relationship descrlbed herem shall be reason for
debarment in accordance with the provisions of the City Procurement Code.

NAME ' ' RELATIONSHIPS

N/A - None - A None

In the event the vendor does not indicate any names, the City shall interpret this to mean that
the vendor has indicated that no such relationships exist.
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SAWGRASS

) Asset Management, L.L.C.

April 12, 2012

Mr. Michael F, Walker
Procurement & Contracts Manager
City of Ft. Lauderdale

100 N, Andrews Avenue, Room 619
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301

Re: RFP #125-10899 - Investment Management Services
Dear Michael,

On behalf of the entire investment team here at Sawgrass Asset Management, | would like to thank you
and your colleagues for your consideration of our investment services.

Sawgrass was founded in January of 1998 as an institutional investment firm specializing in Public Funds,
and over the years we have helped our clients achieve their investment goals over the long run with less
volatility than the market. We hope we are able to add the City of Ft. Lauderdale to the list of clients we
are extremely proud to work for every day.

Our 23 person firm is built upon our professionals and clients, and we are proud to share this proposal
with you to represent our experience and ability to provide the City of Ft. Lauderdale with the very best
investment management services. Sawgrass is proposing to manage your account in our Short-term
Fixed Income strategy. Our RFP response is attached herein for your review. Sawgrass understands the .
scope of services to be provided and is committed to performing this task.

The portfolio manager responsible for managing your account would be David Furfine, CFA, and Chris
Greco would be responsible for managing the relationship. These individuals would be available to meet
with appropriate staff and trustees as needed. Mr. Furfine holds a Chartered Financial Analyst
designation and has 28 years of investment experience managing public funds. We place a large
empbhasis on understanding your needs and creating a portfolio that will meet your changing needs,
going forward. Our firm will be abie to become an extension of your finance department’s staff and will
provide you with industry leading client service.

For any questiens or clarification of this proposal, please contact me at the following:
Chris Greco
Phone: (904} 493-5504
Fax: (904) 493-5522
E-mail: grecoc@saw-grass.com

Thank you again for your time and interest in Sawgrass Asset Management.

Sincerely,

s

Chris Greco, Partner
Institutional Marketing & Client Service

1579 The Greens Way * Suite 20 © Jacksonville Beach, Florida 32250 « Telephone: 904-493.5500 + 'Toll Free: 1-860-493-5500






CITY OF FORT LAUDERPALEK

Statement of Proposed Services

Experience:

RIS

The professionals at Sawgrass have more than 20 years of experience in developing investment poiici.és and
managing portfolios for public funds and governmental entities. Our firm has focused our client service

efforts here in Florida since our inception.

Sawgrass currently works with 64 municipalities across the State of Florida, and we are very proud to help
each one attain its unique investment goals over various market environments. We have included a map of
our Florida Public Clients as SAWGRASS EXHIBIT IV. As a Florida-based, Registered Investment Advisor, we
accept fiduciary responsibility for our investment process and decisions. We have helped educate our
clients and their respective constituenis over the years through presentations to city managers, city

councils, etc.

Our overall focus on high-quality fixed income securities is designed to help provide our clients with safety of
capital, enhanced return potential, and a lower risk profile than our assigned benchmarks. Many of our
clients appreciate the consistency of our performance and the people at Sawgrass who provide the results
year in and year out. Our empioyee ownership provides our clients with the comfort that the people
managing their money in the past will have a vested interest in the success of the relationship going forward.
Our industry is built upon its people, and our team of Jacksonville, Florida-based investment professionals is
positioned to provide the City of Ft. Lauderdale with exceptional investment solutions and client service

delivery.

Professionals:

Sawgrass has included complete biographies of the members of the Sawgrass fixed income team as
SAWGRASS EXHIBIT V. We have included a fixed income team summary on the following page:

Sawgrass Statement of Proposed Services - RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management



The Sawgrass Fixed Income Team

Andrew Cantor, CFA — Lead Portfolio Manager for Core Fixed Income Portfolios
Principal, — Fixed Income Committee Member
Co-Director of Fixed income — Responsibie for Overall Interest Rate Outl ook
Investing — Corporate/Credit Sector Specialist
DaVid Furfine, CFA . = Main Contact for the. Clty of Ft. Lauderdale
o . Partner, © —'Lead Portfolio Manager for Short & Interm leed Income Portfoilos _
_ Ca Director of Fixed Income : m leed Income Commlttee Member -
Short-term Fixed Income Pertfolia Manager - Mortgage -backed Security (MBS} Sector Spemahst
| — Respons:ble for Overall Duration Ma nagement -
Eric Zarkovich, CFA : — Responsible for Security and Market Analysis
Fixed Income Portfolio Manager — Fixed Income Committee Member
— Assistin Portfolio Management Review & Monitoring

Liridon Gila, CFA " — Responsible for Security and Market Analysis

Fixed Income Analyst — Fixed Income Committee Member
— Assistin Portfolio Management Review & Monitoring

Alicia Dator : — Trading & Custodian Reconciliations
April December — Settlernent Issues with Bank Relationships
Jason Bell — Technology
Cathryn Creighton
Patti Little

Investment Operations/ Technology

Investment Management Approach and Discipline

Sawgrass believes that inefficiencies in fixed income markets create opportunities that compensate for active
risk. Identifying these opportunities requires a thorough analysis of capital markets, asset fundamentals and
technical factors overlaid with a qualitative assessment formed by Sawgrass’ extensive experience and
judgment. Our approach to portfolio construction takes measured risks and optimizes allocations to
investment ideas across alpha sources designed to create superior risk-adjusted returns,

¢ Future trends in interest rates over the next 12-18 months have some predictability. These trends can
be evaluated with an analysis of current market fundamentals, technical factors, economic activity and
historical interest rate patterns, inclusive of interest rate volatility and the slope of the yield curve.
The firm also believes that it is challenging to predict changes in interest rates over shorter time

periods.

» Mariet inefficiencies are often observed at the sector level. These inefficiencies are identified by
reviewing current fundamental and technical factors relative to historical values and in comparison

Sawgqrass Statement of Proposed Services - RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management 2



with other sectors. Portfolios are positioned to over-weight sectors that offer the best relative value
on a risk-adjusted basis.

e Active positioning in individual securities offers opportunity to add alpha in a portfolio. Undervalued
securities can be identified through both an absolute and relative value analysis, comparing the
expected future return of a security against its’ future, current and historic fundamentals as well as
against its’ peers. Sawgrass believes the most effective way to limit individual security risk is by
evaluating specific credit fundamentals. Secondarily, the risk of any one security is minimized by
proper security diversification.

Sawgrass is proposing our Short-term (1-5 Year) Fixed Income strategy that is managed relative to the
Bank of America Merrill Lynch 1-5 Year Government/Corporate index. This strategy includes a higher
weighting of corporate securities, ranging from 25-50% over time, as these securities offer a higher return
with better downside protection with minimal additional risk. This allocation limit is more than what is
permitted by your current investment policy; we are recommending changes to your policy to
accommodate our use of corporate securities.

Notwithstanding the above, based on our experience with governmental institutions such as the City of
Ft. Lauderdale, we understand the need to maintain a conservative investment policy and allocation.
Generally speaking, the funds that are in excess of near-term working capital needs should be invested in
a short-term, high-quality, fixed income strategy. Sawgrass can readily accommodate the specific
circumstance of the City of Ft. Lauderdale in constructing a portfolio to meet the unique needs of the City.

Sawgrass’ Active Short-term Fixed Income Process:

The Sawgrass Short-term Fixed investible bond universe consists of U.S. dollar denominated government,
high-quality corporate, and mortgage-backed securities. The portfolio has an effective duration that ranges
from 2-3 years and an average maturity that ranges from 2-4 years and there are currently no sector
constraints. The goal of this product is to generate investment returns which exceed 1-year Treasury Bills by
100 basis points over a market cycle. The current benchmark is the Bank of America Merrill Lynch 1-5 Year
Government/Corporate index. We believe this index is most similar to your investment policy in that it allows
for a maturity of up to five years, an average duration of up to three years, and a diversified sector
distribution, '

Evaluation of fixed income markets begins with an analysis of the potential returns and risks within the four
alpha sources {interest rates, yield curve structure, sectors, and securities), comparing the relative value of
each source to determine investment themes for the portfolio. These themes are then validated through
further fundamental research to screen for the best ideas, which are used to construct an optimal portfolio
within a portfolio’s guidelines and restrictions. Once the portfolio is constructed, positions and risks are
actively monitored in order to maintain targeted exposures and iteratively improve the portfolio’s
poasitioning.

Interest rate and yield curves are evaluated first by reviewing current and historical market factors, to include
historical real rates and inflation, yield curve structure, momentum indicators, and rate volatility. These
factors are considered in conjunction with a thorough economic analysis that includes an evaluation of
expectations on economic growth, inflation, and fiscal and monetary policy. This analysis forms our opinion
on the expected trend of interest rate changes over the next 12-18 months, which is scored based on the
likelihood of change. The likely change in interest rates and yield curve structure is compared against the
absolute risk of the prediction and relative risk-return of other investment ideas.

Sawgrass Statement of Proposed Services - RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management 3



Our sector analysis begins by using a proprietary model to determine relative value among sectors. The
model evaluates current sector spreads relative to each sector's historical levels as well as across sectors
while incorporating for fundamental and technical factors. The results of this analysis are developed into a
score for each sector based on the strength of their underlying fundamentals and relative valuations {cheap
vs. rich.) The sectors with the best fundamental score and relative cheapness are considered to be potential
investment ideas to overweight in the portfolio. We then complete further research into the sector to
determine whether the mispricing is temporary, a pricing inefficiency that can add value, or likely to persist
due to a change in the market’s pricing of the sector’s risk. Additionally, each investment idea is compared
against its absolute risk and relative to the potential return-risk profile of other investment ideas.

Our security selection process begins by screening the universe with a proprietary relative value model. The
model reviews the credit quality of an issuer’s fundamentals based on multiple financial metrics. Issuers are
also compared based on their current and historical cash and CDS spreads te determine relative value among
issuers. Issuers with the best fundamental and relative value scores are candidates for inclusion in the
portfolio. These investment ideas are then validated with further research to determine whether all of the
current news and any financial changes are reflected in the model’s output. Best security ideas are then
compared on a risk-adjusted basis against all other securities and other investment ideas from the sector and

interest rate analysis.

An optimal portfolio is constructed by comparing the ideas generated through the analytical and screening
steps with portfolio guidelines. Allocation across sectors and selection of securities is completed to ensure
risks are measured and diversified within prescribed risk targets. The resulting portfolio has a profile that
meets the long-term return ohjectives. The portfolio then is constantly monitored and adjusted to reflect

changes in market fundamentals and value.

Portfolio Structure and Liquidity:

We maintain an active portfolio that seeks to be fully invested, therefore cash reserves are typically less than
five percent and are a function of the timing of buy and sell programs. All securities within the portfolio are
very liquid with a significant portion available for same day settlement given proper notice. We expect on any
given day that the City of Fort Lauderdale’s liquidity needs can be met with very little disruption.

The following graphs describe the portfolio structure of a representatlue Short-term Fixed Income account as
of March 31, 2012:

Maturity Distribution Sector Distribution

60.0% 60.0%

50.0% 50.0%

40.0% 40.0%

300% 30:0%
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20.0%
10.0%

10.0% I

- wl —
0.0% T d Cash Treasury Agency Corporate Agency
a1 13 35 Morigages
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At Sawgrass, every element of our fixed income process is tested and designed to add value to our client
portfolios. Importantly, we believe strongly that value is not only added by the contribution to enhanced
returns but also by controlling risk. Some of the key strategies we employ to achieve these goals are as
follows:

= Managing Portfolic Duration to Reflect our Interest Rate Expectations —
We believe, and have demonstrated that over a market cycle, our portfolio duration adjustments
have protected portfolio value during periods of rising interest rates while taking advantage of rising
bond values during period of falling interest rates. To control the overall risk of the portfolic and-
recognizing the inherent uncertainty of interest rates, we limit such duration adjustments to a band
within 20 percent of the benchmark index.

e Utilization of Corporate Debt —
We befieve high-quality corporate securities are a further source of added value to our client
portfolios, taking advantage of their added vield potential. By selectively limiting our purchases to
debt of companies with strong credit measures we are able to enhance portfolio yields without
incurring an unacceptable level of credit risk.

» Utilization of US Agency Mortgage-backed Securities —
We believe these securities are an additional source of portfolio yield enhancement. Through our
careful analysis of security characteristics and attributes we have demonstrated the value of

selected mortgage backed securities in portfolios.

¢ Seeking Best Execution through Technology and Trading Tools —
An important part of adding value to our client portfolios is our utilization of technology and trading
tools used to seek best execution. This technology allows us to competitively obtain best prices or
negotiate aggressively on behalf of our clients every time we execute a peortfolio transaction.

Sawgrass Statement of Proposed Services - RFP #125-10899 for Fixed income Investment Management 5



Sawgrass Recommendation: {%;1

Sawgrass is recommending that the City of Ft. Lauderdale increase the limitation of corporate securities from
a maximum of 25% to a maximum of 50%, as this offers a higher return with better downside protection with

minimal additional risk.

Sawgrass Overall Philosophy:

Sawgrass’ broadly diversified fixed income strategies place a premium on high-quality investment grade
- securities; simultaneously halancing risk, returns & liquidity for our clients,

Message to the City of Ft. Lauderdale:

We are confident we can effectively manage your investment portfolio through our thorough
understanding of your investment needs and goals. Sawgrass will provide you with full access to our
investment team and this team will work closely with your Finance Department throughout our
relationship. We pride ourselves on our ability to customize your portfolio and constantly monitor

your investment policy parameters. We would like to work with you to fulfill your investment
needs, and we hope that Sawgrass can become your investment partner.

For all of us at Sawgrass Asset Management, thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Chris Gr_eco, Partner : " David Furfine, CFA, Partner

Sawgrass Statement of Proposed Services - RFP #125-10899 for Fixed income investment Management 6



2011-2012 BUSINESS TAX RECEIPT

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE/DUVAL COUNTY J
MICHAEL CORRIGAN, TAX COLLECTOR C O?

231 E FORSYTH STREET ROOM 130 JACKSONVILLE, FL 32202-3370
PHONE: (904) B30-1918 option 3 FAX: (904) 630-1432
WEBSITE: www.coj.netftc ‘
Note — A penalty is imposed for failure to keep this receipt exhibited conspicuously at your place of business.
This receipt is furnished pursuance of chapter 770-772 City ordinance codes.

SAWGRASS ASSET MANAGEMENT, LLC
ANDREW M CANTOR

1579 THE GREENS WY

STE20

JACKSONVILLE, FL 32250-1418

ACCOUNT NUMBER:
LOCATION ADDRESS:

DESCRIPTION:

COUNTY RECEIPT D 75.00
MUNICIPAL RECEIP X: 0.00
X PAID; 75.00

eptember 1,

**ATTENTION***
THIS RECEIPT IS FOR BUSINESS TAX RECEIPT ONLY.
CERTAIN BUSINESS MAY REQUIRE ADDITIONAL STATE LICENSING.

This is a business tax receipt only. It does not permit the receiptholder to violate any existing regulatory or zoning laws of
the County or City. Nor does it exempt the receiptholder from any other license or permit required by law. This is not a
certification of the licensee's qualifications.

TAX COLLECTOR
- THIS BECOMES A RECEIPT AFTER VALIDATION.

PAID-3391304.00601-0001 m01 07/12/2011 75.00






OPID: LY
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY}

| i
ACORD CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE 03119112

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
| [~ ’RESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

“1mPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy{ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER ) 904-354-3785 Name:
501 Riveraide Aue. Suilte 1000 904-634-1302] X9, oo, TR o
Jacksonville, FL 32202 EMAL s
CUSTOMER 1D # SAWGR-1
INSURER(S) AFFORDING COQVERAGE - NAIC &
INSURED Sawgrass Asset Management LLC msurer A : Old Dominion Insurance Co 40231
1579 The Graens Way #20 nsurer 8 : St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. 24767
Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250 surer ¢ : Federal Insurance Company 20281
INSURER D !
INSURER E :
INSURER F :
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMEER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS 13 TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT CR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TQ ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

iy TYPE OF INSURANCE NSR Lunn] POLICY NUMBER (ARDDIYY YY) | (BB YY) LTS
| GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE § 1,000,000
A [ X | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY BPG4630B 03M1M7M2 | 03H7M3 EQ’.;“,G%EE; ?EEEEIEELHCE) $ 500,000
| CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR MED EXP (Any ore person) | § 5,000;
| PERSONAL & ADV INJURY | 8 1,000,000
_— GENERAL AGGREGATE 3 2,000,000
GENL AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: PRODUCTS - COMPIOP AGG | 3 2,000,000
| eoey[ [B% Loc H&NO Auto s 1,000,000
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
—— {Ea accident) 8 1’000'000
| | ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per persan} | §
|| AL OWNED AUTOS BODILY INJURY {Per accldert)| §
|| sCHEDULED AUTOS PROPERTY DAMAGE
A L HIRED AUTOS BPG4630B 031712 03/17/13 | (Per accident) $
A | X | NON-OWNED AUTOS BPG4630B 03M7M2 | 03H7M3 $
$
| X |umerewauas | X [ occur - | EACH OCCURRENCE $ 2,000,000
EXCESS LIAB X 2,000,000
A CLAIMS-MADE CUG46308 031712 031713 AGGREGATE 3
DEDUCTIBLE E&O/D&O 3 $2.5mm X8
RETENTION _§ NONE 14P77240 $ $7.5mm
WORKERS COMPENSATION WC STATU- OTH-
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY YIN LEQEYAMTS | ER
A | ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE WCG4630B 03M17/112 | 03/M7M3 |EL EACH ACCIDENT $ 100,000
COFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUCED? I:I NiA
{Mandatory in NH} E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE] $ 100,000
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT | § 500,000
C [Fiductary Fldelity 82122851 031712 03/17/13 (Fidelity 19,455,040,
C  |Errors & Omissions 82081205 03/17M12 | 03/17/13 |E&Q/DEO 7,500,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VERICLES {Attach ACCRO 101, Additlonal Remarks Schedute, if more space Is required)
Financial Planners

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION
PROOFO1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
Proof of Coverage Only ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

W

© 1988-2009 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
ACORD 25 (2009/09) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE







INSURER: POLICY NO: WCG4630B
NGM INSURANCE COMPANY
ggg%ErggggTON ROAD EAST RENEWAL OF: WCG4630B
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32245-6000 NCCI Company No:

Account No: CACG4630B
ITEM 1. NAMED INSURED AND MAILING ADDRESS: AGENCY NAME AND ADDRESS:
SAWGRASS ASSET MANAGEMENT LLC HARDEN AND ASSOCIATES-BT
1579 THE GREENS WAY STE 20
JACKSONVILLE BEACH FL 501 RIVERSIDE AVE STE 10040
32250-1418 : JACKSONVILLE, FL 32202

LEGAL ENTITY: LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
OTHER WORKPLACES NOT SHOWN ABOVE: (See Workers Compensation Location Schedule)

ITEM 2.

ITEM 3.
A

ITEM 4.

WCO000001A Copyright 1987 National Council an Compensation Insurance

WORKERS COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE POLICY —INFORMATION PAGE

AGENCY PHONE NO.: (904) 354-3785

AGENCY NO.: 090502

POLICY PERIOD: - From: 03-17-2012 To: 03-17-2013
Effective 12:01 A.M. Standard Time at the Insured’s mailing address.
COVERAGE:

Workers Compensation insurance: Part One of the policy applies to the Workers Compensation Law of the states

listed here:
FL

Employers’ Liability Insurance: Part Two of the policy applies to work in each state listed in ltem 3
liability under Part Two are:

Bodily Injury by Accident: $ 100,000 each accident

Bodity Injury by Disease: $ 500,000 palicy limit

Bodily Injury by Disease: $ ‘100,000 each employee
Other States Insurance: Part Three of the policy applies to the states, if any, listed here:

all states except: ND, OH, WA, WY
and states designated in ITEM 3A of the information page.

This Policy includes these Endorsements and Schedules:
See Schedule of Forms and Endorsements.

PREMIUM: The premium for this Policy will be determined by our Manuals of Rules, Classifications
Rating Plans. All information required on the Workers Compensation Classification Schedule is su
verification and change by audit. Please see Classification Schedule. ‘

Expense Constant: 200 Total Estimated
Minimum Premium: $ 220 Annual Premium: $ 6,839
Audit Period: ANNUAL

Date: 01-10-2012 Countersigned by

A, The limits of

, Rates and
bject to

Page1of 4







INSURED

=200 DOMINION
INSURANCE COMPANY
4601 Toushton Road East, Sta. 3300

,c'é P.0. Box 16100, Jacksonville, FL 32245-8100
b - Telephone: 1-904-642-3000 / 1-800-226-0876

SPECIAL COMMERCIAL PACKAGE POLICY

Named Insured and Mailing Address

SAWGRASS ASSET MANAGEMENMT LLC Policy Number: BPG4630B
Account Number: CACG4630B

1579 THE GREENS WAY #20
JACKSONVILLE BEACH, FL 32250

Agent: HARDEN AND ASSOCIATES Producer Code: 090459003
AGENT PHONE : 904 354 3785

POLICYHOLDER INFORMATION

Named Insureds Business: OFFICE
Entity: LIM LIAR CO
Policy Term: 12
Effective: 03/17/12 (12:01 A.M, Standard Time at the address
Expiration: 03/17/713% of the Named Insured slated ahove)

In return for the payment of the premium and subject 1o all the terms of this policy, we agree with you to provide
the insurance as stated in this policy. See the attached schedules for Description of Premises, Property Coverage,
Oplional Coverages, Forms and Endorsements applying to this policy and Mortgagee Schedule if applicable.

LIABILITY COVERAGE ' LIMITS OF INSURANCE
Liability & Medical Expenses - each occurrence ¢ 1,000,000
Persanal and Advertising Injury Limit $ 1.000,000
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limil $¢ 2.000,000
General Aggregate Limit ¢ 2,000,000
Fire Legal Liability - any one fire or explosion & 500,000
Medical Expense Limit - per person $ 5,800

Business Liability and Medical Expense: Except for Fire Legal Liability, each paid claim for the above cover-
ages reduces the amoun! of insurance we provide during the applicable annual period,

For policies subject to premium audit: Annual Audit Applies.

Total Annual Premium; $ 2,883
FL RECOUPMENT: $ 58.hH8
FL EMPAT FUND: $ 4.00
FL FIRE MARSHALL: $ 2.78
TOTAL PREMIUM AND CHARGES $ 2,948.36
—— “untersigned:  _ By:

64-5255 (1/04) 02701712 RENEWAL JC
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) CETY OF FURT LAUDERDALE

Many of our clients have utilized our expertise in developing their new investment policy statements
along with target allocations. We would encourage the City of Fi. Lauderdale to contact any of our
clients to discuss our ability 1o manage and service their account over the years. Our firm works with
several reserve clients and we are very proud to help each one attain their investment goals over
various market environments.

Sawgrass is proud to offer the following five client references:

City of Jacksonville, Florida

Contact Name: Mr. Patrick Greive, CFA, CFP

Title: Chief investment Officer

Phone Number: _ ' {904} 630-5940

Fax Number:: ‘ : (904} 630-3615

Email Address: PGreive@col.net

Lengih of Time Manoged: ' _ ' 7 Years

Services Performed: Short Fixed Income (1-3 year maturity)

and Core Fixed Income {1-30 year}

City of Altamonte Springé, Florida

. Contact Name: Mr. Mark DeBord
Title: ' Firance Director
Phone Number: | T (407) 571-8090
Fax Number: o (407} 571-8082
Email Address: ' mbdeboerd@altamonte.org
Length of Time Mandaged: _ ' 5% Years '
_ Services Performed: _ Short Fixed Income (1-5 year maturity)

City of Daytona Beoch

Contact Name: Mis, Kathie Eichinger

Title: Finance Services Manager

Phone Number: (386} 671-8062

Fax Number: (386) 671-3228

Email Address: eichingerk@codb.us

Length of Time Muoanaged: Hired December 2011

Services Performed: Short Fixed Income (1-3 yeor maturity)

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management
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North Broward Hospital
Contact Name:

Title:

Phone Number:

Fax Number:

Email Address:

Length of Time Managed:

Services Performed:

Mr. Art Wallace .
Chief Financial Officer

(954) 344-3124

{954} 355-4966

awallace@browardhealth.org

2% Years

Short Fixed Income (>1 year maturity)

Flagler Hospital & Flagler Healthcare Foundation

Contact Name:
Title:
Phone Number:
Fax Number:
Email Address:
- Length of Time Munaged:
Services Performed:

Ms. bynda Kirker
Chief Financial Officer
{(904) 825-4400

(904) 825-4472

lynda.kirker@flaglerhospital.org

- 10X Years

Core Fixed Income {1-30 year maturity)

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management 2
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/;% ﬂ)CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE

1. Organization
A. Company Name

Sawgrass Asset Management, L.L.C.
{(herein referred to as “Sawgrass” or “the firm”)

B. Principal Address

1579 The Greens Way, Suite 20
Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250

C. Telephone Numbers — Principal and Fax

Main {904) 493-5500
Toll Free {866) 493-5500
Fax (904) 493-5522

Main Contacts for the City of Ft. Lauderdale:

David Furfine, CFA, Partner, Co-Director of Fixed Income Direct Line: (904) 493-5512
Chris Greco, Partner, Marketing & Client Service Direct Line: (904) 493-5504

D. Email Address(es)
Main Contacts for the City of Ft. Lauderdale:

David Furfine, CFA, Partner, Co-Director of Fixed Income furfined@saw-grass.com
Chris Greco, Partner, Marketing & Client Service grecoc{@saw-grass.com

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed income Investment Management



E. Describe the organization, date founded and ownership of your firm and regulatory bodies your
firm reports to. Has the firm experienced a significant change in organizational structure,
ownership or management during the past three years and, if so, please describe.

Sawerass is a 100 percent employee-owned registered investment advisor, regulated by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC). Sawgrass is based in Jacksonville, Florida and since the firm’'s
founding on January 15, 1998, our primary focus has been managing assets with a specific focus on
institutional client relationships. The business of asset management is the firm’s sole focus. Sawgrass
is not affiliated with any other organization and has not experienced a significant change in
organizational structure, ownership or management during the past three years.

Our firm’s core group of investment professionals has worked together for more than two decades, as

Sawgrass was founded by its active principals Andrew Cantor, Dean McQuiddy, and Brian Monroe as a

lift-out from Registered Investment Advisor, Barnett Capital Advisors, Inc.

Sawgrass provides active high-quality fixed income and growth equity investment management
services to institutional investors. Our products include core, intermediate and short-term fixed
income as well as large and small cap growth equity portfolios. The portfolio managers at Sawgrass
have an average of more than 25 years of experience in establishing and managing investment
portfolios in these products. We pride ourselves in being responsive and providing tailored, client-

specific reporting.

F. Describe any other business affiliations (e.g., subsidiaries, joint ventures, “soft dollar”
arrangements with brokers).

Sawgrass does not act as a broker or primary dealer in securities and is not affiliated with any other

organization. Some brokers that Sawgrass deals with provide research materials, however, the firm
does not use fixed income trading to provide third party services.

G. ldentify the types of accounts primarily managed by your firm.
Sawgrass maintains a diversified client mix that includes Public, Taft-Hartley, Foundation/

Endowment, Health Care, Corporate and Sub-Advisory, with types of accounts including institutional
operating, reserve assets, pension and retirement funds.

H. Does the firm have an office in the State of Florida?

Sawgrass’ sole office is located in the State of Florida, at the following address. The firm has remained

in Jacksonville since the inception of the firm in January 1998 and is proud to call the State of Florida
our home.

1579 The Greens Way, Suite 20, Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250 Main Line: (904) 493-5500

Main Contacts for the City of Ft. Lauderdale:
David Furfine, CFA, Partner, Co-Director of Fixed Income Direct Line: (904) 493-5512
Chris Greco, Partner, Marketing & Client Service Direct Line: (904} 493-5504

Sawgrass has several clients in South Florida, so we are in the area frequently.

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management



Is your firm a registered investment advisor under the Investment Advisor’s Act of 19407 Please
attach Part Il of your most recent Form ADV.

Yes, Sawgrass is registered as an Independent Investment Advisor with the SEC under the Investment

Advisor’s Act of 1940. Our file number is 801-55243. As a Florida-based Registered Investment
Advisor, we accept fiduciary respensibility for our investment process and decisions.

Our complete Form ADV Part 2 (with supplement) has been included as SAWGRASS EXHIBIT |

Describe any SEC, NASD or any other regulatory censure or litigation involving your firm during
the past five years.

There has been no SEC, NASD or any other regulatory censure or litigation involving Sawgrass during
the past five years.

Summarize fidelity bond coverage, errors and omissions, employee dishonesty, fiduciary
liability insurance, or other fiduciary coverage your firm carries. Provide a Certificate of

Insurance,

Sawgrass carries the following insurance with the following carriers:
$10,000,000 in Errors and Omissions Insurance {Chubb & Travelers);
$8,875,000 in Key Man & Key Employee Insurance (Northwestern);

*$1,000,000 in Directors & Officers Liability (Chubb);

Fiduciary liability insurance as part of our E&O {Chubb);
ERISA fidelity hond that insures 10% of ERISA accounts, up to $500,000 (The Hartford)

Our Certificates of Insurance has been provided as SAWGRASS EXHIBIT 1.

Provide a copy of your firm’s most recent audited financial statement.

Our latest financials have been included as SAWGRASS EXHIBIT lIL

. Does your firm adhere to the Code of Professional and Ethical Standards as described by the

Association for Investment Management and Research (AIMR)?

Sawgrass is compliant with and adheres to the Chartered Financial Analyst’s Code of Professional and
Ethical Standards. in addition, all portfolio managers at Sawgrass, including those who would be
providing investment management services to the City of Fi. Lauderdale, have earned the CFA
{Chartered Financial Analyst) designation and hold a membership in The CFA Institute {formerly

AIVIR).

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management 3



2. Experience _
A. Describe your firm’s experience in managing investment portfolios for pubiic funds and

governmental entities including any relevant experience managing public funds in Florida.

The professionals at Sawgrass have more than 20 years of experience in developing investment
policies and managing portfolios for public funds and governmental entities. QOur firm has focused our
client service efforts here in Florida since our inception.

Sawgrass currently works with 64 municipalities across the State of Florida, and we are very proud
to help each one attain its unique investment goals over various market environments. We have

included a map of our Florida Public Clients as SAWGRASS EXHIBIT IV. As a Florida-based,
Registered Investment Advisor, we accept fiduciary responsibility for our investment process and
decisions. We have helped educate our clients and their respective constituents over the years
through presentations to city managers, city councils, etc.

We take the approach of first listening to our clients needs, then implementing a specific policy
tailored to their investment objectives. Since our inception, we have customized our portfolios to
meet the ever-changing investment needs of our Fixed Income clients. Many of our current clients
have utilized our expertise in developing and/or revising their new investment policy statements

along with target allocations.

Our overall facus on high-quality fixed income securities is designed to help provide our clients with
safety of capital, enhanced return potential, and a lower risk profile than our assigned benchmarks.
Many of our clients appreciate the consistency of our performance and the people at Sawgrass who
provide the results year in and year out. Our employee ownership provides our clients with the
comfort that the people managing their money in the past will have a vested interest in the success
of the relationship going forward. Our industry is built upon its people, and our team of Jacksonville,
Florida-based investment professionals is positioned to provide the City of Ft. Lauderdale with
exceptional investment solutions and client service delivery.

Sawgrass is also heavily involved in several Florida-focused organizations specializing in governmental
education, incfuding the Florida Public Pension Trustees Association {FPPTA) and the Florida
Government and Finance Officers Association (FGFOA). Providing educational leadership within these
organizations has provided our investment team with a method to align our goals of promoting
education to Public Trustees in the State of Florida.

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management 4



B. Describe your firm's experience in managing investment portfolios for bond funds.

The professionals at Sawgrass have more than 20 years of experience in managing investment
portfolios for bond funds.

Based on our experience with governmental institutions such as the City of Ft. Lauderdale, we
understand the need to maintain a conservative investment policy and allocation. Generally
speaking, the funds that are in excess of near-term working capital needs should be invested in a
short-term, high-guality, fixed income strategy. The ideal investment policy would incorporate the
engagement of an outside professional investment manager to invest funds in a manner which would
prove competitive returns, control risk, and provide needed liquidity. The investment policy should
provide general guidelines for maturity/duration limits, sector exposure, individual issuer limits and
overall minimum credit quality standards. An investment policy should also incorporate a statement
regarding investment performance expectations that are consistent with the restrictions and
limitations.

Sawgrass has considerable experience and expertise in assisting with the development of an
investment policy that best fits the overall needs of our clients. We would look forward to
working with the City to whatever extent desired, to help formulate an effective investment
policy. We would also anticipate meeting periodicaily with City staff to review existing policies
and assist in evaluating any potential changes.

C. Summarize your assets under management {institutional only) over the past five years by the
following categories: short-term funds, medium-term funds, long-term funds. Also, please
separate these asset totals by Government Institutions and Other Institutions.

Provided in the following tables are our institutional tax-exempt fixed income assets under
management. We have used your definition of short-term, medium-term and long-term, as described
on page 21 of the request for proposal. Sawgrass has longer-term assets {max 30 years), so we have
included those assets as well.

As of March 2012, Sawgrass had over $2.9 hillion in institutional assets under management, including
$1.5 hillion in total fixed income assets and $1.4 billion in equities. Sawgrass manages 51.9 billion in
“total public {municipal) assets. The following are in $ millions:

2011 Short-Term Medium-Term Long-Term Longer-Term
{max 1 yr) {max 2 ¥ yrs) (max 10 yrs) {max 30 yrs)
Funds Funds Funds Funds
Government Institutions 342 556 36 122
Other Institutions | 28 20 160
Total 346 584 56 282
2010 Short-Term Medium-Term Long-Term Longer-Term
{max 1 yr) {max 2 % yrs) {max 10 yrs) {max 30 yrs)
Funds Funds Funds Funds
Government Institutions 441 413 30 135
Other Institutions 4 35 33 176
Total ' 485 448 63 311

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management 5



2009 Short-Term Medium-Term Long-Term Longer-Term
{max 1 yr) {max 2 % yrs) {max 10 yrs) {max 30 yrs)
Funds Funds Funds Funds
Government Institutions 536 295 18 131
Other Institutions 8 32 31 181
Total 544 327 49 312
2008 Short-Term Medium-Term Long-Term Longer-Term
(max 1 yr) {max 2 ¥ yrs) (max 10 yrs) {max 30 yrs)
Funds Funds Funds Funds
Government Institutions 321 255 21 111
Other Institutions 7 26 29 150
Total 328 281 50 261
2007 Short-Term Medium-Term Long-Term Longer-Term
{max 1 yr) {max 2 % yrs) (max 10 yrs) (rmax 30 yrs)
Funds Funds Funds Funds
Government Institutions 157 189 21 108
Other Institutions 6 17 30 156
Total 163 206 "~ 51 264

D. What is your firm’s experience in developing investment policies and portfolio management
guidelines for government operating OR CAPITAL funds?

The professionals at Sawgrass have more than 20 years of experience in developing investment
policies and guidelines for governmental funds. Investment policy and guideline development is an
integral part of our approach to the implementation process. Over the years we have worked with
many of our clients to create, re-write or change their investment policies and guidelines. Some of
these clients have asked us to help them communicate these changes to their respective boards and
we can act as an “extension” of your financial staff in this respect. '

After client needs are established and an investment policy is developed, Sawgrass’ culture of
compliance takes hold. Our fixed income management team reviews all accounts on a monthly basis
to assure policy compliance and strategy consistency. To communicate this process to the City of Ft.
Lauderdale, Sawgrass would offer to provide a customized compliance monitor to review your
portfolio on a monthly basis to ensure all policy requirements are being met and the objectives of
principal preservation, liquidity and maximum vyield are maintained.

E. Does your firm act as a broker or as a primary dealer in securities or receive any other form of
additional compensation (including soft dollars) for client transactions aside from the direct fee

paid by clients?

Sawgrass does not act as a broker or primary dealer in securities and does not receive any other form
of additional compensation for client transactions aside from the direct fee paid by clients. Some
brokers that Sawgrass deals with provide research materials, however, the firm does not use fixed
income trading to provide third party soft dollar services.

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income investment Management 6



F. Provide a list of five client references {public references, if possible) including client name,
contact personnel, address, phone number, fax number, e-mail address and length of time you
have managed their assets and a list of any other related services provided (e.g. investment
advisor, cash flow analysis, etc.).

Many of our clients have utilized our expertise in developing their new investment policy statements
along with target allocations. We would encourage the City of Ft. Lauderdale to contact any of our
clients to discuss our ability to manage and service their account over the years. Our firm works with
several reserve clients and we are very proud to help each one attain their investment goals over
various market environments.

Sawgrass is proud to offer the following five client references:

City of Jacksonville, Florida

Contact Name: Mr. Patrick Greive, CFA, CFP

Title: Chief Investment Officer

Phone Number: (904) 630-5940

Fax Number: : (204) 630-3615

Email Address: PGreive@cgj.net

Length of Time Managed: . 7 Years

Services Performed: Short Fixed Income {1-3 year maturity)

- and Core Fixed Income (1-30 year)

City of Altamonte Springs, Florida

Contact Name: : Mr. Mark DeBord

Title: Finance Director

Phone Number: ' ' {407) 571-8090

Fax Number: {407) 571-8082

Email Address: . mbdebord@altamonte.org

Length of Time Managed: 5 X Years

Services Performed: _ Short Fixed income (1-5 year maturity)
City of Daytona Beach

Contact Name: Ms. Kathie Eichinger

Title: Finance Services Manager

Phone Number: {386) 671-8062

Fax Number: (386) 671-3228

Email Address: eichingerk@codb.us

Length of Time Managed: Hired December 2011

Services Performed: Short Fixed Income (1-3 year maturity)

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management
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North Broward Hospital
Contact Name:

Title:

Phone Number:

Fax Number:

Email Address:

Length of Time Managed:
Services Performed:

Mr. Art Wallace -
Chief Financial Officer ﬁ
{954) 344-3124

(954} 355-4966

awallace@browardhealth.org

2 ¥z Years

Short Fixed Income (>1 year maturity)

Flagler Hospital & Flagler Healthcare Foundation

Contact Name:

Title:

Phone Number:

Fax Number:

Email Address:

Length of Time Managed:

Services Performed:

Ms. kynda Kirker

Chief Financial Officer

{(904) 825-4400

(904) 825-4472
lynda.kirker@flaglerhospital.org

10 % Years

Core Fixed Income (1-30 year maturity)

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management 8



Personnel

A. Provide a summary organizational chart showing your proposed project team including
analytical investment and research staff, other decision support and back office support.
Identify the primary contact and describe the roles of each key person.

Aithough Sawgrass applies a team approach to portfolio management, the ultimate buy decision-
making process is driven by the product’s lead portfolio manager, David Furfine, CFA. Mr. Furfine is
your main contact and is a member of your client service team. He would work hand-in-hand with the
City of Ft, Lauderdale. The fixed income team assigned to your account consists of four professionals
with Chartered Financial Analyst designations and an average of over 20 years of investment

experience.

The following is an organizational chart of the Sawgrass fixed income team, along with a description

of the roles of each key person.

The Sawgrass Fixed Income Team

Arreresn Cariior, CF4

Principal,
Co-Director of Fixed Income
Investing

|

i Furtins, €4
Partner,
Co-Director of Fixed Income
Short-term Fixed Income Partfolio Manager

brie Zarkovich, CF4

Fixed Income Portfolio Manager

Pivirden ils, O A

Fixed Income Analyst

(A

Investment Operations / Technology

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management

— Lead Portfolio Manager for Core Fixed Income Portfolios
— Fixed Income Committee Member

— Responsible for Overall Interest Rate Outlook

— Corporate/Credit Sector Specialist

— Main Contact for the City of Ft. Lauderdale
— Lead Portfolio Manager for Short & Interm Fixed Income Portfolios

- — Fixed Income Commii ttee Member

— Mortgage-backed Security (MBS) Sector Specialist
— Responsible for Overall Duration Management

— Responsible for Security and Market Analysis
— Fixed Income Committee Member
— Assistin Portfolio Management Review & Monitoring

— Responsible for Security and Market Analysis
— Fixed Income Committee Member
— Assistin Portfolio Management Review & Monitoring

— Trading & Custodian Reconciliations
— Settlement Issues with Bank Relationships
— Technology



B. Provide detailed resumes for all key investment professionals who will be directly responsible
for the investment of our funds. Include the following information; title, number of years at —
your firm, total number of years of experience, professional designations or licenses and SEC, ﬂ
NASD, or any other regulatory censures or actions or litigation, if any. "

Sawgrass has included complete biographies of the members of the Sawgrass fixed income team as

SAWGRASS EXHIBITV.

C. Describe your firm’s activities to keep portfolio managers informed of developments relevant
to the management of local government funds.

All of Sawgrass’ portfolio managers and analysts are members of the CFA Society of Jacksonville and
the CFA Institute. Mr. Furfine, Mr. Cantor and Mr. Zarkovich are all current members and past

Presidents of the CFA Society of Jacksonville. Other memberships include the Florida Public Pension
Trustees Association (FPPTA) and the Florida Government and Finance Officers Association (FGFOA).

Sawgrass professionals have been involved with the FPPTA for over two decades. Providing
educational leadership within this organization has provided our investment team with a method to
align our goals of promoting education to Public Trustees in the state of Florida to those of the FPPTA.

Sawgrass is also heavily involved with the FGFOA. Several of our investment professionals (portfolio
managers and client service professionals) have been featured speakers at the local chapters and
statewide conferences over the years. -Our focus on the Florida market and the investment needs of
governmental organizations makes the FGFOA an important organization for our association.

© Our commitment to education is one of the abi'ding principals that we follow here at Sawgrass. We
have extensively promoted investment education in both the Florida and National Marketplaces over
the past two decades and are proud of our continued leadership in the areas of training, certification,

conference sponsorships and public speaking forums.

D. What is the largest number of accounts handled by any single manager/team (give size of
team)?

Our Fixed Income team handles more than 80 accounts totaling $1.5 billion in assets under
management. Although our fixed income team of four investment professionals manages several
fixed income strategies, all are managed using the same process. The primary differences among
them are maturity and duration limits.

Sowgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed incorne Investment Management 10
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4.

Investment Management Approach and Discipline

A. Describe your firm’s investment management philosophy.

Sawgrass believes that inefficiencies in fixed income markets create opportunities that compensate
for active risk. Identifying these opportunities requires a thorough analysis of capital markets, asset
fundamentals and technical factors overlaid with a qualitative assessment formed by Sawgrass’
extensive experience and judgment. Our approach to portfolio construction takes measured risks and
optimizes allocations to investment ideas across alpha sources designed to create superior risk-

adjusted returns.

¢ Future trends in interest rates over the next 12-18 months have some predictability. These
trends can be evaluated with an analysis of current market fundamentals, technical factors,
economic activity and historical interest rate patterns, inclusive of interest rate volatility and the
slope of the yield curve. The firm also believes that it is chailenging to predict changes in
interest rates over shorter time periods.

» Market inefficiencies are often observed at the sector level. These inefficiencies are identified
by reviewing current fundamental and technical factors relative to historical values and in
comparison with other sectors. Portfolios are positioned to over-weight sectors that offer the
best relative value on a risk-adjusted basis,

& Active positioning in individual securities offers opportunity to add alpha in a portfoiio.
Undervaiued securities can be identified through both an absolute and relative value analysis,
comparing the expected future return of a security against its’ future, current and historic
fundamentals as well as against its’ peers. Sawgrass helieves the most effective way to limit
individual security risk is by evaluating specific credit fundamentals. Secandarily, the risk of any
one security is minimized by proper security diversification.

Describe the investment program you are proposing for us, including the type and mix of
securities you propose to purchase, how the funds will be managed after the initial investments
are made and how you will provide liquidity should it be necessary.

Sawgrass is proposing our Short-term (1-5 Year) Fixed Income strategy that is managed relative to
the Bank of America Merrill Lynch 1-5 Year Government/Corporate index. This strategy includes a
higher weighting of corporate securities, ranging from 25-50% over time, as these securities offer
a higher return with better downside protection with minimal additional risk. This allocation limit
is more than what is permitted by your current investment policy; we are recommending changes
to your policy to accommodate our use of corporate securities.

Notwithstanding the above, based on our experience with governmental institutions such as the
City of Ft. Lauderdale, we understand the need to maintain a conservative investment policy and
allocation. Generally speaking, the funds that are in excess of near-term working capital needs
should be invested in a short-term, high-quality, fixed income strategy. Sawgrass can readily
accommodate the specific circumstance of the City of Ft. Lauderdale in constructing a portfolio to
meet the unique needs of the City.
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Sawgrass’ Active Short-term Fixed Income Process:

The Sawgrass Short-term Fixed investible bond universe consists of U.S. dollar denominated - ﬁ
government, high-quality corporate, and mortgage-backed securities. The portfolio has an effective
duration that ranges from 2-3 years and an average maturity that ranges from 2-4 years and there are
currently no sector constraints. The goal of this product is to generate investment returns which

exceed 1-year Treasury Bills by 100 basis points over a market cycle. The current benchmark is the

Bank of America Merrill Lynch 1-5 Year Government/Corporate index. We believe this index is most

similar to your investment policy in that it allows for a maturity of up to five years, an average

duration of up to three years, and a diversified sector distribution.

Evaluation of fixed income markets begins with an analysis of the potential returns and risks within
the four alpha sources {interest rates, yield curve structure, sectors, and securities), comparing the
relative value of each source to determine investment themes for the portfolio. These themes are
then validated through further fundamental research to screen for the best ideas, which are used to
construct an optimal portfolio within a portfolio’s guidelines and restrictions. Once the portfolio is
constructed, positions and risks are actively monitored in order to maintain targeted exposures and

iteratively improve the portfolio’s positioning.

Interest rate and yield curves are evaluated first by reviewing current and historical market factors, to
include historical real rates and inflation, yield curve structure, momentum indicators, and rate
volatility. These factors are considered in conjunction with a thorough economic analysis that
includes an evaluation of expectations on economic growth, inflation, and fiscal and monetary policy.
This analysis forms our opinion on the expected trend of interest rate changes over the next 12-18
meonths, which is scored based on the likelihood of change. The likely change in interest rates and
yield curve structure is compared against the absolute risk of the prediction and relative risk-return of

other investment ideas.

Our sector analysis begins by using a proprietary madel to determine relative value among sectors.
The model evaluates current sector spreads relative to each sector’s historical levels as well as across
sectors while incorporating for fundamental and technical factors. The results of this analysis are
developed into a score for each sector based on the strength of their underlying fundamentals and
relative valuations (cheap vs. rich.) The sectors with the best fundamental score and relative
cheapness are considered to be potential investment ideas to overweight in the portfolio. We then
complete further research into the sector to determine whether the mispricing is temporary, a pricing
inefficiency that can add value, or likely to persist due to a change in the market’s pricing of the
sector’s risk. Additionally, each investment idea is compared against its absolute risk and relative to
the potential return-risk profile of other investment ideas.

Qur security selection process begins by screening the universe with a proprietary relative value
model. The model reviews the credit quality of an issuer’s fundamentals based on multiple financial
metrics. Issuers are also compared based on their current and historical cash and CDS spreads to
determine relative value among issuers. Issuers with the best fundamental and relative value scores
are candidates for inclusion in the portfolio. These investment ideas are then validated with further
research to determine whether all of the current news and any financial changes are reflected in the
model’s output. Best security ideas are then compared on a risk-adjusted basis against all other
securities and other investment ideas from the sector and interest rate analysis.

An optimal portfolio is constructed by comparing the ideas generated through the analytical and
screening steps with portfolio guidelines. Allocation across sectors and selection of securities is
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completed to ensure risks are measured and diversified within prescribed risk targets. The resulting
portfolio has a profile that meets the long-term return objectives. The portfolio then is constantly

monitored and adjusted to reflect changes in market fundamentals and value.

Portfolio Structure and Liquidity:

We maintain an active portfolio that seeks to be fully invested, therefore cash reserves are typically
less than five percent and are a function of the timing of buy and sell programs. All securities within

the portfolio are very liguid with a significant portion available for same day settlement given proper
notice. We expect on any given day that the City of Fort Lauderdale’s liguidity needs can be met with
very little disruption.

The following graphs describe the portfolio structure of a representative Short-term Fixed Income

account as of March 31, 2012:
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C. What are the primary strategies employed by your firm for adding value to portfolios {e.g.,
market timing, credit research, etc.)?

At Sawgrass, every element of our fixed income process is tested and designed to add value to our
client portfolios. Importantly, we believe strongly that value is not only added by the contribution to
enhanced returns but also by controlling risk. Some of the key strategies we employ to achieve these

goals are as follows:

» Managing Portfolio Duration to Reflect our Interest Rate Expectations -
We believe, and have demonstrated that over a market cycle, our portfolio duration adjustments
have protected portfolio value during periods of rising interest rates while taking advantage of rising
bond values during period of falling interest rates. To control the overall risk of the portfolio and
recognizing the inherent uncertainty of interest rates, we limit such duration adjustments to a band
within 20 percent of the benchmark index.

¢ Lhilization of Corporate Debt —
We believe high-quality corporate securities are a further source of added value to our client
portfolios, taking advantage of their added yield potential. By selectively limiting our purchases to
debt of companies with strong credit measures we are able to enhance portfolio yields without

incurring an unacceptable level of credit risk,

s Utilization of US Agency Mortgage-backed Securities —
We believe these securities are an additional source of portfolio yield enhancement. Through our
careful analysis of security characteristics and attributes we have demonstrated the value of

selected mortgage backed securities in portfolios.

¢ Seeking Best Execution through Technology and Trading Tools —
An important part of adding value to our client portfolios is our utilization of technology and trading
tools used to seek best execution. This technology allows us to competitively obtain best prices or
negotiate aggressively on behalf of our clients every time we execute a portfolio transaction.
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D. Describe how investment ideas are originated and how researched, and how the ultimate
investment decision is made. Explain how investment decisions are then implemented,
monitered and evaluated.

Fixed income portfolio management is a team effort at Sawgrass, including the generation of new
ideas and monitoring the current names in the portfolio. Although Sawgrass employs a team
approach to management, the portfolio manager has the ultimate responsibility and accountahility
for portfolio design, strategy and results of your portfolio, based on your specific investment policy
constraints and parameters,

Our process and our management flexibility allow for efficient implementation of proven new jdeas.
We do not, however, "experiment” with client funds. Our broadly diversified fixed income portfolio
places a premium on high-quality investment grade securities; simultaneously balancing risk, returns
& liquidity for our short-term investment clients.

Each member of the fixed income team spends their time on idea generation, research and analysis,
and portfolio monitoring. The amount of time spent on any one of the above tasks varies over time
based on market activity and account needs.

Screening
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E. Describe your firm’s research capabilities and resources. Does your firm assign credit research
to specialists for public funds accounts?

1

The Sawgrass Fixed Income team will be the credit research specialists for this account. Qur fixed
income research incorporates a combination of industry leading external and proprietary analytical
software as well as fundamental credit research. The credit research function relies both on in-house
and external sources, however all investment decision analysis is conducted internally. The firm’s
internal analysis incorporates an examination of a series of credit worthiness tests including financial

fundamentals, liguidity and event risk.

Approximately 50% of our fixed income research is gained from outside sources. Externally, we utilize
research from nationally recognized ratings services and major brokerage firms. These include
Goldman, Sachs & Co., Bank of America Merrill Lynch & Co., Morgan Stanley and Standard & Poors.
We also subscribe to independent credit research firms including GimmeCredit, whose fundamental
analysis is blended with market trading levels and pertinent market-maoving events, and Credit Sights,
which has a vast database of financial data and thorough research. All outside research is leveraged
as an additional screen in our investment process to identify the most attractive securities for us.

Our strict credit research criteria are applied to all client portfolios

F. What suggestions do you have for changing the City’s existing Investment Policy to increase
yield without unduly sacrificing safety and liquidity, while staying within Florida state statutes.

Sawgrass is recommending that the City of Ft. Lauderdale increase the limitation of corporate
securities from a maximum of 25% to a maximum of 50%, as this offers a higher return with better

downside protection with minimal additional risk.

G. In one sentence, describe your firm’s fixed income investment policy. When was it established?

Sawgrass’ broadly diversified fixed income strategies place a premium on high-quality investment
grade securities; simultaneously balancing risk, returns & liquidity for our clients.
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5. Performance
A. Provide a breakdown of the total assets managed by your firm. Do not include figures for any

subsidiaries, affiliates, or parent firms. As of March 31, 2012.

# of accts S value (in $1,000)
Tax Exempt Assets
ERISA 6 545,469
Public 91 $1,865,674
Taft-Hartley 20 $165,048
Endowment 4 541,250
Foundation 29 $393,239
Other (Healthcare & Insurance) 8 $389,695
Total Tax-Exempt 158 $2,900,375
Taxable Assets
Persanal Trusts 58 $135,249
Commingled
Total Taxable 58 $135,249
Mutual Funds
Equity
Fixed Income
Money Market
Total Mutual Funds 0 0
| Overall Total 216 $3,035,624
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B. For each of the last five years please indicate the number of fixed income accounts gained and
lost in each category.

The following represents new institutional tax-exempt clients only and does not include additional
accounts opened hy existing clients (in $ millions):

ACCOUNTS GAINED

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Public 0 3/$53 1/59 5/830 5/S41
ERISA 0 0 1/$25 1/$3 0
Taft-Hartley ] ¢ 0 0 0
Endowment 0 0 1/55 0 0
Foundation 2/58 1/%9 0 3/3$34 1/%4
Other 1/510 2/%47 0 0 0
Total 3/%18 6/ $109 3/%$39 9/ $67 6/ %45

The following represents lost institutional tax-exempt clients only and does not include accounts lost
where Sawgrass retained the overall client relationship (in $ millions):

ACCOUNTS LOST

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Public 1/$180 1/%13 0 1/%1 17520
ERISA 1/$5 0 0 0 1/%6
Taft-Hartley 0 o - 0 0 1/%4
Endowment 0 0 0 0 0
Foundation 0 1/%6 0 0 0
Other 0 1/562 0 0 0
Total 2 /5185 3/581 0/50 1/51 3/S30

Sawgrass Response to the City of Ft. Lauderdale RFP #125-10899 for Fixed Income Investment Management
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C. Provide the rates of return indicated below by fund {limited to fixed income investments —
exclude equity portfolios}. If you have a fund, which would mirror the City’s authorized
investments, please bring this to our attention as such. Where muiti-products exist, simply
duplicate the return tables listed below for each product submitted. Additionally, if available,
submit return figures calculated by a third party performance firm. Be sure to indicate the
asset value and number of accounts corresponding to the return figures.

Sawegrass has two product choices available to the City of Ft. Lauderdale, based on your stated short
term and intermediate term investment needs. Sawgrass has included more recent annualized

performance {as of 3/31/12) in SAWGRASS EXHIBIT VI

Sawgrass 1-5 Year Government-Corporate Fixed Income Returns: This product is managed
against the BofA Merrill Lynch 1-5 year Government/Corporate Index. This composite’s inception

was 12/31/1992.
Fixed Income Performance

YEAR ENDING RETURN % # ACCOUNTS Market Value {S)
2007 7.11 7 178M
2008 ‘ 5.91 .7 197M
2009 - 5.18 9 226M
2010 3.61 20 391Mm
2011 2.47 20 428M
Annualized

3 Year thru 12/31 3.75 4 205Mm
Annualized

5 Year thru 12/31 4.84 2 172M
1* Q2011 0.41 21 423M
2" 2011 1.18 19 426M
39 Q2011 0.34 19 424M
4™ Q2011 0.49 20 | 428M
1°Q 2012 1.30 12 - 405M
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Sawgrass 1-3 Year Government-Corporate Fixed Income Returns: This product is managed
against the BofA Merrill Lynch 1-3 year Government/Corporate Index. This composite’s inception

was 10/31/2007. -
Fixed Income Performance )
YEAR ENDING RETURN % # ACCOUNTS Market Value (5}
2007 Inception 10/31/07 1 26M
2008 5.17 2 36M
2009 3.65 2 39Mm
2010 - 2.60 2 72M
2011 1.69 4 160M
Annualized
3 Year thru 12/31 2.64 1 13m
Annualized
5 Year thru 12/31 n/a nfa nfa
1*Q 2011 0.21 3 133M
2" Q2011 0.82 3 134M
3" Q2011 0.31 3 134M
4" Q2011 0.34 4 160M
1% Q 2012 0.36 5 186M

D. ls your Firm in compliance with the Association for Investment Management and Research
(AIMR) Standards?

Yes, Sawgrass has prepared and presented all returns in compliance with the Global Investment
Performance Standards (GIPS®), formerly AIMR. A firm-wide verification of the firm’s claim of
compliance has been conducted by Beacon Verification Services for the period March 31, 1998 to
December 31, 2010.

E. Whatis the average size of the largest fixed income funds under current active management?

The average size of the largest institutional tax-exempt fixed income client funds as of March 31, 2012
was $171 million.
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6. Accounting and Reporting

A. Describe the investment accounting and reporting system used by your firm and if it complies
with AIMR standards.

Advent Axys, the portfolio management and accounting software utilized by Sawgrass to track and
monitor client accounts since the inception of the firm, allows us to be as flexible as possible when
customizing reporting formats to meet the needs of any client. Advent Axys is an industry standard
and is designed to meet the CFA Institute’s Global Investment Performance Standards {GIPS®).

B. Describe the frequency and format of reports that you shall provide to the City, (including the
methods and formulas used to calculate yield and performance). The City requires reports on a
monthly basis for each month of the year, a quarterly basis and an annual report. Also, in order
for the City of comply with accounting and financial reporting requirements, state what data is
available for the reports, such as effective duration on an investment basis, type of investment
basis and total portfolio basis. Sampie reports must be included.

Sawgrass has provided a sample quarterly statement and sample client service presentation as
SAWGRASS EXHiBIT VI

We can provide electronic or hard copy statements to the City of Ft. Lauderdale on a monthly or
quarterly basis. These statements can be customized to provide specific measurements that may be
useful to the finance department. Itis standard practice for us to identify all of the City of Ft.
Lauderdale’s reporting needs at our initial meeting. '

Performance is on a trade date dollar-weighted monthly basis in U.S. dollars. The dollar-weighted
monthly results are geometrically linked (time-weighted) to produce quarterly and annualized resuits.

C. Describe the types of benchmarks that would be included with the performance.

Our approach to performance benchmarking is driven by the goals and expectations set forth in your
investment policy statement. Targets would be described for each asset class as well as an overall
“blended” index for the portfolio in total. We feel the benchmark chosen should meet the return and
risk expectations for the client. Excess fixed income returns are driven by the portfolio duration
decision, sector selection and security selection relative to the benchmark index.

We would suggest the Merrill Lynch 1-5 Year Government/Corporate index as we believe this index is
most similar to your investment policy in that it allows for a maturity of up to five years, an average
duration of up to three years, and a diversified sector distribution. A benchmark like the Merrill
Lynch 1-5 Gov/Corp bhalances the goals of safety of principal and minimal market risks with the desire
for incremental returns relative to cash investments, This index allows for investment in the higher
yields typically found further up the “yield curve” without accepting the volatility associated with
longer-term maturities.

Sawgrass can also manage this account to customized short-term indices as deemed appropriate. We
will readily accommodate the specific circumstance of the City of Ft. Lauderdale in constructing a
portfolio to meet the unique needs of the City of Ft. Lauderdale.
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D. Describe the process the firm would go through to assist in identifying appropriate industry
benchmarks. What performance benchmark(s} would you suggest for our portfolio given our —
current investment policy which states an overall [duration] with a weighted average duration - 3

of less than 3 years?

Our approach to performance benchmarking is driven by the goals and expectations set forth in your
investment policy statement. Targets would be described for each asset class as well as an overall
“blended” index for the portfolio in total. We feel the benchmark chosen should meet the return and
risk expectations for the client. Excess fixed income returns are driven by the portfolio duration
decision, sector selection and security selection relative to the benchmark index.

We would suggest the Merrill Lynch 1-5 Year Government/Corporate index as we believe this index is
most similar to your investment policy in that it allows for a maturity of up to five years, an average
duration of up to three years, and a diversified sector distribution. A benchmark like the Merrill
Lynch 1-5 Gov/Corp balances the goals of safety of principal and minimal market risks with the desire
for incremental returns relative to cash investments. This index altows for investment in the higher
yields typically found further up the “yield curve” without accepting the volatility associated with

longer-term maturities.

Sawgrass can also manage this account to customized short-term indices as deemed appropriate. We
will readily accommodate the specific circumstance of the City of Ft. Lauderdale in constructing a
portfolio to meet the unique needs of the City of Ft. Lauderdale.
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7. Fees {in basis points)

'

3 5 Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly balance within the
following range, based on a current pool of market value of approximately $542,000,000, as of
12/31/11. No other fees shall be accepted other than the fees in basis points, as stated below.

(In basis points)

Sawgrass would like to propose the following discounted fee schedule to the City of Ft. Lauderdale,
based on your average monthly balance range stated below:

$1.00 to $25,000,000 0.5 basis points/month (7 basis points/year)
$25,000,000 to 550,000,000 0.5 basis points/month (7 basis points/year)
$50,000,000 to $100,000,000 0.5 basis points/month {7 basis points/year)
$100,000,000 to $150,000,000 0.5 basis points/month {6 basis points/year)
Over $150,000,000 0.4167 basis points/month (6 basis points/year)
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8. Other
A. Provide a description of your firm’s technological capabilities. ﬁ
E

Sawgrass is a small, entrepreneurial firm and invests heavily on technology to support our investment
activities and operations. Being small allows us to be nimble and flexible and implement technology
needed by our investment staff. With respect to the fixed income team, each team member has their
own Bloomberg terminai and we utilize various trading and analytic software packages such as
Bondedge, MarketAxxess, TradeWek and multiple broker platforms.

B. What makes your firm unique?

Sawgrass has successfully competed against a variety of fixed income managers including small
boutigue firms, large prominent fixed income managers and major banking organizations. We believe

that our proven advantages are:

1} Competitive returns

2) Commitment to risk control

3) Experience, understanding and utilization of unique securities

4) Demonstrated focus on client circumstances and needs

5} Use of technoiogy to enhance resource effectiveness
We continuously evaluate and, when appropriate, implement new technology with the goal
of improving our model effectiveness; and

6) - Consistent and repeatable investment process.

We believe that our commitment to a disciplined investment process has been a key factor in our
performance results. While we cannot guarantee investment results, we strongly believe that by
remaining committed to our investment process, the likelihood of future successful results are

enhanced.

Sawgrass feels that the judgment and extensive experience of our portfolio managers provides us
with a competitive advantage. This experience has provided our clients with a very consistent
portfolio management process that allows consultants and clients to allocate risk around the
Sawgrass Short-term Fixed Income portfolio because they believe in our style purity.
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9. City's preferred tiers/categories:_How would you construct your portfolio taking into
consideration the preferred tiers/categories stated below?

A. Immediate needs: less than 30 days

B. Short term: 30 days to a maximum of 12 months

C. Intermediate term: 1 year —up to 2-1/2 years

D. Long term: 2-1/2 years up to 10 years {the City’s maximum per policy)

10. Can you submit a monthly and/or quarterly report within {30) days after the completion of a
month or quarter? Yes X No

If No — How many days after? __N/A

Message to the City of Ft. Lauderdéle:

We are confident we can effectively manage your investment portfolio through our thorough
understanding of your investment needs and goals. Sawgrass will provide you with full access to our
investment team and this team will work closely with your Finance Department throughout our
relationship. We pride ourselves on our ability to customize your portfolio and constantly monitor
your investment policy parameters. We would like to work with you to fulfill your investment
needs, and we hope that Sawgrass can become your investment partner.

For all of us at Sawgrass Asset Management, thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Chris Greco, Partner David Furfine, CFA, Partner
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City of Fort Lauderdale « Procurement Services Division
100 N. Andrews Avenus, #619 « Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
954-828-5933 FAX 954-828-5576
purchase@fortlauderdale.gov

Page 1 of 4

ADDENDUM NO. 2

RFP 125-10899
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

ISSUED: April 9, 2012

The following paragraphs in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted in its entirety:

PART | — INTRODUCTION INFORMATION, ITEIVI 05. ELIGIBILITY (second paragraph),
PART lif - SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 24 SPECIAL INFORMATION CONTROLS,
and PART VIl -PROPOSED PAGES - TECHNICAL PROPOSAL, Tab 9, which states
the following:

. “The Contractor shall provide a current SSAE 18, SOC 2, Type 1 report with their’
proposal. Awarded contractor will be required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type ||
report annually during the term of this contract. If the Contractor cannot prowde the
SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report at the time of proposal submittal, a current SOC 3 report
will be accepted ! ,

And shall be replaced with the following SSAE 16 requirements:

The Contractor(s) or all investment managers shall be required to provide a SSAE 16,

- SOC 1, Type 2 Report, within six (6) months from the effective date of the contract. The
SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type Il Report will be required each vear for the term of the contract.
This includes third party entities. No other documentation shall be accepted.







City of Fort Lauderdale » Procurement Services Division

100 N. Andrews Avenue, #5619 » Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
954-828-5933 FAX 954-828-5576

purchase@fortlauderdale.gov
ADDENDUM NO. 1

RFP 125-10899
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

ISSUED: April 6, 2012

The Proposal Due Date for RFP 125-10899 Investment Management Services, states
that the Request For Proposal shall open (due date), on April 16, 2012, prior to 2:00pm
EST. This has been changed to read that the Request for Proposal (due date) shall
open on April 23, 2012, prior to 2:00pm EST. This change is being made as the City
shall be issuing a second Addendum next week with additional changes to the RFP
document.

All Addendum, questions and answers posted in BidSync are incorporated and made part of the
City’s Contract with the proposer. : '
All other terms, conditions, and specifications remain unchahged.

This Addendum No. 1 should be submitted with your RFP Response. _

Michael Walker, CPPB
Procurement and Contracts Manager

Company : :
Name: __Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC

' (Please print)
Proposer’s ”%
Signature: C/ Z

Date: ' 4/12/2012







City of Fort Lauderdale » Procurement Services Division
100 N. Andrews Avenue, #519 « Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
954-828-5033 FAX 954-828-5576
purchase@fortlauderdale.gov

Page 1 of 4

ADDENDUM NO. 2

RFP 125-10899
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

ISSUED: April 9, 2012

The following paragraphs in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted in its entirety:

PART | — INTRODUCTION INFORMATION, ITEM 05. ELIGIBILITY (second paragraph),
PART Il — SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 24. SPECIAL INFORMATION CONTROLS,
and PART VIl -PROPOSED PAGES — TECHNICAL PROPOSAL, Tab 9, which states
the following:

“The Contractor shali provide a current SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report with- their
proposal. Awarded contractor will be required to provide an SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type ||

“report annually during the term of this contract. If the Contractor cannot prowde the
SSAE 16, SOC 2, Type 1 report at the time of proposal submlttal a current SOC 3 report
will be accepted.”

And.shall be replaced with the following SSAE 16 requirements:

The Contractor(s) or all investment managers shall be required to provide a SSAE 18,
-80C 1, Type 2 Report, within six (6) months from the effective date of the contract. The
SSAE 16, SOC 1, Type Il Report will be required each year for the term of the contract.

This includes third party entities. No other documentation shall be accepted.
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The following section in RFP 125-10899 shall be deleted:

PART VIl -~ PROPOSAL SUMMARY REQUIREMENTS, Item 7. Fees (in basis points)
after first paragraph, which states the following:

Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly balance
within the following range, based on a current pool of market value of approximately
$542,000,000), as of 12/31/12. No other fees shall be accepted other than the fees in
basis points, as stated below.

-(In basis points}

$1.00 to $150,000,000
Over $150,000,000

And shall be replaced with the revised basis points:

Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly balance
within the following range, based on a current pool of market value of approximately
$542,000,000), as of 12/31/12. No other fees shall be accepted other than the fees in
basis points, as stated below. - : : : ' :

CONTRACTOR - PLEASE FILL IN THE REVISED BASIS POINTS IN THIS
ADDENDUM, AS STATED BELOW: -

(In bas‘is points)

$1.00 to $25,000,000 0.5 basis points/month (7 basis points/year)
$25,000,000 to $50,000,000 0.5 basis points/month (7 basis points/year)
$50,000,000 to $100,000,000 0.5 basis points/month {7 basis points/year)
$50,000,000 to $100,000,000 0.5 basis points/month {7 basis points/year)
~ $100,000,000 to $150,000,000 0.5 basis points/month {6 basis points/year)

Over $150,000,000 0.4167 basis points/month (6 basis points/year)
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The following New language is being added and made part of this RFP under
PART Ill - SPECIAL CONDITIONS, ITEM 25. Also added and made part of this RFP
of this RFP is Exhibit B Local Business Preference Certification Statement
document.:

25.

LOCAL BUSINESS PREFERENCE
Section 2-199.2, Code of Ordinances of the City of Fort Lauderdale, (Ordinance No. C-12-
04), provides for a local business preference.

In order to be considered for a local business preference, a bidder or proposer must include
the Local Business Preference Certification Statement, Exhibit'B" of this RFP, and
documentation of the following, as applicable to the local business preference class
claimed, at the time of proposal submittal:

Upon recommendation for contract award based on the application of a local Business
Preference the Proposer shall within ten (10) calendar days submit the following
documentation to the Local Business Preference Class claimed: -

A) Copy of City of Fort Lauderdale currént year business tax receipt, or
~ Broward County current year business tax receipt, and

- B) List of the names of all employeés of the bidder or proposer and evidence of

employees’ residence within the geographic bounds of the City of Fort Lauderdale or
Broward County, as the case may be, such as current Florida driver license, residential

utility bill {water, electric, telephone, cable television), or other type of similar :
documentation acceptable to the City. ‘

Failuré to comply at time of proposal submittal shall result in the:Proposer being found
ineligible for the local business preference. -

THE COMPLETE LOCAL BUSINESS PREFERENCE ORDINANCE MAY BE FOUND ON -
THE CITY’S WEB SITE AT THE FOLLOWING LINK:
http:!ww.fortlauderdaIe.qovlpurchasingfindex.htm : B

Definitions: The term “Business” shall mean a person, firm, corporation or other business

.entity which is duly licensed and authorized to engage in a particular work in the State of

Florida. Business shall be broken down into four (4) types of classes:

1. Class A Business — shall mean any Business that has established and agrees to
maintain a permanent place of business located in a non-residential zone and staffed
with full-time employees within the limits of the City and shall maintain a staffing level
of the prime contractor for the proposed work of at least fifty percent (50%) who are
residents of the City. ‘ _

2. Class B Business - shall mean any Business that has established and agrees fo
maintain a permanent place of business located in a non-residential zone and staffed
with full-time employees within the limits of the City or shall maintain a staffing level
of the prime contractor for the proposed work of at least fifty percent (50%) who are
residents of the City.

3. Class C Business - shall mean any Business that has established and agrees to
maintain a permanent place of business located in a non-residential zone and staffed
with full-time employees within the limits of Broward County.
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4. Class D Business ~ shall mean any Business that does not qualify as either a
Class A, Class B, or Class C business.
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All other terms, conditions, and specifications remain unchanged.
This Addendum No. 2 MUST be submitted with your RFP Response.

Michael Walker, CPPB
Procurement and Contracts Manager

Company
Name: Sawegrass Asset Management, LLC

: (Please print)
- Proposer's - /Zﬁ
Signature: T o

Date: . af12/2012
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RFP NO. 125-10899
__FITLE: Investment Management Services

This is Not Applicable to Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC

EXHIBIT “B”

LOCAL BUSINESS PREFERENCE CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

The Business identified below certifies that it qualifies for the local BUSINESS preference classification as indicated herein, and further
certifies and agrees that it will re-affirm it's local preference classification annually no later than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the
anniversary of the date of a confract awarded pursuant to this RFP. Violation of the foregoing provision may result in contract

termination.

(1

Business Name
(2)

Business Name
3

Business Name
@ | ,

Business Name
(5)

Business Name
(6)

PROPOSER'S COMPANY:
AUTHORIZED COMPANY PERSON:

Business Name

is a Class A Business as defined in City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance No. C-12-04,
Sec.2-199.2. A copy of the City of Fort Lauderdale current year Business Tax Receipt
and a complete list of full-ime employees and their addresses are attached for
justification.

is a Class B Business as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance No. C-12-04,
5ec.2-199.2. A copy of the Business Tax Receipt or a complete list of full-time
employees and their addresses is attached as justification.

is a Class C Business as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance No. C-12-04,
Sec.2-199.2. A copy of the Broward County Business Tax Receipt is attached as
justification. .

requests a Conditional Class A classification as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale .
Ordinance No. C-12-04, Sec.2-199.2. Written certification of intent is attached.

requests a Conditio_nal Class B classification as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale .
Ordinance_No. C-12-04, Sec.2-199.2. Written certification of intent is attached. .

_Is considered a Class D Business as defined in the City of Fort Lauderdale Ordinance

No. C-12-04, Sec.2-199.2. and does not qualify for Local Preference consideration.
(Notary not required for Class “D”)

: NAME SIGNATURE : DATE
STATE OF
COUNTY OF
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of ,20__, by and
: as and respectively, of
They are [] personally known to me or [] have produced
identification.
(SEAL)

March 30, 2012

Notary Public, State of
(Signature of Notary taking Acknowledgment)

Name of Notary Typed, Printed or Stamped

My Commission Expires:

Commission Number

as
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MATERIAL CHANGES

g e R s sy il

SEC Rule 204-3(b)(2) allows us to provide you with a summary page of Material Changes in lieu
of sending out our entire Disclosure Brochure. If you are being offered this Material Change
page as a separate piece from our Disclosure Brochure and you have questions about these
summary disclosures or would like a current copy of our Disclosure Brochure to review, you may
contact us and a current, complete Disclosure Brochure will be sent free of charge. There have
been no material changes to report since the last filing of our Disclosure Brochure dated
September 2011,

SN PR i

SAWGRASS ASSET MANAGEMENT, L.L.C.

1579 THE GREENS WAY, SUITE 20 TEL: 804.493.5500
JACKSONVILLE BEACH, FLORIDA 32250 : INFORSAW-GRASS.COM
Form ADV: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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ADVISORY BUSINESS

e ety —

Who We Are

Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “Sawgrass”, “the Company”,
“we”, “us” and “our™), is a 100% employee-owned registered investment advisor' that was
founded in January of 1998 by a core group of investment professionals that formerly
comprised the institutional investment arm of Barnett Capital Advisors.

We feel that being employee-owned plays to our strength by providing institutional clients?,
with a group of talented investment professionals that have learned to work together to
achieve consistent, repeatable investment returns. Being employee-owned there is: stability
in structure of each asset-class management team; individual talent retention that leads to
increased team knowledge; ownership of purpose that focuses the team in their investment
pursuits; and, most of all, a vested interest in our clients’ long-term success.

Owners

Since Sawgrass is employee-owned, no single individual has ownership control of more than
25%. The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sawgrass Asset Management, Inc. (“SAM™)
and the following individuals, the core founders, are the majority shareholders who also
direct our day-to-day management operations.

f SAM
shareholder of SAM ¢
‘Shareholder of SAM °

Brian K. Monroe '

Assets Under Management

As of December 31, 2011, our assets under management totaled:

Client Discretionary Managed ACCOUNES......ceveiviiiiiininenen. $2,752,367,916
Client Non-Discretionary Managed ACCOUnNts.......ovvvvinnnnes 43,791,510
QOur Mission

Qur mission is to provide our clientele with the highest level of professional asset management
services in a totally objective, prudent and cost-effective manner using a disciplined
tnvestment process to achieve the desired investment goal.

T The term “registered investment advisor” is not intended to imply that Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC has attained a certain level of skill or training. It
15 used strictly to reference the fact that we are "Registered” as a licensed “lnvestment Advisor" with the United States Securities & Exchange Commission
- and “Notice Filed” with such other State Regulatory Agencies that may have limited regutatory jurisdiction over cur business practices.

Z A client could also be a high net worth individual and their family members, a family office, a foundation or endowment, a corparation and/er small
business, a trust, a guardianship, an estate, another fiduciary or any other type of entity to which we choose to give investment advice.

FormADY: Part2a .. ..Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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What We Do

We specialize in active investment management using multiple Investment Products with
different risk/reward characteristics. We can tailor portfolios that match a range of risk
tolerances and time-frames. We believe that our approach can best:

% Take advantage of the changing economic environment.
% Implement the investment strategies best suited to attain the client’s investment

goals.
% Reduce the volatility of investment returns based on the client’s risk tolerance.
% Provide liquidity and access to principal in a long-term investment.

For more information on our investment strategies, see Item 8, “Methods of Analysis,
Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss” below.

Private Investment Fund

In July 2011, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC completed a private offering of securities
through a Private Placement (Rule 501 Reg. D) offering to fund Sawgrass Diversified Income
Fund, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company (the “Fund”). The Fund was formed for the
purpose of managing a well-diversified portfolic of securities from among various asset classes
including debt, equity, and preferred stock with the objective of generating income through
dividends and interest payments. Sawgrass will serve as the exclusive Manager responsible for
operational oversight and management of the Fund.

Our fiduciary duty binds us to an ethical standard of complete care and loyalty to our clients
and to avoid circumstances that might affect, or appear to affect, this standard unless we act
transparently and provide full and fair disclosure of any potential conflict. Therefore as part of
our good faith efforts, we are disclesing that operating a private investment fund creates
potential conflicts of interest relating to:

Economic benefits Sawgrass can receive for owning and operating the Fund; and,
% Custody situations that can adversely affect the client unless proper safeguards are
adopted.

Sy

)
.0

For disclosure of our potential conflicts of interest, see “Private Investment Fund Affiliation”
under ltem 10, “Other Financial Industry Activities & Affiliations.” For information on how
operating a private fund creates a custody situation and the safeguards we have adopted to
protect clients, see “Pooled Investments” under ltem 15, “Custody.”

FEES & COMPENSATION

Investment Products

Matching a client’s investment parameters with an investment strategy designed to meet their
goals and objectives, risk tolerances and time frames is the focus of our Products. Managed
account{s} may include a combination of the following Investment Products.

Large Cap Growth Equity

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE - Our investment approach emphasizes growth stocks with a
consistent and stable earnings pattern, accelerating earnings estimates and companies with

Ferm ADV: Part 24 Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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greater earnings potential than the market and their peer group. We combine quantitative
models with bottom-up fundamental research into a consistent and structured investment
discipline. We believe that in combination, these elements allow us fo identify companies
early in their cycle of positive earnings and estimates changes, which can offer our clients
above average stock appreciation potential.

MANAGEMENT FEE

Style: Large company stocks of high quality companies with strong
earnings potential

Account Minimum;  $3,000,000
Annual Fees: || 7

"First 510,000,000 .
Next $20,000,00¢ i
Over $30,000,000 ..............00000 ceavninrrere e . 0.50%

Key Benefits:  Growth returns with risk control

Small Cap Growth Equity

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE - The small cap portfolio process identifies domestic stocks with
greater earnings potential than the market. We believe it is possible to add value over time
by combining quantitative models with bottom-up fundamental research in a consistent and
structured investment discipline. Qur process identifies small companies with strong
earnings momentum, rising earnings estimates, and reasonable valuation relative to the
Russell 2000 Growth Index.

MANAGEMENT FEE

Style:  Small company stocks with strong earns potential
Account Minimum:  $1,000,000

Annual Fees:

First 510,000,000 ....
Next $20,000,000....
Over $30,000,000

Key Benefits:  Growth potential with controlled risk

Core Fixed Income

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE - The core fixed income strategy focuses primarily on controlled
duration management of investment grade securities and secondarily on strategic sector
valuations and specific security analysis. This portfolio has an effective duration that ranges
from 4-6 years and an average maturity that ranges from 6-12 years. There currently are no
sector constraints. The investable universe consists of U.S. dollar-denominated government,

Form ADV: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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£ corporate and mortgage-backed securities. The investment approach is managed to the
L g Barclays Capital US Aggregate Index,

MANAGEMENT FEE
Style: Duration controlled - Investment Grade Bonds
Account Minimum:  $3,000,000

g;

Annual Fees:

Key Benefits:  Active management with risk control

Intermediate Fixed Income

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE - The intermediate fixed income strategy focuses primarily on
controlled duration management of investment grade securities and secondarily on strategic
sector valuations and specific security analysis. This portfolio has an effective duration that
ranges from 3-5 years and an average maturity that ranges from 4-8 years. There are
currently no sector constraints. The investable universe consists of U.S. dollar-denominated
government, corporate and mortgage-backed securities. The investment approach is
managed to the Barclays Capital US Intermediate Government/Corporate Index.

MANAGEMENT FEE
Style: Limited Duration - Investment Grade

Account Minimum:  $3,000,000

TS
Annual Fees: |

First 520,000,000 ...
Key Benefits: Reduced interest rate sensitivity

Short-Term Fixed Income

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE - The short-term fixed income strategy focuses primarily on
controlled duration management of investment grade securities and secondarily on strategic
sector valuations and specific security analysis. This portfolio has an effective duration that
ranges from 2-3 years and an average maturity that ranges from 2-4 years. There are
currently no sector constraints. The investable universe consists of U.S. dollar-denominated
government, high quality corporate and mortgage-backed securities. The goal of this
product is to generate investment returns which exceed 1-year Treasury Bills by 100 basis
points over a market cycle. The current benchmark is the Merrill Lynch 1-5 Year Gov’t/Corp
Index. We also manage this product fo a customized short-term index when appropriate,

MAMAGEMENT FEE
Style:  Short Duration - Investment Grade

Form ADV: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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Account Minimum:  $3,000,000

£

Annual Fees:

Over $40,000,000 ;

Key Benefits: Low expected interest rate sensitivity

Balanced

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE - Our balanced portfolio is a diversified portfolic stocks and bonds
structured to satisfy our clients unique investment needs. We will work with the client, or if
a Retirement Plan, with the Trustees' investment committee members (consultant, attorney,
etc.) to review the current investment policy, assets, liabilities and future
contribution/distribution needs of the Fund. Once these factors are taken into consideration,
an optimal asset allocation is developed and implemented, based on current capital market
assumptions.

MANAGEMENT FEE
Style: A blend of growth equity and investment grade bonds

Account Minimum: 53,000,000
Annual Fees:

First $20,000,000
Over $20,000,00¢
Key Benefits:  Stock and high quality fixed income

Our annual management fee is an amount equal to 0.65% of the aggregate Net Asset Value of
all units of membership interests. The management fee shall be paid quarterly (0.1625%) in
arrears and shall be charged pro rata against the Net Asset Value of each Member’s units of
membership interests.

Pratocols for the Investment Products

The following protocols establish how we handle our Investment Product accounts and what
clients should expect when it comes to: (i) managing their account(s); (ii} their bill for
investment services; (iv) withdrawing funds; and (v) other fees charged to your account(s).

Discretion

We accept discretionary authority to manage accounts on behalf of our clients. Customarily,
this authority is granted by an Investment Management Agreement or Investment Policy
Statement (IPS} that is provided at the inception of our relationship. Limitations to our

Farm ADY: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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Fee Exclusions

discretionary authority are generally described in the IPS. Typically, the IPS is furnished by
the client or an independent third party; however, upon request, we will assist our clients in
developing an IPS consistent with client circumstances.

Bilting

The fees indicated above under each Product represents the annual percentage charged for
portfolio management provided on an asset-based fee arrangement. Clients will be billed
quarterly (or monthly) in arrears based on the fair market value of the assets held in their
portfolio management account. For the first billing quarter, if the management account was
not opened at the beginning/end of the quarter, the fee will be based upon a pro-rata
calculation of the fair market value of the client’s assets managed for the period.

The fee for a quarter will be one-fourth of the annual percentage (i.e., 1.00% + 4 = 0.25%)
multiplied by the corresponding market value of the assets held within each tier on the last
business day of the previous calendar quarter. Fee breaks will occur for the partion of assets
in the client’s portfolio that increase into the next indicated tier(s). We retain discretion to
negotiate the management fee indicated under each of the Investment Products on a client-
by-client basis.

Generally, we will bill the client directly our quarterly management fee. However, under
certain arrangements, clients may choose to have our fees deducted from their custodial
account. If we bill the client’s managed account, advisory fees will be taken first from any
money market funds or balances. If such assets are insufficient to satisfy payment of such
fees, a portion of the account assets will be liquidated to cover the fees. Such liquidation
may affect the relative balances of the account.

Account Discrepancies

To minimize the likelihood of discrepancies, we will remit invoices to clients after we have
reconciled cash flow movements with custodian provided information, Any discrepancies
of $100 or more are corrected via an adjustment entry to the invoice on the next billing
cycle. Certain client portfolios, due to their nature, may be subject to significant cash
flows relative to the portfolio size. Such cash flows may result in quarter end balances
that might not be representative of the portfolio during the billing period. In such
instances, subject to consultation with our client, we may calculate fees based on an
average market value during the period.

The above fees for all our management services are exclusive of any charges imposed by the
custodial firm including, but not limited to: (i) any Exchange/SEC fees; (ii) certain transfer
taxes; (iii) service or account charges, including, postage/handling fees, electronic fund and
wire transfer fees, auction fees, debit balances, margin interest, certain odd-lost
differentials and mutual fund short-term redemption fees; and (iv) brokerage and execution
costs associated with securities held in the client’s managed account. There can also be
other fees charged to the client’s account that are unaffiliated with our management
services.

In addition, all fees paid to us for monitoring services are separate from any fees and
expenses charged on mutual fund shares by the investment company or by the investment
advisor managing the mutual fund portfolios. These expenses generally include management
fees and various fund expense, such as: 12b-1 fees. Redemption fees, account fees,
purchase fees, contingent deferred sales charges, and other sales load charges may occur but
are the exception within managed accounts at institutional custodians. A complete

Page 9 of 19
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explanation of these expenses charged by the mutual funds is contained in each mutual
fund’s prospectus. Clients are encouraged to carefully read the fund prospectus.

Termination of Investiment Product Services

To terminate investment advisory services, either party (the client or Sawgrass) by written
notification to the other party, may terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement at any time,
provided such written notification is received at least 30 days prior to the date of termination.
Such notification should include the date the termination will go into affect along with any
final instructions on the account (i.e., liquidate the account, finalize all transactions and/or
cease all investment activity).

In the event termination does not fall on the last/first day of a calendar quarter, we will send
the client a pro-rated bill for the number of days in the quarter the account was managed.
Once the termination of investrment advisory services has been implemented, neither party has
any obligation to the other - we no longer earn management fees or give investment advice and
the client becomes responsible for making their own investment decisions.

PERFORMANCE-BASED FEES & SIDE-BY-SIDE MANAGEMENT

We do not publish or promote performance-based fees or fees based on a share of capital gains
or capital appreciation of client assets. However, at the request of a client, we will consider a
performance-based fee based on individual circumstances®. Insofar as client accounts within a
specific investment discipline are managed consistently with trades allocated proportionately,
we give no priority of investment opportunities to client’s portfolios with performance-based
fees when managed with other accounts whose fees are based on overall asset-based.

TYPES OF CLIENTS

The types of clients we offer advisory services to are described above under “Who We Are” in
Item 4, the “Advisory Business” section. Our minimum account size for portfolio management
is disclosed above under “Investment Products” in Iltem 5 above in the, “Fees &
Compensation” section of this Brochure.

T it YT

METHODS OF ANALYSIS, INVESTMENT STRATEGES & RISKOF LOSS.

Methods of Analysis

The analysis we use for our Investment Products will be a combination of analysis techniques to
gathering information and to guide us in our management decisions.

* To participate in a performance-based fee arrangement, the client must meet the minimum requirements of SEC Rule 205-3¢d)(1), which are anly available
to the cliant, and even then, only if: (i} The Cliant fully uaderstand the risks involved in performance-based fee management; (i} The Client has at least
$756,000 under management with us or a net worth equal to or greater than $1,500,000; or, {iii) The Client is a "guatified purchaser” under Section
2{a){51}{A) of the investment Company Act of 1940,

Form ADY: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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Quantitative Analysis

Quantitative analysis seeks to understand the behavior of a security using mathematical and
statistical modeling to measure certain unique characteristics such as, for example,
revenues, earnings, margins, and market share. Mathematical and statistical modeling helps
us to ascertain security price and risk to ultimately help identify profitable opportunities.

Fundamental Analysis

Fundamental analysis considers: economic conditions, earnings, cash flow, book value
projections, industry outlook, politics (as it relates to investments), historical data, price-
earnings ratios, dividends, general level of interest rates, company management, debt ratios
and tax beneftts

Technical Analysis

Technical analysis utilizes current and historical pricing information to help us identify trends
in the broader domestic and foreign equity and fixed income markets, and in the underlying
assets themselves. This may involve the use of various technical indicators, such as moving
averages and trend-lines, among others.

Cyclical Analysis

Market cycles provide historic tried and true timing mechanisms to indicate turning points in
future market prices. By tracking historic data through charts and graphs we can improve
entry and exit timing strategies. Coupling cyclical analysis with technical analysis helps to
ensure the most favorable buy/sell signal.

Fundamental analysis provides us with a broad long-term view of a security that begins with
determining a company’s value and the strength of its financials while technical analysis is
short-term focusing on the statistics generated by market activity. Quantitative analysis assists
us with portfolio optimization. Cyclical analysis provides us with historical data on market
trends to focus our technical analysis for ideal entry/exit points.

investment Strategies

Our general approach to. portfolio management uses both quantitative and fundamental
analysis rankings for all portfolio positions. These proprietary rankings form the basis for
making timely purchase, hold and sell decisions.

Some of the research tools we utilize are as follows:

% Upward Earnings Estimate Revisions - The heart and soul of our fundamental
approach is to utilize the power of earnings estimate revisions made by Wall Street
security analysts who daily fine tune upward or downward their earnings
expectations. The marketplace reacts to surprises or changes in expectations as
stock prices reflect new infermation about the companies not previously known.
Relative Strength - Price momentum must accompany good fundamentals so relative
strength plays a very important role and typically leads us to stocks with a higher
probability of outperforming the market.

Bottom-Up Approach - Our investment criteria is not bound to trying to pick sectors
or industries to invest in. Instead, we look at the broad universe of large and mid
cap stocks whose earnings estimates and price behavior are up-trending, then
consider them for inclusion in a client’s portfolio. Diversification and balance are
then implemented to control overall risk levels.

%

&
Lo

Form ADV: Part 24 Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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% Sell Discipline - We do not want our stocks to be exposed to a continuing negative
pattern of earnings estimate reductions and erosive price action, Therefore,
tactically we use trailing stock loss prices on all active positions.

We are generally fully invested in the asset-class we are hired to manage for clients. We do
not engage in active market timing.

Managing Risk

Risks - Equity Investing

While many of the strategies we employee are designed to control the risk of the portfolios
we manage, equity securities, by their very nature may be risky and involve loss of principal.
We do not guarantee any perfarmance results or that our clients will not incur a loss of either
their original investment or any interim gains. In general, equity securities, as an asset class
tends to fluctuate based on overall economic conditions and as recently demonstrated such
fluctuations may, at times, be severe. For small capitalization stock investing, such volatility
will generally exceed that of large capitalization stocks.

Risks ~ Fixed Income Investing

We employ a number of strategies designed to help control the risk of fixed income
fnvesting. However, such investing involves risks and investments may lose value over short
or longer term time intervals. In particular, fixed income investments are subject to interest
rate risk (the loss of value associated with a general rise in interest rates), and credit risk
{the loss of value associated with declining credit conditions). Generally speaking, longer
maturity fixed income securities incur higher risk and volatility than experienced by shorter
maturity securities.

Regardless of how we analyze securities or the investment strategy and methodology we use to
guide us in the management of our Investment Products, investing in a security involves a risk
of loss that clients should be willing and prepared to bear; and furthermore, past market
performance is no guarantee that the client will see equal or better future returns on their
investment.

DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION

There are no legal or disciplinary events to report at this time that are material to a client’s or
prospective client’s evaluation of Sawgrass’ advisory business or the integrity of Sawgrass’
management or for any of our employees.

OTHER FINANCIAL INDUSTRY ACTIVITIES & AFFILIATIONS

DT

Financial Industry Activities

Neither Sawsgrass nor any of our management persons are licensed, or are related to, or have
any relationship or arrangement that is material to our advisory business or to our clients that
Sawgrass or any of our management persons have with any financial industry participant and
therefore no disclosure is necessary.

Form ADY: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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Additionally, we do not receive compensation directly or indirectly from other investment
advisers nor have other business relationships with other investment advisers for whom we
have referred our clients.

Private Investment Fund Affiliation

Sawgrass is the exclusive Manager responsible for operational oversight and management of the
Sawgrass Diversified Income Fund, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company (the “Fund”)
organized to manage a well-diversified portfolio of securities from amaong various asset classes
including debt, equity, and preferred stock with the objective of generating income through
dividends and interest payments.

Potential Conflicts of Interest

Our fiduciary duty binds us to an ethical standard of complete care and loyalty to our clients
and to avoid circumstances that might affect, or appear to affect, this standard uniess we
act transparently and provide full and fair disclosure of any potential conflict. As the
exclusive Manager to the Fund, Sawgrass and our employee-cwned shareholders will receive
some economic benefit from recommending clients to invest in the Fund. These benefits
could be, but are not limited to, an increase in: advisory/consulting fees, salaries, and
income/dividend returns should you choose to invest in the Fund. Therefore, before
accepting our recommendation to invest in this affiliated private Fund, you should
consider other investment opportunities to ensure the expenses and invesiment returns
are comparable or equivalent to other private funds.

See “Pooled Investments” under Item 15, “Custody” for more information on how operating
this Fund creates a custody situation.

Investment Limitations and General
Considerations

Sawgrass, through its officers and employees, may solicit our advisory clients or other
independent investars if they are considered to be: (i) an “accredited investor”, as defined in
Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933; (ii) a “qualified client” as defined
in Rule 205-3 under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940; or (iii} a “qualified purchaser”
under Secticn 2(a)(51) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, The Fund is not open to the
general public,

Should we determine that one of our advisory clients fit the criteria to invest in the Fund, a
Confidential Private Placement Memorandum (“Memorandum”) will be provided to the client
for consideration. This Memorandum discloses all possibilities for conflicts of interest and
inherent risks, which are necessary for an investor to make an informed decision - potential
investors are encouraged to read this document. In addition, all investors in the Fund are
given a right to rescind their Subscription and receive a full refund of their investment within
three (3) business days after entering into a Subscription Agreement.

CODE OF ETHICS, PARTICIPATION OR INTEREST IN CLIENT TRANSACTIONS &
PERSONAL TRADING

Cade of Ethics

As a fiduciary, the Company has an affirmative duty to render continuous, unbiased investment
advice, and at all times act in the best interest of our clientele. To maintain this ethical

Form ADV: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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responsibility, we have adopted a Code of Ethics that establishes the fundamental principles of
conduct and professionalism expected by all personnel in discharging their duties. This Code is £
a value-laden guide committing such persons to uphold the highest ethical standards, rooted in
the most elementary maxim. Our Code of Ethics is designed to deter inappropriate behavior

and heighten awareness as to what is right, fair, just and good by promoting:

% Honest and ethical conduct.

+ Full, fair and accurate disclosure.

% Compliance with applicable rules and regulations.
< Reporting of any violation of the Code.

% Accountability.

To help clients understand our ethical culture and standards, how we control sensitive

information and what steps have been taken to prevent personnel from abusing their inside
position, a copy of our Code of Ethics is available for review upon request.

Client Transactions

We have a fiduciary duty to ensure that your welfare is not subordinated to any interests of
ours or any of our personnel. The following disclosures are internal guidelines we have
adopted to assist us in protecting all of our clientele.

Participation or interest

Other than the opportunity to invest in the Sawgrass Diversified Income Fund, LLC (the
“Fund”), it is against our policies for any owners, officers, directors and employees to invest
with a client or with a group of clients, or to advise a client or a group of clients to invest in
a private business interest or other non-marketable investment unless prior approval has
been granted by our Chief Compliance Officer, and such investment is not in violation of any
SEC and/or State rules and regulations.

See “Pooled Investments” under Item 15, “Custody” for more information on how operating
this Fund creates a custody situation.

Class Action Policy

The Company, as a general policy, does not elect to participate in class action lawsuits on
behalf of a client. Rather, such decisions shall remain with the client or with an entity the
client designates. We may assist the client in determining whether they should pursue a
particular class action lawsuit by assisting with the development of an applicable cost-
benefit analysis, for example. However, the final determination of whether to participate,
and the completion and tracking of any such related documentation, shall generally rest with

the client.

Personal Trading

Employees of ours are permitted to personally invest their own monies in securities, which may
also be, from time to time, recommended to clients. Most of the time, such investment
purchases are independent of, and not connected in any way to, the investment decisions
made on our clients’ behalf. However, there may he instances where investment purchases for
clients may also be made in an employee’s account. In these situations we have implemented
the following guidelines in order to ensure our fiduciary integrity:

Form ADY: Part 24 Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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= 1. No employee acting as an Investment Advisor Representative (RA), or who has
ﬂ discretion over clients’ accounts, shall buy or sell securities for their personal

portfolio(s) for a 24-hour period before or after trading in client portfolios. No
employee of ours shall give preference to his or her own interests over that of our
clients.

2, We maintain a list of all securities holdings for all our access employees. Our Chief
Compliance Officer reviews these holdings on a regular basis

3. We require that all employees act in accordance with all applicable Federal and
State regulations governing registered investment advisory practices.

4. Any individual not in observance of the above may be subject to termination.

Personal trading activities are monitored by the compliance staff as directed by the Chief
Compliance Officer to ensure that such activities do not impact the security of client
information or create conflict of interest with the client.

BROKERAGE PRACTICES _

Selacting or Recommending Broker-Dealers

In selecting brokers, we will seek best execution of transactions on our clients’ behalf, which
may not necessarily be based on the commission rates being the lowest. The client’s
investment needs, the broker-dealer’s trading capabilities, investment inventory, their
financial strength, and our personal experience working with that broker-dealer will be
considered, among other items, before executing a trade order.

In determining hest execution, we may give consideration to the ability of the broker to
provide quality and appropriate research services as well as efficient trade execution. A
portion of client commissions may be used to purchase some of these research services. These
research services typically include research information on economic, industry and company
developments, which are useful to us in our investment decision making process and may
receive electronically or in hard copy. An example of such research would include: FactSet, an
electronic source of detailed company financial data. In addition, the use of trading system
services such as ITG® may also be acquired in this manner,

Overall, commissions paid may, at times, be higher than those obtainable from other broker-
dealers where no such services are acquired. Research received may be used in servicing some
or all of our clients and, in some cases, may not be of benefit for an account whose
commissions might be used to acquire such service. Research services that are obtained
include proprietary services provided directly by the executing broker as well as third party
research. Care is taken by us to ensure all third party research (soft dollar) arrangements are
in compliance with Section 28(e) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,

Directed Brokerage

Some clients may instruct us to direct some or all of the commissions from their account to
brokers who may provide the client services separate from those provided by us. In addition,
certain other clients may restrict our use of soft dollar commissions. These arrangements and
restrictions by clients can cause the commission rates to differ significantly from what the
other client is paying.

Directed brokerage arrangements may impact client results in the following ways:

Form ADV: Part 24 Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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1. The ability for us to negotiate commissions may be more limiting than for other
clients.

2, Such clients may forego benefits that might result from our ability to bunch
(aggregate) orders for a block trade as we do for other clients. These benefits can
inctude volurne related trading commission discounts and execution price.

3. A potential conflict of interest could exist if a broker-dealer, which refers a client to
us, is also the broker-dealer to whom the client directs trades.

4, Based on the foregoing, directed brokerage arrangements may resutt in clients not
obtaining best execution.

Aggregating Trade Orders

Our objective in order execution is to act fairly, impartially, and to take all reasonable steps to
obtain the best possible results {known as “best execution”) for our clients. To the extent
possible, we aggregate trade orders and allocate trade executions across accounts within an
investment discipline. This achieves more efficient and timely trade execution and helps
ensure all clients are treated fairly,

In consideration of these objectives, we will take into account the unique execution factors of
the buy/sell order before bunching accounts for a block trade, A few of those factors are:

% Security Trading Volume - Bunching orders in a block trade can secure price parity
and continuity for our clients during heavy trading activity.

% Financial Instruments - The type of security involved as well as the complexity of
order can affect our ability to achieve best execution.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

et T S

Client portfolios are generally reviewed no less frequently than monthly to assure that portfolio
holdings and characteristics are consistent with client objectives and investment style,
Depending on the asset-class being managed, this overall review is conducted by the equity
management team or fixed income management team. Each client account is assigned to a
portfolio manager who has ultimate responsibility to assure that specific client policies are
being followed. On a periodic basis, this process is monitored by compliance staff. On a
monthly basis, client investment performance data are reviewed to confirm that results are
consistent with investment style.

The frequency and nature of reports to individual clients is determined by agreement with
each individual client. Generally, reports to clients include a discussion of factors affecting
the financial markets, how these factors affect the investment strategy employed and a review
of account performance. Statements showing portfolio holdings, valuations and transactions
are provided to clients on a monthly or quarterly basis. Upon request, we will also provide
such material to third parties such as consultants.

In addition, clients will receive monthly or quarterly statements from the broker-dealer where
the client’s account(s) are custodied. Each statement will summarize the specific investments
currently held, the value of their portfolio and account transactions.

Form ADV: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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3 CLIENT REFERRALS & OTHER COMPENSATION

T T S e S .,

Referral Compensation

We may directly compensate persons/firms for client referrals, provided that those persons are
qualified and have entered a solicitation agreement with us. Under such arrangements, if a
client was referred to us by a solicitor, the solicitor will provide complete information on our
relationship and the compensation that solicitor will receive should the client choose to open
an account. In no case will the fee that the client would pay be higher than it waould be if the
client had come to us directly without the referral.

In addition, as part of our marketing efforts, we seek to establish and maintain relationships
with pension consultants which advise current and prospective clients. The primary purpose of
these relationships is to familiarize consulting firms with Sawgrass, our professionals, and our
Investment Preducts and processes. As part of this relationship, we will occasionally provide
entertainment in the form of meals and/or invitations to sporting events. Therefore, to
minimize the potential of a conflict of interest, we have adopted an internal policy designed to
limit the value of such entertainment to no more than $250 per person. Furthermore, we do
not participate in consultant-sponscred conferences.

We do not receive an economic benefit from a non-client for providing investment advice or
other advisory services to our clients.

CUSTODY

Account Staternents

We do not take possession of or maintain custody of a client’s funds or securities, but will
simply monitor the holdings within their portfolio and trade your account based on our
Investment Product’s investment objectives. Possession and custody of your funds and/or
securities shall be maintained directly with the custodian selected by the client.

However because clients have authorized us deduct our advisory fees directly from their

account, we are defined as having custody. Therefore to comply with the United 5States

Securities and Exchange Commission’s Custody Rule (1940 Act Rule 206(4)-2) requirements, we

have implemented the required safeguards to protect the client as well as protect our advisory
" practice.

% Client funds and securities will be maintained with a qualified custodian in a
separate account in their name.

4 The qualified custodian will send the client monthly brokerage statements
summarizing the specific investments currently held in their account, the value of
their portfolio, and account transactions.

+ Authorization to withdraw our management fees directly from the client’s account
will be approved by the client prior to engaging in any portfolio management
services.

Clients are encouraged to verify the transaction activities disclosed to them in their brokerage
statement from the custodian. If we should elect to send the client a report on their account
holdings, we urge the client to compare the financial data contained in our report with the

Faorm ADV: Part 2A Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
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INVESTMENT DISCRETION

financial information disclosed in their account statement from the custodian to verify the
accuracy and correctness of our reporting.

Pooled Investmenis

As previously mentioned, we serve as the exclusive Manager to the Sawgrass Diversified Income
Fund (the “Fund”), private investment partnerships to manage assets. See “Private Investment
Fund Affiliation” above in ltem 10, “Other Financial Industry Activities & Affiliations” for
disclosure on the potential conflicts of interest.

In this situation where we act as both the Manager and investment advisor to the Fund, we
have legal ownership of, and access to, funds and securities and thus have custody of client
assets. By virtue of our position as the Manager and investment advisor, we have authority to
dispose of funds and securities in the Fund at our discretion and charge fees that a client may
never be aware of; thereby, increasing the potential for misconduct and self-dealing.

Therefore to protect our clients, as well as to protect our advisory practice, we are disclosing
the following safeguards for clients to verify they have been implemented and are being
followed. The safeguards for pooled investment vehicles can be found in Investment Advisers
Act of 1940 Rule 206(4)-2. The Fund shall:

o,
'

-

Require the gualified custodian to send Members of the Fund, at least quarterly,
account statements identifying amount of funds and each security currently held and
all Fund transactions.

Be subject to an audit (as defined in Section 2(d) of Article 1 of Regulation S-X [17

CFS 210.1-02(d)]) at least annually,

Ensure the independent public accountant performing the audit is subject to regular

annual inspection by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), in

accordance to the rules of the PCAOB.

4 Distribute the audited financial statements prepared in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles to all limited partners within 120 days of the end of
the fiscal year.

€ Upon liquidation of all assets in the Fund, have a final audited financial statement

prepared and promptly distributed to all Members of the Fund after the completion

of such audit.

£

¥
L

VOTING CLIENT SECURITIES

Sawgrass accepts discretionary authority to manage accounts on behalf of our clients.
Customarily, this authority is granted by an investment Management Agreement or investment
Policy Statement (IPS) that is provided at the inception of our relationship. Limitations to our
discretionary authority are generally described in IPS. Typically, the IPS is furnished by the
client or an independent third party; however, upon request, we will assist our clients in
developing an IPS consistent with client circumstances.
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Policies have been adopted which are designed to help assure that proxy votes are cast in the
best interest of clients. We recognize the unique nature of voting proxies on behalf of Taft-
Hartley or union pension plans and have procedures in place to provide that votes are cast in
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the best interests of the participants of such plans. To assist Sawgrass in formulating and
implementing an objective policy framework for voting proxies, we have engaged an outside
third party vendor. We are unaware of any conflicts of interest that might arise through this
process. At the inception of our relationship with clients, we provide a summary of these
voting guidetines. At any time, clients may request a capy of our voting policies as well as our
actual voting records.

S S

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

We are not required to include financial information in our Disclosure Brochure since we will
not take physical custody of client funds or securities or bill client accounts six (6) months or
more in advance for more than $1,200 in fees.

We are not aware of any financial conditions that are likely to impair our ability to meet our

contractual commitments to you. In addition, we are not currently, nor at any time in the past
ten years been the subject of a bankruptcy petition.

END OF DISCLOSURE BROCHURE

Form ADV: Part ZA Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC

Page 19 of 19



This Brochure Supplement provides information about Andrew M, Cantor that is an accompaniment to

the Disclosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You should have received
both of these together as a complete disclosure packet. If you did not receive our Disclosure
Brochure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr. Cantor, you are
welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left, A
Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and Andrew M. Cantor are also™_ 7
| available on the SEC’s website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Andrew M. Cantor, CFA

CRD#: 4373765
Year of Birth: 1949

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education

1971 - Florida Atlantic University: Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics
1979 - University of South Carolina: Master of Arts in Economics

Licenses

Designations:  Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder (Charterholder since 1984) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute. The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 (four) years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process, In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct. More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute,org.

Business Background

01/1998 - Present...... Sawgrass Asset Management, LEC
Position: Co-Founder/Principal & Chief Compliance Officer

Mr, Cantor is a Co-Director of Fixed Income investing and has responsibility for portfolio
management and analysis for client portfolios. He is a member of the Fixed Income Management
Team. Prior to Sawgrass Asset Management, Mr. Cantor was with Barnett Capital Advisors, Inc.
Mr. Cantor serves as the Firm’s Chief Compliance Officer.

DiSCIPLINARY INFORMATION
There are no legat or disciplinary events to report.
OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Mr. Cantor is not fnvolved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed to
reeting your financial and investment needs.

ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION
In connection with his advisory services, Mr. Cantor receives no economic hbenefit, incentives, sales
awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization.
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This Brochure Supplement provides information about David A. Furfine that is an accompaniment to
i . g S | the Disclosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You should have received
ForRMADV: PARTZ2R both of these together as a complete disclosure packet. If you did not receive our Disclosure

’ ; g Brochure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr. Furfine, you are
welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left.

§ Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and David A. Furfine are also available
on the S5EC’s website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov,

i
David A. Furfine, CFA
BN CRD#: 279032%
| Vear of Birth: 1962
EbUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education
1984 - University of Pennsylvania: Bachelor of Science in Economics (Summa cum Laude)

Ljcenses

Designations: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder {Charterholder since 1999} -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute, The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 {four} years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process. In addition, Charterholders are required te adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct., More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

Business Background

01/1998 - Present...... Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Position: Partner/Co-Director Fixed Income

W, saw-g . : Mr. Furfine has 26 years of investment management experience and has been a Parther with

: Sawgrass Asset Management since its founding in 1998. He serves as Co-Director of Fixed Income
investing. His responsibilities include fixed income portfolio management and analysis and he
supervises a portfolic manager and fixed income analyst. Mr. Furfine is a member of the Fixed
Income Management Team. Prior to joining Sawgrass Asset Management, Mr. Furfine was with
Bamnett Capital Advisors, Inc.

DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION

There are no legal or disciplinary events to report.

OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Mr. Furfine is not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed to
meeting your financial and investment needs.

ADDITIONAL COMPENSATICN

In connection with his advisory services, Mr. Furfine receives no economic benefit, incentives, sales
awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization.
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This Brochure Supplement provides information about Dean E. McQuiddy that is an accompaniment to
the Disclosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You should have received
| both of these tegether as a complete disclosure packet, If you did not receive our Disclosure
! Brochure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr. McQuiddy, you are
welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left. @

Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and Dean £. McQuiddy are also
available on the SEC’s website at www.adviserinfo,sec.gov.

' Dean E. McQuiddy, CFA

CRD#: 4373760
Year of Birth; 1961

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education
1983 - University of Florida: Bachelor of Science in Finance

Licenses

Designations: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder (Charterholder since 1986) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute. The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 {four) years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process. In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct. More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

Business Background
01/1998 - Present...... Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Position: Co-Founder/Principal & Director of Equity Investments

Mr. McQuiddy’s responsibitities include overall equity management with a focus on small cap
investing. His duties also include formulation of investment strategies and analysis. Mr,
McQuiddy serves on the Firm’s management committee. . Prior to Sawgrass Asset Management,
Mr. McQuiddy served as equity portfolio manager for Barnett Capital Advisors, Inc.

DISCIPLINARY IMFORMATION
There are no legal or disciplinary events to report.
OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES ( '

Mr, McQuiddy is not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed ™
to meeting your financial and investment needs.

ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION
In connection with his advisory services, Mr. McQuiddy receives no economic benefit, incentives,
sales awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party crganization.
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This Brochure Supplement provides information about Eric P. Zarkovich that is an accompaniment to
the Disclosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You should have received
' both of these together as a complete disclosure packet. i you did not receive our Disclosure
i Brochure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr. Zarkovich, you are
| welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left.

Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and Eric P. Zarkovich are also
available on the SEC’s website at www.adviserinfo.sec,gov,

| Eric P. Zarkovich, CFA

L CRD#: 2860112
| Year of Birth: 1974

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education

1996 - Arizona State University: Bachelor of Science in Finance
2011 - University of Pennsylvania: The Wharton School - Masters of Business Adminstration

Licenses

Designations: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder {Charterholder since 2006) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute, The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 {four} years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process. In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and 5tandards of Professional Conduct. More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

Business Backsround
02/2011 - Present...... Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Position: Fixed Income Portfolio Manager
04/2008 - 01/2011 ..... Hewlett Packard
Position: Investment Manager
07/2007 - 03/2008 ..... Thinkeguity Partners, LLC
Position: Vice President/Fixed Income Manager
01/2003 - 05/2007 .....Evergreen Investment Management Co.
Position: Senior Portfolio Manager

Mr. Zarkovich has 14 years of investment management experience and bhas primary responsible for
fixed income analysis and portfolio management. He is a member of the Fixed Income
Management Team. Prior to joining Sawgrass Asset Management, Mr. Zarkovich worked for
Hewlett Packard where he assisted in the management of the Company’s pension fund.
DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION
There are no legal or disciplinary events to report.

OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
Mr. Zarkovich s not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed
to meeting your financial and investment needs.

ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION

In connection with his advisory services, Mr. Zarkovich receives no econemic benefit, incentives,
sales awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization.

Investment-activities
members:aresupery
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i This Brochure Supplement provides information about Gale R. (Rusty) Creighton that is an

i accompaniment to the Disclosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You

¢ should have received both of these together as a complete disclosure packet, If you did not receive

our Disclosure Brochure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr.
Creighton, you are welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left. @
. Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and Gale R, (Rusty) Creighton are also%___
| available on-the SEC’s website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Gale R. (Rusty) Creighton, CFA

CRI: 4335670
Yaar of Birth: 1957

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education

1980 - Stetson University: Bachelor of Business Administration
1984 - University of North Florida: Masters of Business Administration

Licanses

Designations: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA} Charterholder (Charterholder since 1988) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute. The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 (four) years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process. In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct. More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

81:-904.493, Business Background

ax, 866,49 07/2007 - Present...... Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Position: Equity Portfelio Manager
06/2001 - 07/2007 ..... St. Johns Investment Management Co.
Position: Director of Research and Portfolio Management

05/1998 - 06/2001 ..... Allen, Knight and Creighten Investment Co.
Position: Partner/Portfolio Manager

Mr. Creighton joined Sawgrass Asset Management as a large cap equity portfolio manager. He
manages institutional and private client accounts and fs responsible for portfolio construction and

analysis. (
DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION
There are no legal or disciplinary events to report.

OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
Mr. Creighton is not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed
to meeting your financial and investment needs.

ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION

In connection with his advisory services, Mr. Creighton receives no economic benefit, incentives,
sales awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization.

i
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81 This Brochure Supplement provides information about Liriden Gila that is an accompaniment te the
' Disclosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You should have received both
of these together as a complete disclosure packet. If you did not receive our Disclosure Brochure or
if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr. Gila, you are welcome to
contact us - our contact information is listed to the left.

Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and Liridon Gila are also available on
y the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Liridon Gila, CFA

CRD#E: 5609373
Year of Birth: 1981

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education

2004 - University of North Florida: Bachelor of Arts in Finance
2006 - University of North Florida: Masters of Business Administration

Licenses

Designations: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder {Charterholder since 2010) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute. The CFA designation reguires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 (four) years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process. In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct. More information ahout
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

::904.493.5500 _ Business Background
Fax: 866.493.5500 i 09/2008 - Present...... Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
o Position: Fixed Income Analyst
MW RSO 10/2004 - 09/2008 ......Fidelity National Financiat

Position: Asst. Vice President/Fixed Income Analyst

As a Fixed Income Analyst Mr. Gila's responsihilities include analysis of clients’ fixed income
portfolios, credit research, interest rate analysis and fixed income trading. Mr, Gila is a member
of the Fixed Income Management Team,

DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION
There are no legal or disciplinary events to report.
OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Mr. Gila is not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed to
meeting your financial and investment needs.

ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION

In connection with his advisory services, Mr. Gila receives no economic benefit, incentives, sales
awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization.

violations to.our Code of Ethics
or:our Policies & Procedures are
reported to'Mrs Cantorifor
further evaluation:
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This Brochure Supplement provides information about Martin E. LaPrade that is an accompaniment to
. the Disclosure Brochure far our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You should have received
| both of these together as a complete disclosure packet. If you did not receive our Disclosure
Brochure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr. LaPrade, you are
welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left, @

Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and Martin E. LaPrade are also
available on the SEC’s website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Martin E. LaPrade, CFA

CRDA: 4726831
Year of Birth: 1956

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education
1978 - Furman University: Bachelor of Science in Accounting

Licenses

Designations: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder {Charterholder since 1989) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute. The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 {four) years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process. In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct. More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

Business Background

01/1998 - Present...... Sawagrass Asset Management, LLC
Position: Partner/Equity Portfolio Manager

Mr. LaPrade has 28 years of investment management experience and has been with Sawgrass
since its inception in 1998. He has primary responsibility for the firm’'s large cap equity product,
including portfolio construction and analysis. He is a member of the equity research committee.
Prior to Sawgrass Asset Management, Mr. LaPrade served as equity portfolio manager for Barnett
Capital Advisors, Inc.

DisCIPLINARY INFORMATION
There are no legat or disciplinary events to report.
OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Mr. LaPrade is not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed to
meeting your financial and investment needs.

ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION

In connection with his advisory services, Mr. LaPrade receives no economic benefit, incentives,
sales awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization,

e
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: This Brochure Supplement provides information about Patrick A. Riley that is an accompaniment to
g the Disciosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You should have received

both of these together as a complete disclosure packet. If you did not receive our Disclosure
: Brochure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr. Riley, you are

welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left.

i Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and Patrick A, Riley are also available
. on the SEC’s website at www.adviserinfo,sec.gov.
'

Patrick A. Riley, CFA

CRD#: 4726836
Year of Birth; 1961

EoUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Education

1989 - Marshall University: Bachelor of Business Administration
1989 - Auburn University: Masters of Business Administration

Licenses

Designations: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder (Charterholder since 1996) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute. The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 (four) years professional working
expertence in the investment field, and successfully passed the examinaticn
process. In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professionat Conduct. More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

Tel: 904,49 ‘ Business Background

Fax: 866,493.5500 01/1998 - Present.......Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
¢ Position: Partner/Equity Portfolio Manager

Mr. Riley has 20 years of investment management experience and has been with Sawgrass since
its inception in 1998. He has responsibility for the equity portfolio management and analysis,
principatly with the Firm’s Smalt Cap Equity preducts. He is a member of the equity research
committee. Prior to Sawgrass Asset Management, Mr. Riley served as small cap equity manager
for Barnett Capital Advisors, Inc.

DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION
There are no legal or disciplinary events to report.
OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Mr. Riley is not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed to
meeting your financial and investment needs.

- Andrew M. Cantor ; i ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION
(et Compliance i In connection with his advisory services, Mr. Riley receives no economic benefit, incentives, sales
Tol: 904,49 awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization.

e-mail: cal

Wegrass, com
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| This Brochure Supplement provides information about William M. (Marc) Davis that is an

i accompaniment to the Disclosure Brochure for our firm, Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC. You

| should have received both of these together as a complete disclosure packet. If you did not receive

our Disclosure Brechure or if you should have questions about this Brochure Supplement for Mr,
Davis, you are welcome to contact us - our contact information is listed to the left. -
Additional information about Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC and William M, (Marc) Davis are alsoé ;
' available on the SEC’s website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Wllllam M. (Marc) Davis, CFA

CRD# 2796920
Year of Birth: 1973

1 EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Ecucation

1996 - Wake Forest University: Bachelor of Arts in Economics
2001 - Wake Forest University: Masters of Business Administration in Finance

Licenses

Designations; Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder (Charterholder since 2002) -
The CFA designation is issued by the CFA Institute. The CFA designation requires
the candidate to have a bachelor’s degree, 4 {four) years professional working
experience in the investment field, and successfully passed the examination
process. In addition, Charterholders are required to adhere to the CFA Institute
Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct. More information about
the CFA program is available at www.cfainstitute.org.

Business Background

06/2001 - Present...... Sawgrass Asset Management, |LC
Position: Equity Research Analyst

Mr. Davis serves as analyst for all the equity portfolios at Sawgrass Asset Management. He is
primarily responsible for quantitative and fundamental research and serves on the Equity
Management Team.
DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION
There are no legal or disciplinary events to report.
OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Mr, Davis is not involved in any other business activities. Full focus of his attention is directed tok
meeting your financial and investment needs.,

ADDIMONAL COMPENSATION
In connection with his advisory services, Mr. Bavis receives no economic hbenefit, incentives, sales
awards, prizes or bonus from any third-party organization.
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OPID: LY

DATE {MM/DD/YYYY}

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE 031912

ACORD>»
V

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
A~ —PRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

\__PORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER . 904-354-3785 oacT
?Oa;dfgr\}é&rsﬁszcx:\:gtessﬁlltl;c'l 000 904'634'1 302 (I?AHIg,NIEo, Ext): r:i’((:, Noj:
Jacksonville, FL 32202 Ebmnﬁléss:
cusTomer o # SAWGR-1
INSURER({S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
INSURED Sawgrass Asset Management LLC msurer A : 0ld Dominion Insurance Co 40231
1579 The Greens Way #20 insurer 8: St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. 24767
Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250 msurer ¢ : Federal Insurance Company 20281
INSURER D :
INSURER E ;
JNSURER F :
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TC WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

i TYPE OF INSURANCE SR D POLICY NUMBER (MDA 7YY) | (MIDON Y] LaaiTS
| GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE 3 1,000,000,
A | X | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY BPGA4630B 031712 | 03MTM3 EQE@%‘EQ?EEE“JJSELM 3 500,000
l CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR MED EXP (Any one person) | 5,000
| PERSONAL & ADV INJURY | § 1,000,000
S GENERAL AGGREGATE 5 2,000,000
GENL AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: PRODUGTS - COMPIOP AGG | 8 2,000,000
|- X potrey RO Loe H&NO Auto 8 1,000,000
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
{Ea accident) $ 1’000'000
ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person} | $
ALL OWNED AUTOS BODILY INJURY {Per accident)| $
| | SCHEDULED AUTOS PROPERTY DAMAGE s
A | X | HIReD AuTOS BPG4630B 03M17M2 | 0317113 | (Per accident)
A | X | MON-OWNED AUTOS BPG4630B 03/17M12 | 031713 8
]
| X | umerswauae | X | ocour EACH OCCURRENCE $ 2,000,000
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $ 2,000,000
A CcuUG4 B 031712 03M17M13
DEDUCTIBLE G4630 E&Q/D&O $ $2.5mm X8
RETENTION _$ NONE 14P77240 3 $7.6mm)|
WORKERS COMPENSATION X | WG STATU. oTH-
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY YIN TORY LIMITS ER
A | ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE WCG4630B 0317112 | 03M7HM3 | EL EACH ACCIDENT $ 100,000
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? I:’ N/A
{Mandatory In NH) E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE| § 100,000
If yes, describe undsr
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT | § 500,000
C [Flduciary Fidelity 82122851 03117M2 | 03MTHM3 |Fidellty 19,455,040
C |[Errors & Omissions B2081205 0311712 0317113 |E&OID&O ) 7,500,000

D_ESCRIP_TION OF OPERATIONS ! LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (Attach ACORD 101, Additlonal Remarks Schedule, if more space Is required)
Financial Planners

CERTIFICATE HOLDER
I

CANCELLATION

Proof of Coverage Only

PROOF01

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

IN

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

W@%

ACORD 25 (2009/09)

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

© 1988-2009 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.



WORKERS COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE POLICY --INFOPMATION PAGE

-,

INSURER: POLICY NO: WCG4630B
NGM INSURANCE COMPANY
égg%EngggTON ROAD EAST RENEWAL OF: WCG4630B
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32245-6000 NCCI Company No:
: Account No: CACG4630B
ITEM 1. NAMED INSURED AND MAILING ADDRESS: AGENCY NAME AND ADDRESS:
SAWGRASS ASSET MANAGEMENT LLC HARDEN AND ASSOCIATES-BT
1579 THE GREENS WAY STE 20 .
JACKSONVILLE BEACH FL 501 RIVERSIDE AVE STE 1000
32250-1418 JACKSONVILLE, FL 32202
AGENCY PHONE NO.: (904) 354-3785
AGENCYNO.: - 090502

LEGAL ENTITY: LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
OTHER WORKPLACES NOT SHOWN ABOVE: {See Workers Compensation Location Schedule)

ITEM2. POLICY PERIOD: From: 03-17-2012 To: 03-17-2013
Effective 12:01 A.M. Standard Time at the Insured’s mailing address.
ITEM3. COVERAGE:

A.  Workers Compensation Insurance: Part One of the policy applies to the Workers Compensation Law of the 5( 3

listed here:
FL

B.  Employers’ Liabiiity Insurance: Part Two of the policy applies to work in each state listed in ltem 3.A. The fimits of
liability under Part Two are:

Bodily Injury by Accident: $ 100,000 each accident
Bodily Injury by Disease: $ 500,000 policy limit
Bodily Injury by Disease: 3 ‘100,000 each employee

C.  Other States Insurance: Part Three of the policy applies to the states, if any, listed here:
all states except: ND, OH, WA, WY
and states designated in ITEM 3A of the information page.

D.  This Policy includes these Endorsements and Schedules:
See Schedule of Forms and Endorsements.

ITEM 4. PREMIUM: The premium for this Policy will be determined by our Manuals of Rules, Classifications, Rates and
Rating Plans. All information required on the Workers Compensation Classification Schedule is subject to
verification and change by audit. Please see Classification Schedule.

Expense Constant: 200 Total Estimated
Minimum Premium: $ 220 Annual Premium: $ 6,839
Audit Period: ANNUAL

Date: 01-10-2012 Countersigned by

WC 000001 A . Copyright 1987 National Councif on Compensation Insurance | Page 10f4
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Mark R. Patrick, CPA Adam M. Robinson, CPA

{904) 396-5400

after hours (904) 396-9510
fax (904) 396-9226
office@CP Asite.com

In Historic St. Nicholas

473 Atlantic Boulevard
JausSonville, FL 32207

www.CPAsite.com

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REVIEW REPORT

To the Members of
Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Jacksonville Beach, Florida

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheets of Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the related statements of operations,
members’ capital and cash flows for the years then ended. A review includes primarily
applying analytical procedures to management’s financial data and making inquiries of
company management A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of
which is the expression of an opinion regarding the ﬂnanclal statements as a whole.
Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the
" preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements.

Our responsibility is to conduct the review in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance
that there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements. We
believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our report.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to
the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

; &W&( MJA—%JMC -
Patrick and Robinson, LLC
March 30, 2011



Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Balance Sheets
December 31, 2010 and 2009

2010 2009
Assets
Current assets: _
Cash & cash equivalents $ 124,336 6,354
'Accounts receivable 2,261,454 2,396,847
Prepaid expenses 15,725 725
Total current assets 2,401,515 2,403,926
Fixed assets: :
Computer equipment and software 170,358 163,288
Furniture and fixtures . 42 955 30,777
Office equipment 8,765 8,765
Leasehold improvements 107,054 103,037
' 329,132 305,867
LLess accumulated depreciation 286,632 253,330
Net fixed assets 42,493 52,537
Other assets:
Deposits ' _ _ 12,780 12,780
Total assets . _ $ 2,456,788 2,469,243
Liabilities and members’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 30,000 56,945
Accrued bonuses 311,108 284,198
Accrued commissions ' . 83,386 123,575
Accrued retirement plan contributions : 129,809 119,636
Stockholder loans payable 329,915 0
Amounts due to Sawgrass Asset Management, Inc. 1,087,826 3,500
Notes payable, current portion 300,000 500,000
Total liabilities 2,272,144 1,087,852
Members' equity:
Sawgrass Asset Management, Inc., capital 140,599 1,347,731
Sawgrass Investors Group, LLC, capital 44 045 33,660
Totai members' equity 184,644 1,381,391
Total liabilities and members' equity $ 2,456,788 2,469,243

See accompanying notes and independent accountants' review report.
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Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Revenue

Investment advisory services

Total revenue

Operating expenses
Accounting
Bonuses
Charitable contributions
Commissions
Computer expenses

Conferences and meetings

Custodial fees
Depreciation

Dues and subscriptions
Employee relations
Equipment rental
Incentive compensation
Insurance

Management fees
Marketing and advertising
Meals and entertainment
Office

Payroll taxes

Postage and delivery
Professional fees

Rent

Repairs and maintenance
Research and consulting
Retirement plan

Salaries

Taxes

Telephone

Transaction fees

Travel

Utilities

Total operating expenses

Income from operations

Other income (expense)
Interest expense

Total other income (expense)

Net income

2010 2009
$ 8,611,569 $ 6,920,841
8,611,569 6,920,841
39,903 27,272
291,500 541,689
125,642 14,734
576,356 349,381
50,007 51,320
103,317 86,728
18,378 17,709
33,309 43,606
11,384 13,763
33,383 42 529
7,355 15,496
329,915 0
371,602 343,716
156,000 156,000
120,870 127,943
32,722 29,085
41,493 31,164
194,639 184,248
8,331 5,915
33,577 17,991
157,997 165,425
20,749 17,606
322,134 181,730
295,381 272,925
4,103,872 2,649,471
1,524 1,527
27,436 22,080
0 4124
130,818 135,291
22,025 18,353
7,570,619 5,568,821
1,040,950 - 1,352,020
( 2456) (  6,279)
( 2458) ( 6279)
$ 1038494 $ 1,345,741

Ses accompanying notes and independent accountants' review report.
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Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC ﬂ
Statements of Members' Capital L
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

SAM, Inc. SIG, LLC Total
Capital account balances, January 1, 2009 $ 914,447 $ 20,203 $ 934,650
Add: 2009 capital contributions 0 0 0
Deduct: 2009 capital distributions ( 899,000) 0 ( 899,000)
Capital account balances before 2009
income distribution 15,447 20,203 35,650
Net income per 2009 statement of operations 1,332,284 13,457 1,345,741
Capital account balances, December 31, 2009 1,347,731 33,660 1,381,391
Add: 2010 capital contributions 0 0 0
Deduct; 2010 capital distributions ( 2,235,241) 0 ( 2,235,241)
Capital account balances before 2010 _ _
income distribution ( 887,510) 33,660 - ( 853,850)
Net income per 2010 statement of operations 1,028,109 10,385 1,038,494
Capital account balanées, December 31, 2010 $ 140,599 $. 44045 § 184,644

See accompanying notes and independent accountants' review report.
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Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses
Decrease in accounts payable
Increase in accrued bonuses

Increase {decrease) in accrued commissions
Increase in accrued retirement plan contributions

Increase (decrease) in amounts due to related party
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of fixed assets
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Draws on note payable
Loan proceeds from shareholders

Payments on notes payable
Capital distributions
Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash at beginning of year

Cash at end of year

Supplementary information:
Cash paid for interest

See accompanying notes and independent accountants' review report.
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2010 2009
1,038,494 $ 1,345,741
33,309 43,606
135,393 863,364)
15,000) 10,021
26,045) 71,255)
26,912 127,196
40,189) 60,278
10,273 10,995
1,084,326 500)
2,246 573 662,718
23,265) 27,538)
23,265) 27,538)
850,000 1,475,000
329,915 0
1,050,000) 1,475,000)
2,235,241) 899,000)
2,105,326) - 899,000)
117,982 263,820)
6,354 270,174
124,336 $ 8,354
2,456 $ 6,279




Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business Activity

Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC (the “Company”) began operations on January
15, 1998 and operates as a registered investment advisor providing investment
management services to the institutional market. Clients and prospects of the
Company include corporations, public funds, foundations, mutual funds and other
pools of institutional assets. The Company’s offices are located in Jacksonville
Beach, Florida. The majority of the Company's clients are located in Florida;
however, it also has relationships throughout the United States.

Formation of the Company

The Company was formed in 1998 pursuant to the Delaware Limited Liability Act by
the filing of a Certificate of Formation with the Delaware Secretary of State as a
Limited Liability Company (“LLC"). The Company operates under an Amended and
Restated LLC Operating Agreement which was executed December 31, 2005.
Members of the Company are Sawgrass Asset Management, Inc., a Florida S
- corporation (“SAM, Inc.”) and Sawgrass Investors Group, LLC, a Florida LLC ("SIG,
LLC"). According to the terms of the Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC Amended
- and Restated Operating Agreement, ownership interest is divided 99% SAM, Inc.
and 1% SIG, LLC. Also, in accordance with the terms of the Amended and Restated
Operating Agreement, SIG, LLC is the appointed manager of the Company.

~Liability of Members

According to the terms of the Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC Amended and
Restated Operating Agreement, the liability of a member for losses, debts and
obligations of the LLC shall be limited to the capital contributions theretofore made to
the LLC by such member (or its predecessor in interest) which have not been
previously repaid to or withdrawn by such member (or its predecessor in interest) in
accordance with the terms of the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement. No
member shall have any liability to restore any negative balance in its capital account.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash and cash equivalents to include checking accounts,
money market accounts, and certificates of deposit maturing in three months or less.



Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at amounts estimated to be collectible. The

Company's management periodically reviews accounts receivable and removes from

active receivables those accounts considered doubtful. Collection efforts are

pursued until accounts are deemed bad debts, at which time they are written off. -
Management believes there were no inactive or uncollectible accounts at December

31, 2010 or 2009. Trade credit is generally extended on a short-term basis; thus

accounts receivable do not bear interest.

Allocations of Profits, Losses and Revenues

On December 31, 2005, the Company adopted the Sawgrass Asset Management,
LLC Amended and Restated Operating Agreement which admitted SIG, LLC as a
member. According to the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement, SAM, Inc.
and SIG, LLC have 99% and 1% interest in the Company, respectively. As of
December 31, 2005 profits and losses are allocated in proportion to these members’
interest. _

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses durlng the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Advertising
The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred.

Compensated Absences

Employees are entitled to three weeks of paid vacation per year. The Company's.
policy does not permit carryover of vacation time from one calendar year to the next.
Accordingly, no liability has been recorded in the accompanying financial
statements. The costs of compensated absences are recognized when actually paid
to employees.
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Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {(continued)

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation of property and
equipment is provided using the straight-line and declining balance methods at the
rates based on the following estimated useful lives.

Computer equipment 3-7 Years
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 Years
Office equipment 5-7 Years
Leasehold improvements 7-10 Years

Income Taxes

For income tax purposes, the Company has elected to file tax returns as a
partnership. As such, the Company is not subject to federal or state income
taxation. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, pass-through income
was allocated 99% to SAM, Inc. and 1% to SIG, LLC as specified by the terms and
conditions of the Sawgrass Asset Management LLC Amended and - Restated

. Operating Agreement

. Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash balances in a local financiai institution. The
balances at the financial institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. At various times there were balances in the
bank that were over the FDIC limit. However, at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the

- Company had no uninsured cash balances.

As of the balance sheet dates, the Company had outstanding unsecured accounts
receivable representing amounts owed by various clients for advisory services
rendered. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, receivables from one client represented
20% and 28%, respectively, of total accounts receivable.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, 20% of the Company'’s total revenue was
derived from one client.

Reiated Party Transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, SAM, inc. provided
management services to the Company. Management fees paid to SAM, Inc. for
such services totaled $156,000 for 2010 and $156,000 for 2009.



Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
= Notes to Financial Statements
s 3 December 31, 2010 and 2009

4. Retirement Plan

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan covering substantially all its employees.
All employees meeting plan eligibility requirements are allowed to participate.
Minimum mandatory Company contributions for 2010 and 2009 were 3% of eligible
participants’ compensation. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the
Company’s contributions to the plan totaled $295,381 and $272,925, respectively.
At December 31, 2010 and 2009 the Company had an accrued retirement plan
contribution payable of $129,909 and $119,636, respectively.

5. Leases

On February 16, 2010, the Company extended the lease of its office space for an
additional six months. Every six months the lease is automatically renewed for an
additional six months unless terminated by either party. Additionally, the Company
leases two copiers under operating lease agreements.

Minimum aggregate future rental payments for non-cancelable operating lease
agreements for each of the next five years are as follows:

For the year ended
December 31, o
2011 -$ 161,344

2012 2,555
2013 2,555
2014 1,065

~ Thereafter 0
$ 167,519

Rent expense was $165,352 and $180,920 for the years ended December 31, 2010
and 2009, respectively.



Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009

6. Stockholder Loans Payable

At December 31, 2010, the Company owed the stockholders of Sawgrass Asset
Management, Inc. $329,915. Interest is payable an annual rate of .32%.
Repayment is to be made in one instaliment of principal and interest on or before
April 15, 2011.

. Note Payable

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had a $600,000 line of credit with
Jacksonville Bank with interest at prime. The line of credit is due on demand and
automatically renews annually on March 30. The line of credit is secured by the
Company’s assets. The remaining balance is personally guaranteed by some of the
stockholders of Sawgrass Asset Management, Inc. At December 31, 2010 and

2009, $300,000 and $500,000, respectively, were due under the line of credit. .

Based on market rates for similar loans, at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair
value of the note payable approximates the carrying amount.

. Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 30, 2011, the date

which the financial statements were available to be issued. No subsequent events
that would have a material effect on the financial statements were noted. :
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EXHIBITC

. City of Fort Lauderdale « Procurement Services Division
100 N. Andrews Avenue, 619 « Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
954-828-5933 Fax 054-828-5576

www.fortlauderdale.qov/purchasing |

August 15, 2012

Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
1579 The Green Way, Suite 20
Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250

RE: RFP #125-10899 Investment Management Services

Dear Proposer:

The City of Fort Lauderdale, Procurement Services Division, is continuing to
evaluate the responses received for RFP #125-10899, Investment Management

Services.

The City is requesting that each finalist submit a “Second Best and Final Offer”
for services in addition to the initial proposals.

In accordance with Fort L.auderdale City Code Sec. 2-1%4 (f),

“Offerors shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with respect fo any
opportunity for discussion and revision of proposals and such revisions may be
permitted through negotiations after submissions and prior to award for the

purpose of oblaining best and final offers.”

The City is requesting that each finalist submit a “Second Best and Final
Offer” according to the attached Cost Proposal Page.

In accordance with Fort Lauderdale City Code Sec. 2-194 (g),

‘Award shall be made fo the responsible offeror whose proposal is
determined in writing to be the most advantageous fo the Cily taking info
consideration price and the evaluation factors set forth in the request for

proposals.”

The proposer must complete pricing submission in the attached Cost Proposal
Page for Investment Management Services, no other forms or formats will be
accepted. No other costs will be accepted.



City of Fort Lauderdale » Procurement Services Division
100 N. Andrews Avenue; 619 « Fort Lauderdale, Fiorida 33301
954-828-5933 Fax 954-828-5576
www.forflauderdale.gov/purchasing

COST PROPOSAL PAGE

Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly
balance within the following range, based on a current pool of market value of
approximately-$542,000,000), as of 12/31/12. No other fess shail be accepted

other than the fees in basis points, as stated below.

CONTRACTOR — PLEASE FILL IN THE REVISED BASIS PQINTS AS
STATED BELOW (NO DEVIATIONS)

(In basis points)

$1.00 to $25,000,000 . 0.38233 monthly (7 bps annually)
Over $25,000,000 up to $50,000,000 a%g:jg’f;mr“@g {7 bpe anmuallyy
Over $50,000,000 up to $100,000,000 .5 menthly {6 s annualiy)
Over $100,000,000 up to $150,000,000 g_igggjgl_gh {6 bps annually)
Over $150,000,000 0.5 manthly {6 bus arnually)

PLEASE SIGN BELOW:

Contractor/Proposer/ Bidder Company Name: Sawgracs Assel Manzeement, LEC,
,/"fﬁ'-" . ) ',:‘/
e J:;';_,"{"..M’PJ

Authorized Company Person’s Signature: Hﬁ_ e e
Authorized Company Person’s Title Fartrer



EXHIBIT D

City of Fort Lauderdale » Procurement Servicas Division
100 N. Andrews Avenue, 619 » Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
954-328-5933 Fax 954-828-5576

www.fortlauderdale govipurchasing

June 4, 2012

Sawgrass Asset Management, LLC
1579 The Green Way, Suite 20
Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250

RE: RFP #125-10899 Investment Management Services

Dear Proposer:

The City of Fort Lauderdale, Procurement Services Division, is continuing to
evaluate the responses received for RFP #125-10899, Investment Management

Services.

The City is requesting that each finalist submit a “Best and Final Offer” for
services in addition to the initial proposals.

in accordance with Fort Lauderdale City Code Sec. 2-1%4 (f),

~ “Offerors shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with respect fo any
opportunity for discussion and revision of proposals and such revisions may be
permitted through negotiations after submissions and prior to award for the

purpose of obtaining best and final offers.”

The City is requesting that each finalist submit a “Best and Final Offer”
according to the attached Cost Proposal Page and Questionnaire.

In accordance with Fort Lauderdale City Code Sec. 2-194 (g),

‘Award shall be made to the responsible offeror whose proposal is
determined in writing to be the most advantageous to the City taking into
consideration price and the evaluation factors set forth in the request for

proposals.”

The proposer must complete pricing submission in the attached Cost Proposal
Page and Questionnaire for Investment Management Services, no other forms or
formats will be accepted. No other costs will be accepted.



City of Fort Lauderdale » Procurement Services Division
100 N. Andrews Avenue, 619 » Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
954-828-5933 Fax 954-828-5576

www.fortlauderdale. gov/purchasing

COST PROPOSAL PAGE

Fee quotes MUST be for a fixed monthly amount based on the average monthly
balance within the following range, based on a current pool of market value of
approximately $542,000,000), as of 12/31/12. No other fees shall be accepted
other than the fees in basis points, as stated below.

CONTRACTOR - PLEASE FILL IN THE REVISED BASIS POINTS AS
STATED BELOW {NO. DEVIATIONS):

(In basis points)

$1.00 to $25,000,000 C.583%8 monthly {7 bps annusly)
Over $25,000,000 up to $50,000,000 058233 monthly (7 bps amaafi‘;}

fy {5 bps armuatly)

0.5 month

Over $50,000,000 up to $100,000,000

Over $100,000,000 up to $150,000,000 3.5 monthly (G baps annually]

i

Over $150,000,000 6.5 moenthiv 6 b annuallyl



City of Fort Lauderdale » Procurement Services Division
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QUESTIONNAIRE

RFP #125-10899 INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES
BEST AND FINAL
PROPOSER QUESTIONNAIRE

Below are questions we would like you to answer as part of your best and
final, and also be prepared to address in your oral presentatnon.

1. Will you be able to construct the portfolio according to the City's current
investment policy? If not, why not, and what changes would have to be

made?
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City's nvestin

2. Would we be investing in an already-existing fund or would securities be
selected and held specifically for us? '
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3. Does your firm consider itself and those who will be working with us to be
fiduciaries of our investment funds? If not, why not?
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4. If your firm provides other financial services (banking, insurance,
broker/dealer, etc) under what circumstances might we not get best

execution for our trades?

is ivastment managatonent
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5. What s your recommendation as to how our portfolio should be
constructed?

Based upon vour culrert cash flow needs and our understanaing of your gosl:
for safety, Houidity and vield, Sawgrass Asset Management would recatimend
the City of 8. Lauderdale utifize portfolios thit invest in high quality bands

h“‘%mé f‘Epw*h" m three years, consistent whh your

imei s % 1
current inv a great amount of experlence mansgin
TCH E sertfolias wihth investment pelicies smilar to yours.
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Ty only admzmnal se.%gges?mrt would be to increase the linit of corporste
-e’ o
F £

25 g:r@rterf% to 2 maimurn of 50 percant. This offers
e protection with

the opportunity fc.xr K h“*m-_
mininial acditional risk,

PLEASE SIGN BELOW:

Contractor/Proposer/ Bidder Company Name: Sawsrass Asset Maragament LbG,

Authorized Company Person’s Signature:

Authorized Company Person’s Title: Fartigr

TGy

Date: _ June 70087



